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Gear
Our multi-purpose rigs not only deliver superior performance, they are flexible. Multi-purpose 
rigs offer the versatility of performing both Reverse Circulation and Core drilling providing 
customers with the advantage of cost savings and high productivity.

We have a full-service workshop at the hub of our operating territory. And we have our own 
drill rod manufacturing plant; that’s unique to us. That means we control our own supply chain 
and have rapid response capability to service our rigs in hours.  In addition, our equipment 
is standardized for significant cost reductions. In short, we’ve got the efficiency, mobility and 
performance that sets the standard in West Africa.

experience
We understand drilling. Our passion for drilling and decades of experience has secured our 
reputation as the preferred choice to deliver results.

Our workforce are skilled locals, who know how to get things done on the ground. They are 
well paid, not controlled by unions, and they work in a safe environment that meets the high-
est health and safety standards. The result: low turnover and high productivity. 

opporTUniTY 
We formed Geodrill to take the leading position in the West African drilling services. Our com-
petitive strengths are founded on high performance rigs, unrivalled expertise, and experience 
in the field. This combination has earned Geodrill a reputation for delivering results and value 
to exploration and mining companies, making us the preferred drilling partner for these com- 
panies, large and small, active across the entire region. 

Our mission is to expand our market presence in West Africa and seize new opportunities, 
growing on the strengths of our quality, innovation and delivered value.
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Letter to SharehoLderS
In 2013, the mining industry faced some of the hardest times we have known. It was a perfect storm caused 
by a number of factors: the strength of equities in the United States pulled investment back from emerging 
markets and investors fled from gold resulting in its biggest price drop in thirty years. As a result, mining 
companies retreated and exploration halted. 

This tough market affected the overall drilling industry. However, the fundamentals of our industry give  
us an intelligent perspective —      the factors that squeezed the market in 2013 were driven by investors 
taking short-term opportunity positions. These movements are, in fact, independent of underlying demand. 
The need for resources in growing production economies will remain strong through the long term. 

In West Africa we know that tough conditions make tough companies. We navigate difficult times, such as 
these, by introducing cost cutting disciplines across the company, while delivering the same high calibre 
drilling service that our reputation was built on. 

We are a mission-oriented company. We move quickly to meet any requirements, operate lean and deliver 
optimal results. During 2013, we continued a growth strategy that has resulted in an expanded footprint in 
West Africa. Today we have a presence in seven countries, maintaining our strong presence in Ghana and 
Burkina Faso, continuing to build our presence in Côte d’Ivoire, Niger, and Guinea, and now establishing 
operations in Senegal and Mali.

We cannot predict the markets, but we are prepared to adapt to them. That’s the strategic advantage of the 
mission-oriented company. When markets contract, our flexibility and efficiency make us resilient. 

We see global markets normalizing through 2014, with growing investment in exploration to meet underlying 
demand. We look forward to sharing in that growth as an industry leader. 

I would like to thank our shareholders for standing alongside of us in the West African opportunity. We have 
become, with your help, the recognized mineral drillers in this region. Our unmatched capabilities make 
us firmly resilient against speculative market shifts and we stand by the fundamentals of the resource 
economy. We will continue to generate wealth from leadership in a long term growth market. 

It is a robust team all around. Success in our industry and in our area of operation requires strength and 
conviction. In addition to our shareholders, who have been right there with us, I would like to thank our 
dedicated management team, our Board of Directors and our workforce in West Africa who pull together 
toward our goal of being West Africa’s driller of choice. 

Sincerely,

 
Dave Harper  
President and Chief Executive Officer
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	   GEODRILL	  LIMITED	  	   	  
MANAGEMENT’S	  DISCUSSION	  AND	  ANALYSIS	  
FOR	  THE	  YEAR	  ENDED	  DECEMBER	  31,	  2013	  

Management’s	   discussion	   and	   analysis	   (“MD&A”)	   is	   a	   review	   of	   the	   operations,	   the	   liquidity	   and	   the	  
results	  of	  operations	  and	  capital	  resources	  of	  Geodrill	  Limited	  (“Geodrill”,	   the	  “Company”	  or	   the	   "Group").	  	  
The	   consolidated	   financial	   statements	   were	   prepared	   in	   accordance	   with	   International	   Financial	  
Reporting	   Standards	   (“IFRS”).	   This	   discussion	   contains	   forward-‐looking	   information.	   Please	   see	  
“Forward-‐Looking	   Information”	   for	   a	  discussion	  of	   the	   risks,	   uncertainties	   and	  assumptions	   relating	   to	   this	  
MD&A.	  	  

This	  MD&A	  should	  be	   read	   in	  conjunction	  with	   the	  comparative	  audited	  annual	  consolidated	   financial	  
statements	  for	  the	  year	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  and	  notes	  thereto.	  

This	  MD&A	   is	   dated	  March	  3,	   2014.	  Disclosure	   contained	   in	   this	   document	   is	   current	   to	   that	   date	   unless	  
otherwise	  stated.	  	  

Additional	  information	  relating	  to	  Geodrill,	  including	  the	  Company’s	  Annual	  Information	  Form,	  can	  be	  found	  
on	  SEDAR	  at	  www.sedar.com.	  	  

All	  references	  to	  “US$”	  are	  to	  United	  States	  dollars	  and	  all	  references	  to	  "CDN$"	  are	  to	  Canadian	  dollars.	  

FORWARD-‐LOOKING	  INFORMATION	  

This	  MD&A	  contains	  “forward-‐looking	  information”	  which	  may	  include,	  but	  is	  not	  limited	  to,	  statements	  
with	   respect	   to	   the	   future	   financial	  or	  operating	  performance	  of	   the	  Company,	   its	   subsidiaries,	   future	  
growth,	  results	  of	  operations,	  capital	  needs,	  performance,	  business	  prospects	  and	  opportunities.	  Often,	  
but	   not	   always,	   forward-‐looking	   information	   can	   be	   identified	   by	   the	   use	   of	   words	   such	   as	   “plans”,	  
“expects”,	   “is	  expected	  ”,	   “budget”,	   “scheduled	  ”,	   “estimates”,	   “forecasts”,	   “intends”,	   “anticipates”	  or	  
“believes”	  or	  variations	  (including	  negative	  variations)	  of	  such	  words	  or	  by	  the	  use	  of	  words	  or	  phrases	  
that	  state	  that	  certain	  actions,	  events	  or	  results	  “may”,	  “could	  ”,	  “would	  ”,	  “might”	  or	  “will	  ”	  be	  taken,	  
occur	  or	  be	  achieved.	  	  

Forward-‐looking	   information	   is	   based	   on	   certain	   assumptions	   and	   analyses	  made	   by	   the	   Company	   in	  
light	   of	   its	   experience	   and	   perception	   of	   historical	   trends,	   current	   conditions	   and	   expected	   future	  
developments	   and	   other	   factors	   it	   believes	   are	   appropriate.	   Forward-‐looking	   information	   involves	  
known	   and	   unknown	   risks,	   uncertainties	   and	   other	   factors	   which	   may	   cause	   the	   actual	   results,	  
performance	  or	  achievements	  of	  the	  Company	  and/or	  its	  subsidiaries	  to	  be	  materially	  different	  from	  any	  
future	  results,	  performance	  or	  achievements	  expressed	  or	   implied	  by	   the	   forward-‐looking	   information	  
contained	  in	  this	  MD&A.	  Although	  the	  Company	  has	  attempted	  to	  identify	  important	  factors	  that	  could	  
cause	  actual	  actions,	  events	  or	  results	  to	  differ	  materially	  from	  those	  described	  in	  such	  forward-‐looking	  
information,	  there	  may	  be	  other	  factors	  that	  may	  cause	  actions,	  events	  or	  results	  to	  differ	  from	  those	  
anticipated,	   estimated	   or	   intended.	   Should	   one	   or	  more	   of	   these	   risks	   or	   uncertainties	  materialize	   or	  
should	   assumptions	   underlying	   such	   forward-‐looking	   information	   prove	   incorrect,	   actual	   results,	  
performance	   or	   achievements	   may	   vary	   materially	   from	   those	   expressed	   or	   implied	   by	   the	   forward-‐
looking	  information	  contained	  in	  this	  MD&A.	  

Forward-‐looking	   information	  contained	  herein	   is	  made	  as	  of	   the	  date	  of	   this	  MD&A	  and	  the	  Company	  
disclaims	   any	   obligation	   to	   update	   any	   forward-‐looking	   information,	   whether	   as	   a	   result	   of	   new	  
information,	  future	  events	  or	  results	  or	  otherwise,	  except	  as	  required	  by	  law.	  There	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  
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that	   forward-‐looking	   information	  will	   prove	   to	   be	   accurate,	   as	   actual	   results	   and	   future	   events	   could	  
differ	   materially	   from	   those	   anticipated	   in	   such	   information.	   Accordingly,	   readers	   should	   not	   place	  
undue	  reliance	  on	  forward-‐looking	  information.	  

Corporate	  Overview	  

Geodrill	  operates	  a	  fleet	  of	  multipurpose,	  core	  and	  air-‐core	  drill	  rigs.	  The	  multipurpose	  rigs	  can	  perform	  
both	  reverse	  circulation	  (“RC”)	  and	  diamond	  core	  (“Core”)	  drilling	  and	  can	  switch	  from	  one	  to	  the	  other	  
with	  little	  effort	  or	  downtime.	  Multipurpose	  rigs	  provide	  clients	  with	  the	  efficiency	  and	  high	  productivity	  
of	  RC	  drilling	  and	  the	  depth	  and	  accuracy	  of	  Core	  drilling	  without	  the	  need	  to	  have	  two	  different	  drill	  rigs	  
on	  site.	  	  	  

The	   Company’s	   rigs	   and	   support	   equipment	   also	   incorporate	   a	   fleet	   of	   boosters	   and	   auxiliary	  
compressors,	  which	  enable	  Geodrill	  to	  achieve	  high-‐quality	  sampling	  and	  operations	  to	  greater	  depths.	  

The	  state-‐of-‐the-‐art	  workshop	  and	  supply	  base	  at	  Anwiankwanta,	  near	  Kumasi,	  Ghana,	  and	  the	  state-‐of-‐
the-‐art	   workshop	   and	   supply	   base	   at	   Ouagadougou,	   Burkina	   Faso,	   provides	   centralized	   locations	   for	  
repair	   and	   storage	   of	   equipment	   and	   supplies,	  which	   in	   turn	  minimizes	   trucking,	   shipping	   and	   supply	  
costs	  and	  allows	  the	  rigs	  to	  be	  mobilized	  to	  drill	  sites	  with	  minimal	  delay.	  	  

An	   experienced	   management	   team	   and	   workforce,	   a	   modern	   fleet	   of	   drill	   rigs	   and	   state-‐of-‐the-‐art	  
workshops	   and	   supply	   bases	   have	   contributed	   to	   Geodrill’s	   reputation	   as	   a	   results-‐oriented	   drilling	  
company	   that	   strives	   to	   achieve	   greater	   drilling	   depths	   and	   provide	   better	   quality	   samples	   than	   its	  
competitors	   in	  the	  shortest	  possible	  time,	  safely	  and	  in	  a	  cost-‐effective	  and	  environmentally	  conscious	  
manner.	  	  

Business	  Strategy	  	  

The	   Company	   competes	   with	   other	   drilling	   companies	   on	   the	   basis	   of	   price,	   accuracy,	   reliability	   and	  
experience	   in	  the	  marketplace.	  The	  Company’s	  competitors	   in	  West	  Africa	  consist	  of	  both	   large	  public	  
companies	  as	  well	  as	  small	  local	  operators.	  

Management	   believes	   that	   the	   Company	   has	   a	   number	   of	   attributes	   that	   result	   in	   competitive	  
advantages	  in	  West	  Africa,	  including:	  	  

• Business	  Development:	  The	  Company	  continually	   improves	   its	  operation	   including	  the	  following	  
recent	  and	  ongoing	  developments:	  

• Increase	   in	   our	   geographic	   footprint	   in	   West	   Africa	   to	   include	   five	   countries,	   as	   the	  
Company	   has	   maintained	   its	   strong	   presence	   in	   both	   Ghana	   and	   Burkina	   Faso	   and	   has	  
recently	  operated	  in	  Niger,	  Guinea	  and	  has	  re-‐entered	  Cote	  d’Ivoire;	  

• Expansion	   of	   drilling	   for	   other	   minerals,	   as	   the	   Company	   has	   successfully	   completed	  
contracts	  to	  drill	  for	  iron	  ore,	  uranium	  and	  	  manganese;	  and	  

• Securing	  of	  a	  US$5	  million	  Credit	  Line	  in	  2013	  to	  assist	  the	  Company	  with	  managing	  working	  
capital	  and	  debt	  repayments.	  

• A	   Young	   and	   Modern	   Fleet	   of	   Drill	   Rigs	   and	   World	   Class	   Workshops:	   The	   Company	   has	  
accumulated	   modern	   state-‐of-‐the-‐art	   drilling	   rigs,	   and	   established	   centrally	   located	   world	   class	  
workshops	   to	  promote	  client	   satisfaction	   through	   reliable	  operational	  performance.	   In	  addition,	  
within	   the	  workshop	   in	  Ghana,	   is	  a	  manufacturing	   facility	  with	   the	  capacity	   to	  produce	  ancillary	  
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equipment	   such	   as	   RC	   drill	   rods	   and	   RC	   wire-‐line	   drill	   subs	   in-‐house,	   reducing	   downtime	   and	  
reliance	  on	  suppliers	  for	  these	  items.	  

• Establishing,	   building	   and	   maintaining	   long-‐standing	   relationships	   with	   customers:	   The	  
Company	   has	   strong	   client	   relationships.	   Typically	   a	   longer	   term	   client	   relationship	   of	   the	  
Company	   originally	   commenced	   as	   a	   short	   term	   drill	   contract	   won	   under	   competitive	   bidding	  
process,	  which	  has	  been	  continually	  renewed	  as	  the	  respective	  drilling	  program	  of	  the	  client	  has	  
progressed	  through	  various	  phases.	  

• Support	  of	  well	  established	  international	  and	  local	  vendors:	  The	  Company	  has	  maintained	  long	  
standing	   relationships	  with	   international	  vendors	   in	  Australia,	  Europe,	  North	  America	  and	  China	  
and	  has	  also	  been	  supported	   in	  West	  African	  countries	  by	   local	  branches	  of	   these	  suppliers	  and	  
other	  local	  suppliers.	  

• Local	  Knowledge:	  The	  Company’s	  West	  African	  market	  knowledge,	  expertise	  and	  experience	  have	  
enabled	  Geodrill	  to	  further	  develop	  the	  local	  networks	  required	  to	  support	  its	  operations.	  	  

• Presence	   in	   West	   Africa:	   The	   Company	   is	   able	   to	   mobilize	   drill	   rigs	   and	   associated	   ancillary	  
equipment	   within	   a	   few	   days	   of	   a	   request	   by	   a	   client.	   The	   well-‐resourced,	   centrally	   located	  
workshops	  further	  reduces	  downtime,	  as	  the	  Company	  can	  fairly	  quickly	  reach	  most	  of	  its	  current	  
customer	  sites.	  Increase	  in	  our	  geographic	  footprint	  in	  West	  Africa	  to	  include	  five	  countries,	  as	  the	  
Company	  has	  maintained	   its	   strong	  presence	   in	  both	  Ghana	  and	  Burkina	   Faso	  and	  has	   recently	  
entered	  Niger,	  Guinea	  and	  has	  re-‐entered	  Cote	  d’Ivoire.	  

• An	   Active	   and	   Experienced	  Management:	   Geodrill	   is	   led	   by	   Dave	   Harper,	   President	   and	   Chief	  
Executive	  Officer,	   Terry	  Burling,	   Chief	  Operating	  Officer	   and	  Greg	  Borsk,	   Chief	   Financial	  Officer.	  	  
This	   group	   is	   also	   supported	   by:	   Stephen	   Rodrigue,	   Business	   Development	   Manager	   and	   Don	  
Seguin,	  HSE	  &	  Training	  Manager.	  	  	  

• A	   Skilled	   and	   Dedicated	  Workforce:	   A	   favorable	   compensation	   and	   benefits	   package,	   coupled	  
with	   the	   Company’s	   track	   record	   of	   quality	   hiring	   and	   commitment	   to	   frequent,	   relevant	  
continuous	   training	   programs	   for	   both	   permanent	   and	   contract	   employees,	   has	   reduced	  
unplanned	  workforce	  turnover	  even	  during	  robust	  mining	  cycles.	  This	  has	  also	  increased	  efficiency	  
and	  productivity,	  ensuring	  the	  availability	  and	  continuity	  of	  a	  skilled	  labor	  force.	  

• Maintaining	   a	   high	   level	   of	   safety	   standards	   to	   protect	   its	   people	   and	   the	   environment:  The	  
Company’s	  Health,	  Safety	  and	  Environmental	  (“HSE”)	  Group	  oversees	  the	  design,	  implementation,	  
monitoring	   and	   evaluation	   of	   the	   Company’s	   HSE	   standards,	   which	   standards	   are	   generally	  
considered	   to	   be	   stringent	   standards	   for	   drilling	   firms	   globally	   and	   are	   higher	   than	   what	   is	  
currently	   required	   in	   all	   local	   markets	   in	   which	   Geodrill	   currently	   operates.	   Every	   aspect	   of	  
Geodrill’s	   operations	   is	   designed	   to	   meet	   the	   highest	   HSE	   standards	   and	   includes	   induction	  
meetings,	  at	  least	  one	  safety	  meeting	  per	  work	  site,	  including	  non-‐exploration	  work	  sites,	  regular	  
safety	  audits	  and	  detailed	  investigations	  of	  incidents	  and	  accidents.	  

• Commitment	  to	  Excellence:	  	  Geodrill	  is	  committed	  to	  being	  a	  company	  of	  the	  highest	  standard	  in	  
every	  aspect	  of	   its	  business	  operations.	  This	   is	  the	  framework	  used	  by	  the	  Company	  to	  guide	  its	  
personnel	   towards	   the	  Company’s	   goals	   and	   to	  be	   the	   customer-‐preferred	  partner	   in	   providing	  
world	  class	  drilling	  services	  in	  West	  Africa.	  
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Market	  Participants	  and	  Geodrill’s	  Client	  Base	  	  

West	  Africa	  has	  become	  the	  scene	  of	   intense	  competition	  amongst	   international	  mining	  companies	  as	  
West	  Africa	  hosts	  some	  of	  the	  largest	  remaining	  undeveloped	  mineral	  deposits	  in	  the	  world,	  containing	  
gold,	  iron	  ore	  and	  bauxite.	  The	  drilling	  services	  provided	  by	  Geodrill	  can	  be	  applied	  to	  both	  precious	  and	  
base	  metals.	  

The	  Company’s	  client	  base	  is	  predominately	  in	  Ghana	  and	  Burkina	  Faso.	  For	  2013,	  Burkina	  Faso,	  Niger,	  
Cote	   d’Ivoire	   and	   Guinea	   collectively	   accounted	   for	   62%	   of	   the	   Company’s	   revenue,	   whereas	   Ghana	  
accounted	   for	   38%	   of	   the	   Company’s	   revenue	   compared	   to	   55%	   for	   Burkina	   Faso,	   Niger	   and	   Cote	  
d’Ivoire	  collectively	  in	  2012	  and	  45%	  for	  Ghana.	  	  

Management’s	  plans	  include	  continuing	  to	  take	  advantage	  of	  opportunities	  in	  other	  minerals,	  including	  
iron	   ore,	   manganese,	   uranium	   and	   phosphate	   which	   may	   not	   follow	   the	   same	   economic	   cycles	   as	  
precious	  metals.	   	   In	   addition,	   the	   proximity	   of	   Ghana	   to	   countries	   such	   as	   Senegal,	  Mali,	  Mauritania,	  
Liberia,	  Sierra	  Leone,	  the	  Democratic	  Republic	  of	  the	  Congo,	  Nigeria,	  Cameroon	  and	  Togo	  positions	  the	  
Company	  favorably	  in	  its	  ability	  to	  service	  these	  markets	  as	  well,	  if	  it	  so	  chooses.	  The	  Company’s	  drilling	  
focus	  is	  still	  predominately	  on	  gold	  and	  is	  still	  predominately	  in	  Ghana	  and	  Burkina	  Faso;	  however,	  the	  
Company	   has	   recently	   successfully	   diversified	   into	   drilling	   for	   other	   minerals	   and	   has	   increased	   its	  
footprint	  in	  West	  Africa.	  

The	   signing	   of	   a	   drilling	   contract	   and	   the	   actual	   commencement	   of	   drilling	   do	   not	   always	   happen	  
simultaneously,	  and	   in	  numerous	  situations	   there	  may	  be	  a	   two	   to	   three	  month	   interval	  between	   the	  
signing	  of	  an	  agreement	  and	  the	  commencement	  of	  drilling.	  In	  addition,	  given	  the	  short-‐term	  nature	  of	  
drilling	  contracts,	   there	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  that	  any	  contract	  that	  the	  Company	  currently	  has	  will	  be	  
extended	  or	  renewed	  on	  terms	  favorable	  to	  the	  Company.	  In	  the	  event	  that	  any	  of	  its	  current	  contracts	  
are	   not	   extended	   or	   renewed	   on	   favorable	   terms,	   or	   replaced	  with	   new	   contracts,	   this	   could	   have	   a	  
significant	  impact	  on	  the	  Company’s	  operations.	  	  

There	   are	   three	   customers	  who	   individually	   contributed	   10%	   or	   more	   to	   the	   Company’s	   revenue	   for	  
2013.	   	  One	  customer	  contributed	  16%,	  one	  customer	  contributed	  15%	  and	  one	  customer	  contributed	  
13%.	  
	  
OUTSTANDING	  SECURITIES	  AS	  OF	  MARCH	  3,	  2014	  

The	   Company	   is	   authorized	   to	   issue	   an	   unlimited	   number	   of	   Ordinary	   Shares.	   As	   of	   March	   3,	   2014	   the	  
Company	  has	  the	  following	  securities	  outstanding:	  

Number	  of	  Ordinary	  Shares	   42,512,000	  

Number	  of	  Options	   	  	  2,790,000	  

Fully	  Diluted	   45,302,000	  

From	   January	   1,	   2013	   to	  March	  3,	   2014,	   a	   total	   of	   360,000	  options	  were	   issued	   and	  180,000	  options	  
were	  forfeited.	  
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OVERALL	  PERFORMANCE	  

Revenue	  Per	  Country	  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
(1)	  Included	  in	  Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	  is	  Niger,	  Cote	  d’Ivoire	  and	  Guinea.	  	  
(2)	  Included	  in	  Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	  is	  Niger	  and	  Cote	  d’Ivoire.	  	  
	  

Meters	  Drilled	  Per	  Country	  

	  	  	  	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
(1)	  Included	  in	  Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	  is	  Niger,	  Cote	  d’Ivoire	  and	  Guinea.	  	  
(2)	  Included	  in	  Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	  is	  Niger	  and	  Cote	  d’Ivoire.	  
	  
The	   Company	   generated	   revenue	   of	   US$37.2M	   in	   2013,	   a	   decrease	   of	   43%	   when	   compared	   to	  
US$65.6M	  in	  2012.	  The	  Company	  was	  affected	  by	  the	   industry	  wide	  slowdown	  in	  drilling	  activities.	   	   In	  
general,	   there	   continues	   to	   be	   pressure	   on	   early	   stage	   exploration	   companies	   as	   financing	   from	   the	  
capital	  markets	  continues	  to	  be	  challenging	  and	  there	  is	  also	  pressure	  on	  producing	  companies	  as	  they	  
continue	  to	  need	  to	  manage	  their	  exploration	  costs	  in	  light	  of	  increasing	  costs	  on	  the	  production	  side	  of	  
their	  business.	  Specifically,	  the	  Company’s	  revenue	  decreased	  as	  certain	  customers’	  jobs	  came	  to	  an	  end	  
that	  were	  not	  immediately	  replaced	  and	  certain	  continuing	  customers	  significantly	  reduced	  the	  number	  
of	  drill	  rigs	  operating	  on	  their	  sites.	  The	  wet	  season	  (which	  occurs	  in	  some	  geographical	  areas	  where	  the	  
Company	  operates,	  particularly	  Burkina	  Faso)	  affected	  the	  third	  quarter	  revenue.	  	  As	  similar	  to	  2012,	  no	  
air	  core	  meters	  were	  drilled	  in	  the	  3rd	  quarter	  of	  2013.	  	  Meters	  drilled	  for	  2013	  totaled	  393,322	  which	  is	  
a	  decrease	  of	  52%	  when	  compared	  to	  819,486	  meters	  drilled	  in	  2012.	  	  	  

The	  gross	  profit	  for	  2013	  was	  US$11.9M,	  being	  32%	  of	  revenue	  compared	  to	  a	  gross	  profit	  of	  US$25.9M,	  
being	  39%	  of	  revenue	  for	  2012.	  The	  gross	  profit	  decrease	  reflects	  the	  decrease	  in	  revenue	  of	  US$28.4M	  
with	  a	  decrease	   in	  cost	  of	   sales	  of	  US$14.4M.	   In	   reaction	   to	   the	  slowdown,	   the	  Company	  was	  able	   to	  
significantly	   reduce	   certain	   discretionary	   expenses	   such	   as	   drill	   rigs	   expenses	   and	   fuel,	   employee	  
benefits	   and	  external	   services	  and	   repairs	  and	  maintenance.	   	  However,	   included	   in	   costs	  of	   sales,	   the	  
Company	   has	   certain	   fixed	   costs	   such	   as	   depreciation	   that	   are	   not	   related	   to	   revenue.	   	   In	   2013,	  
depreciation	  expense	  included	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  was	  US$8.0M,	  representing	  31%	  of	  total	  cost	  of	  sales.	  	  See	  
“Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non	  IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18.	  

EBITDA	  (as	  defined	  herein)	  for	  2013	  was	  US$7.2M,	  being	  19%	  of	  revenue	  compared	  to	  US$13.6M,	  being	  
21%	  of	  revenue	  for	  2012.	  See	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18.	  

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012 2011

Location	   US$	  000's 	  % US$	  000's 	  % US$	  000's 	  %
Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	   22,999 (1) 62% 35,934 (2) 55% 30,633 44%

Ghana	   14,213 38% 29,652 45% 39,515 56%

37,212 100% 65,586 100% 70,148 100%

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Location	   2013 % 2012 % 2011 %
Burkina	  Faso	  and	  other	   269,748 (1) 69% 559,302 (2) 68% 455,326 49%

Ghana	   123,574 31% 260,184 32% 467,145 51%

393,322 100% 819,486 100% 922,471 100%
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The	  EBIT	  (as	  defined	  herein)	   for	  2013	  was	  a	   loss	  before	   interest	  and	  taxes	  of	  US$(2.4)M,	  compared	  to	  
EBIT	  of	  US$5.6M,	  for	  2012.	  	  See	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  -‐	  Non	  -‐	  IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.	  

The	   net	   loss	   for	   2013	  was	  US$(4.9)M	  or	  US$(0.12)	   per	  Ordinary	   Share	   (US$(0.12)	   per	  Ordinary	   Share	  
fully	  diluted),	  compared	  to	  net	  earnings	  of	  US$3.2M	  for	  2012	  or	  US$0.08	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  (US$0.08	  
per	  Ordinary	  Share	  fully	  diluted).	  
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SELECTED	  FINANCIAL	  INFORMATION	  

%	  Change %	  Change

(in	  US$	  000's) 2013 2012 2011 2013	  vs	  2012 2012	  v	  2011

Revenue 37,212	  	  	  	  	   65,586	  	  	  	  	   70,149	  	  	  	  	   (43%) (7%)

Cost	  of	  Sales 25,358	  	  	  	  	   39,734	  	  	  	  	   32,093	  	  	  	  	   (36%) 24%
Cost	  of	  Sales	  (%) 68% 61% 46%

Gross	  Profit 11,854	  	  	  	  	   25,852	  	  	  	  	   38,056	  	  	  	  	   (54%) (32%)
Gross	  Profit	  Margin	  (%) 32% 39% 54%

Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  Expenses 14,289	  	  	  	  	   19,806	  	  	  	  	   19,537	  	  	  	  	   (28%) 1%
Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  Expenses	  (%) 38% 30% 28%

Foreign	  Exchange	  Gain	  (Loss) 39	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (483)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (451)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Foreign	  Exchange	  Gain(%) 0% (1%) (1%)

(Loss)	  Profit	  	  from	  Operating	  Activities (2,396)	  	  	  	  	  	   5,563	  	  	  	  	  	  	   18,068	  	  	  	  	   (143%) (69%)
(Loss)	  Profit	  from	  Operating	  Activities	  (%) (6%) 8% 26%

Finance	  	  Income 3	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   9	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   24
Finance	  	  Income	  (%) 0% 0% 0%

EBIT* (2,393)	  	  	  	  	  	   5,572	  	  	  	  	  	  	   18,092	  	  	  	  	   (143%) (69%)
EBIT	  (%) (6%) 8% 26%

Finance	  Cost 1,114	  	  	  	  	  	  	   898	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   142	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Finance	  Cost	  (%) 3% 1% 0%

(Loss)	  Profit	  	  Before	  Taxation (3,507)	  	  	  	  	  	   4,674	  	  	  	  	  	  	   17,950	  	  	  	  	   (175%) (74%)
(Loss)	  Profit	  Before	  Taxation	  (%) (9%) 7% 26%

Income	  Tax	  Expense 1,401	  	  	  	  	  	  	   1,468	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,537	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Income	  Tax	  Expense	  (%) 4% 2% 8%

Net	  (Loss)	  earnings (4,908)	  	  	  	  	  	   3,206	  	  	  	  	  	  	   12,413	  	  	  	  	   (253%) (74%)
Net	  (Loss)	  Earnings	  (%) (13%) 5% 18%

EBITDA	  ** 7,232	  	  	  	  	  	  	   13,549	  	  	  	  	   24,728	  	  	  	  	   (47%) (45%)
EBITDA	  (%) 19% 21% 35%

Meters	  Drilled 393,322	  	  	   819,486	  	  	   922,471	  	  	   (52%) (11%)

(Loss)	  earnings	  Per	  Share
Basic (0.12)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.08 0.29	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Diluted (0.12)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.08 0.28	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

Total	  Assets 68,962	  	  	  	  	   88,021	  	  	  	  	   73,775	  	  	  	  	   (22%) 19%

Total	  Long	  -‐	  Term	  Liabilities 2,481	  	  	  	  	  	  	   8,767	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,347	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (72%) 64%

Cash	  Dividend	  	  Declared NIL NIL NIL

*EBIT	  =	  Earnings	  before	  interest	  and	  taxes.
**EBITDA	  =	  Earning	  before	  interest,	  taxes,	  depreciation	  and	  amortization.
See	  "Supplementary	  Disclosure	  -‐	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.

Fiscal	  Year	  Ended
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RESULTS	  OF	  OPERATIONS	  	  

FISCAL	  2013	  COMPARED	  TO	  FISCAL	  2012	  

Revenue	  

The	   Company	   recorded	   revenue	   of	   US$37.2M	   for	   2013,	   as	   compared	   to	   US$65.6M	   for	   2012,	  
representing	   a	   decrease	   of	   43%.	   The	   decrease	   in	   revenue	   is	   primarily	   attributable	   to	   the	   number	   of	  
meters	   drilled	   decreasing	   from	   819,486	   meters	   in	   2012	   to	   393,322	   in	   2013.	   The	   total	   meters	   drilled	  
decreased	  by	  52%	  for	  2013	  compared	  to	  2012.	  	  The	  percentage	  of	  meters	  drilled	  for	  2013	  can	  be	  broken	  
down	  as	  to	  57%	  RC,	  22%	  Core	  and	  21%	  air	  core	  as	  compared	  to	  42%	  RC,	  16%	  Core	  and	  42%	  air	  core	  for	  
2012.	  In	  	  2013	  compared	  to	  2012,	  the	  Company’s	  revenue	  decreased	  as	  certain	  jobs	  came	  to	  an	  end	  that	  
were	  not	  immediately	  replaced	  and	  certain	  continuing	  customers	  have	  significantly	  reduced	  the	  number	  
of	   drill	   rigs	   operating	   on	   their	   sites.	   	   The	   decrease	   in	   revenue	   in	   2013	   reflects	   the	   industry	   wide	  
slowdown	  as	  many	  of	  Geodrill’s	  competitors	  are	  also	  experiencing	  decreasing	  revenue.	  

Cost	  of	  Sales	  and	  Gross	  Profit	  

The	   gross	   profit	   for	   2013	  was	   US$11.9M,	   compared	   to	   a	   gross	   profit	   of	   US$25.9M	   for	   2012,	   being	   a	  
decrease	  of	  US$14M.	  The	  gross	  profit	  percentage	  for	  2013	  was	  32%	  compared	  to	  39%	  for	  2012.	  	  	  

The	  decrease	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  for	  2013	  as	  compared	  to	  2012	  of	  US$14.4M	  reflects	  the	  following:	  

• Drill	   rig	  expenses	  and	  fuel	  decreased	  by	  US$9.8M	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  decrease	   in	  revenue	  
and	  the	  decrease	  in	  meters	  drilled.	  

• Employees	  benefits,	  external	  services	  and	  contractors	  expenses	  decreased	  by	  US$4.8M	  due	  to	  
fewer	  workers	  and	  less	  services	  being	  required	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  decrease	  in	  revenue	  and	  
the	  decrease	  in	  meters	  drilled.	  	  

• Repairs	  and	  maintenance	  decreased	  by	  US$1.1M	  associated	  with	  less	  repairs	  to	  the	  Company’s	  
fleet.	  	  

• Depreciation	  expense	  increased	  by	  US$1.4M	  as	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  that	  was	  added	  
in	  2012	  has	  had	  a	  full	  year	  of	  depreciation	  in	  2013.	  

Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  (“SG&A”)	  Expenses	  

SG&A	   expenses	   were	   US$14.3M	   for	   2013,	   compared	   to	   US$19.8M	   for	   2012,	   being	   a	   decrease	   of	  
US$5.5M.	  

The	  decrease	  in	  SG&A	  expenses	  for	  2013	  as	  compared	  to	  2012	  of	  US$5.5M	  reflects	  the	  following:	  

• Employee	  benefits,	  external	  services	  and	  contractors	  expenses	  decreased	  by	  US$6.4M	  due	  to	  a	  
reduction	  in	  staff	  during	  the	  year	  and	  less	  services	  being	  required.	  

• Bad	  debt	  expense	  and	  the	  allowance	  for	  doubtful	  accounts	  increased	  by	  US$1.0M	  relating	  to	  the	  
write	  off	  of	  specific	  trade	  receivables	  and	  the	  increase	  in	  the	  allowance	  for	  doubtful	  accounts	  for	  
certain	  trade	  receivables.	  
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Foreign	  Exchange	  Gain	  

The	  Company	   realized	  a	   foreign	  exchange	  gain	   in	  2013	  of	  US$0.04M	  compared	   to	  a	   foreign	  exchange	  
loss	   of	   US$0.5M	   in	   2012.	   The	   foreign	   exchange	   gain	   and	   foreign	   exchange	   loss	   are	   the	   result	   of	  
fluctuations	   in	   the	   US	   Dollar	   against	   the	   Australian	   Dollar,	   the	   British	   Pound,	   the	   Euro,	   the	   Canadian	  
Dollar,	  the	  Ghana	  Cedi	  and	  the	  Central	  African	  Franc.	  

Loss	  from	  Operating	  Activities	  

Loss	  from	  operating	  activities	  (after	  cost	  of	  sales,	  SG&A	  expenses	  and	  foreign	  exchange	  gain	  or	  loss)	  for	  	  
2013	  was	  a	  loss	  of	  US$(2.4)M,	  as	  compared	  to	  a	  profit	  of	  US$5.6M	  in	  2012.	  	  

EBITDA	  Margin	  (see	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18)	  

EBITDA	  margin	   for	  2013	  was	  19%	  compared	  to	  21%	  for	   	  2012.	  See	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	   -‐	  Non	   -‐	  
IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.	  	  	  

EBIT	  Margin	  (see	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18)	  

EBIT	   margin	   for	   2013	   was	   negative	   (6%)	   compared	   to	   8%	   for	   2012.	   	   See	   Supplementary	   Disclosure	   -‐	  
"Non-‐IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.	  

Depreciation	  	  

Depreciation	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  was	  US$9.6M	  (US$8.0M	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  and	  US$1.6M	  in	  
SG&A)	  for	  2013	  compared	  to	  US$8.0M	  (US$6.6M	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  and	  US$1.4M	  in	  SG&A)	  for	  2012.	  	  

Income	  Tax	  Expense	  

Income	  tax	  expense	  was	  US$1.4M	  for	  2013	  compared	  to	  income	  tax	  expense	  of	  US$1.5M	  for	  2012.	  The	  
income	   tax	   expense	   of	   US$1.4M	   is	   comprised	   of	   current	   taxes	   of	   US$2.9M	   offset	   by	   a	   deferred	   tax	  
recovery	  of	  US$1.5M.	  	  Although	  the	  Group	  recorded	  an	  overall	  net	  loss	  of	  US$4.9M	  in	  2013,	  the	  Group	  
realized	  a	  current	  tax	  expense	  of	  US$1.9M	  on	  withholding	  tax	  on	  revenue	  earned	  outside	  of	  Ghana	  and	  
US$1.0M	   as	   a	   result	   of	   the	   tax	   audit	   in	   Ghana	   for	   the	   years	   2010,	   2011	   and	   2012.	   	   The	   Company’s	  
corporate	   tax	   rate	   in	   Ghana	   is	   25%.	   	   In	   addition	   to	   corporate	   tax	   in	   Ghana,	   the	   Company	   pays	  
withholding	  tax	  on	  revenues	  in	  certain	  countries	  in	  which	  it	  provides	  drilling	  services.	  	  

Net	  Loss	  

The	  net	   loss	  was	  US$(4.9)M,	   for	  2013,	  or	  US$(0.12)	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	   (US$(0.12)	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  
fully	  diluted),	  compared	  to	  net	  earnings	  of	  US$3.2M,	  for	  2012,	  or	  US$0.08	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  (US$0.08	  
per	  Ordinary	  Share	  fully	  diluted).	  	  	  

FISCAL	  2012	  COMPARED	  TO	  FISCAL	  2011	  

Revenue	  

The	  Company	  recorded	  revenue	  of	  US$65.6M	  for	  2012,	  as	  compared	  to	  US$70.1M	  in	  2011,	  representing	  
a	   decrease	   of	   7%.	   The	   decrease	   in	   revenue	   is	   primarily	   attributable	   to	   the	   number	   of	   meters	   drilled	  
decreasing	   from	   922,471	   meters	   in	   2011	   to	   819,486	   meters	   in	   2012.	   The	   revenue	   decrease	   in	   2012	  
occurred	  in	  the	  second	  half	  of	  the	  year,	  in	  both	  the	  3rd	  quarter	  and	  4th	  quarter	  of	  2012	  as	  opposed	  to	  the	  
1st	   quarter	   and	   2nd	   quarter	   of	   2012,	   which	   actually	   both	   increased	   over	   the	   comparable	   1st	   and	   2nd	  
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quarters	   in	   2011.	   	   The	   decrease	   in	   revenue	   in	   the	   2nd	   half	   of	   2012	   was	   start	   of	   the	   industry	   wide	  
slowdown	  as	  many	  of	  Geodrill’s	  competitors	  also	  started	  to	  experience	  decreasing	  revenue	  during	  this	  
period.	  

Cost	  of	  Sales	  and	  Gross	  Profit	  

The	  gross	  profit	  for	  2012	  was	  US$25.9M,	  as	  compared	  to	  a	  gross	  profit	  of	  US$38.1M	  for	  2011,	  being	  a	  
decrease	   of	   US$12.2M	   or	   32%.	   The	   gross	   profit	   percentage	   for	   2012	   was	   39%	   compared	   to	   54%	   for	  
2011.	  The	  decrease	  in	  the	  gross	  profit	  reflects	  the	  decrease	  in	  revenue	  and	  the	  increase	  in	  cost	  of	  sales.	  	  

Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  (“SG&A”)	  Expenses	  

SG&A	  expenses	  were	  US$19.8M	  for	  2012,	  compared	  to	  US$19.5M	  for	  2011.	  	  The	  total	  SG&A	  expensed	  
for	  2012	  as	  compared	  to	  2011	  remained	  relatively	  consistent.	  	  	  

Net	  Earnings	  

Net	  earnings	  were	  US$3.2M,	  being	  5%	  of	  revenue	  for	  2012,	  or	  US$0.08	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  (US$0.08	  per	  
Ordinary	  Share	  fully	  diluted),	  compared	  to	  US$12.41M,	  being	  18%	  of	  revenue,	  for	  2011,	  or	  US$0.29	  per	  
Ordinary	  Share	  (US$0.28	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  fully	  diluted).	  	  	  
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SELECTED	  FINANCIAL	  INFORMATION	  -‐	  FOURTH	  QUARTERS

%	  Change

(in	  US$	  000's) 2013 2012 2013	  vs	  2012

Revenue 3,559	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   12,921	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (72%)

Cost	  of	  Sales 5,488	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   7,113	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (23%)
Cost	  of	  Sales	  (%) 154% 55%

Gross	  (Loss)	  Profit (1,929)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,808	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (133%)
Gross	  (Loss)	  Profit	  Margin	  (%) (54%) 45%

Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  Expenses 2,234	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   4,939	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (55%)
Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  Expenses	  (%) 63% 38%

Foreign	  Exchange	  Loss	   189	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   8	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Foreign	  Exchange	  Loss	  (%) 5% 0%

(Loss)	  Profit	  from	  Operating	  Activities (4,352)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   861	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (605%)
(Loss)	  Profit	  from	  Operating	  Activities	  (%) (122%) 7%

Finance	  	  Income 1	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   3	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Finance	  	  Income	  (%) 0% 0%

EBIT* (4,351)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   864	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (604%)
EBIT	  (%) (122%) 7%

Finance	  Cost 242	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   400	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Finance	  Cost	  (%) 7% 3%

(Loss)	  Profit	  Before	  Taxation (4,593)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   464	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
(Loss)	  Profit	  Before	  Taxation	  (%) (129%) 4%

Income	  Tax	  Expense	  	  (Recovery) 1,055	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (524)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Income	  Tax	  (Recovery)	  Expense	  (%) 30% (4%)

Net	  (Loss)	  Earnings (5,648)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   988	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (672%)
Net	  (Loss)	  Earnings	  (%) (159%) 8%

EBITDA	  ** (1,890)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   3,275	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (158%)
EBITDA	  (%) (53%) 25%

Meters	  Drilled 41,416	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   129,487	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (68%)

(Loss)	  Earnings	  Per	  Share
Basic (0.13)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.02
Diluted (0.13)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.02

Total	  Assets 68,962	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   88,021	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (22%)

Total	  Long	  -‐	  Term	  Liabilities 2,481	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   8,767	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (72%)

Cash	  Dividend	  	  Declared NIL NIL

*EBIT	  =	  Earnings	  before	  interest	  and	  taxes
**EBITDA	  =	  Earning	  before	  interest,	  tax,	  depreciation	  and	  amortization
See	  "Supplementary	  Disclosure	  -‐	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18

Fourth	  Quarter	  Ended
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FOURTH	  QUARTER	  DECEMBER	  31,	  2013	  COMPARED	  TO	  FOURTH	  QUARTER	  DECEMBER	  31,	  
2012	  

Revenue	  

The	  Company	  recorded	  revenue	  of	  US$3.6M	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013,	  as	  compared	  
to	   US$12.9M	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	   December	   31,	   2012,	   representing	   a	   decrease	   of	   72%.	   The	  
decrease	   in	  revenue	  is	  primarily	  attributable	  to	  the	  number	  of	  meters	  drilled	  decreasing	  from	  129,487	  
meters	   in	   the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012	  to	  41,416	   in	   the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  
2013.	   In	   the	  4th	   quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	   2013	   compared	   to	   the	  4th	   quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  
2012	   the	   Company’s	   revenue	   decreased	   as	   certain	   jobs	   came	   to	   an	   end	   that	   were	   not	   immediately	  
replaced.	   The	  decrease	   in	   revenue	   in	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	  December	   31,	   2013	   reflected	   an	   industry	  
wide	   slowdown	   as	   many	   of	   Geodrill’s	   competitors	   also	   experienced	   decreasing	   revenue	   during	   this	  
period.	  

Cost	  of	  Sales	  and	  Gross	  Loss	  

The	   gross	   loss	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	  December	   31,	   2013	  was	  US$(1.9)M,	   as	   compared	   to	   a	   gross	  
profit	   of	  US$5.8M	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	  December	   31,	   2012,	   being	   a	   decrease	   of	  US$7.7M.	   	   The	  
gross	  profit	  percentage	  loss	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  was	  (54)%	  compared	  to	  45%	  
for	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012.	   Included	   in	  cost	  of	  sales	  was	  US$0.6M	  relating	  to	   inventory	  
revaluations	   and	   stock	   take	   adjustments	   in	   conjunction	   with	   the	   year	   end	   inventory	   count.	   	   Also	  
included	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  is	  depreciation	  of	  US$2.1M.	  	  

The	  decrease	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  for	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  as	  compared	  to	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  
December	  31,	  2012	  of	  US$1.6M	  reflects	  the	  following:	  

• Drill	   rig	  expenses	  and	  fuel	  decreased	  by	  US$1.5M	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  decrease	   in	  revenue	  
and	  the	  decrease	  in	  meters	  drilled.	  

• Employee	   benefits,	   external	   services	   and	   contractors	   expenses	   and	   repairs	   and	   maintenance	  
decreased	  by	  US$0.2M	  due	  to	  fewer	  workers	  being	  required	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  decrease	  	  in	  
revenue	  and	  the	  decrease	  in	  meters	  drilled	  and	  less	  services	  and	  repairs	  being	  required.	  	  

Selling,	  General	  and	  Administrative	  (“SG&A”)	  Expenses	  

SG&A	  expenses	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  were	  US$2.2M,	  compared	  to	  US$4.9M	  for	  
the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012,	  or	  a	  reduction	  of	  US$2.7M.	  
	  
The	  decrease	  in	  SG&A	  expenses	  of	  US$2.7M	  	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  as	  compared	  
to	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012	  reflects	  the	  following:	  

• Employee	  benefits,	  external	  services	  and	  contractors	  expenses	  decreased	  by	  US$3.1M	  due	  to	  a	  
reduction	  in	  staff	  and	  contractors	  during	  the	  quarter.	  

• Bad	  debt	  expense	  and	  the	  allowance	  for	  doubtful	  accounts	  increased	  by	  US$0.5M	  relating	  to	  the	  
write	  off	  of	  trade	  receivables	  the	  increase	  in	  the	  allowance	  for	  doubtful	  accounts.	  
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Foreign	  Exchange	  Loss	  

The	  Company	  realized	  a	  foreign	  exchange	  loss	  of	  US$0.2M	  in	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31	  2013.	  
The	  exchange	  gain	  or	  loss	  is	  the	  result	  of	  fluctuations	  in	  the	  US	  Dollar	  against	  the	  Australian	  Dollar,	  the	  
British	  Pound,	  the	  Euro,	  the	  Canadian	  Dollar,	  the	  Ghana	  Cedi	  and	  the	  Central	  African	  Franc.	  

(Loss)	  Profit	  from	  Operating	  Activities	  

Loss	  	  from	  operating	  activities	  (after	  cost	  of	  sales,	  SG&A	  expenses	  and	  foreign	  exchange	  gain	  or	  loss)	  for	  
the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  was	  a	  loss	  of	  US$(4.4)M,	  as	  compared	  to	  a	  profit	  of	  US$0.9M	  
in	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012.	  	  	  

EBITDA	  Margin	  (see	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18)	  

EBITDA	  margin	   for	   the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31	  2013,	  was	   (53)%	  compared	   to	  25%	   for	   the	  4th	  
quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012.	  See	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  -‐	  Non	  -‐	  IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.	  	  	  

EBIT	  Margin	  (see	  “Supplementary	  Disclosure	  –	  Non-‐IFRS	  Measures”	  on	  page	  18)	  

EBIT	   margin	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	   December	   31,	   2013	   was	   (122)%	   compared	   to	   7%	   for	   the	   4th	  
quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012.	  	  See	  Supplementary	  Disclosure	  -‐	  "Non-‐IFRS	  Measures"	  on	  page	  18.	  

Depreciation	  	  

Depreciation	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  was	  US$2.5M	  (US$2.1	  M	  in	  cost	  of	  sales	  and	  US$0.4M	  in	  
SG&A)	   for	   the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  compared	  to	  US$2.4M	  (US$2.0M	   in	  cost	  of	   sales	  
and	  US$0.4M	  in	  SG&A)	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2012.	  	  

Income	  Tax	  Expense	  

Income	  tax	  expense	  was	  US$1.1M	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  compared	  to	  an	  income	  
tax	   recovery	   of	   US$0.5M	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	   December	   31,	   2012.	   The	   income	   tax	   expense	   of	  
US$1.1M	  is	  comprised	  of	  current	  taxes	  of	  US$1.1M.	  	  	  Although	  the	  Group	  recorded	  an	  overall	  net	  loss	  of	  
US$5.6M	   in	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	   December	   31,	   2013,	   the	   Group	   realized	   a	   current	   tax	   expense	   of	  
US$1.1M	  as	  a	   result	  of	   the	   completion	  of	   the	   tax	  audit	  of	  Geodrill	  Ghana	   Limited	   for	   the	  years	  2010,	  
2011	   and	   2012.	   	   The	   Company’s	   corporate	   tax	   rate	   in	  Ghana	   is	   25%.	   	   In	   addition	   to	   corporate	   tax	   in	  
Ghana,	  the	  Company	  pays	  withholding	  tax	  on	  revenues	  in	  certain	  countries	  in	  which	  it	  provides	  drilling	  
services.	  	  

Net	  Loss	  

Net	  loss	  was	  US$(5.6)M	  for	  the	  4th	  quarter	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013,	  or	  US$(0.13)	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  
(US$(0.13)	   per	  Ordinary	   Share	   fully	  diluted),	   compared	   to	   net	   earnings	   of	   	  US$1M	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	  
ended	  December	  31,	  2012,	  or	  US$0.02	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  (US$0.02	  per	  Ordinary	  Share	  fully	  diluted).	  
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SUMMARY	  OF	  QUARTERLY	  RESULTS	  

	  

The	   Company’s	   revenue	   decreased	   on	   a	   quarter	   over	   quarter	   basis	   by	   US$0.5M	   for	   the	   4th	   quarter	  
ended	  December	  31,	   2013	   compared	   to	   the	  3rd	   quarter	   ended	  September	  30,	   2013.	   	  On	  a	  quarter	   to	  
quarter	   basis,	   the	   Company’s	   revenue	   decreased	   by	   US$9.4M	   compared	   to	   the	   4th	   quarter	   ended	  
December	   31,	   2012.	   	   The	   Company	   continues	   to	   believe	   that	   there	   is	   an	   industry	   wide	   slowdown	   in	  
drilling	  activities	  as	  there	  is	  pressure	  on	  early	  stage	  exploration	  companies	  as	  financing	  from	  the	  capital	  
markets	  continues	  to	  be	  challenging	  and	  there	  is	  also	  pressure	  on	  producing	  companies	  as	  they	  continue	  
to	   need	   to	  manage	   their	   exploration	   costs	   in	   light	   of	   increasing	   costs	   on	   the	   production	   side	   of	   their	  
business.	   The	   Company	   had	   certain	   jobs	   come	   to	   an	   end	   without	   being	   immediately	   replaced	   and	  
customers	   reduced	   the	   number	   of	   drill	   rigs	   operating	   at	   their	   sites	   and	   have	   parked	   certain	   rigs.	   The	  
Company	  believes	  that	  the	  slowdown	  in	  drilling	  activity	  will	  continue	  into	  2014	  and	  as	  such	  the	  Company	  
continues	   to	   actively	   bid	   on	   new	   jobs	   and	   has	   continued	   to	   take	   steps	   to	   control	   costs,	   monitor	   its	  
workforce	  and	  is	  managing	  its	  capital	  expenditures.	  	  

The	   Company’s	   operations	   have	   tended	   to	   exhibit	   a	   seasonal	   pattern	  whereby	   the	   second	   quarter	   is	  
typically	  affected	  by	   the	  Easter	   shutdown	  of	  exploration	  activities	  affecting	   some	  of	   the	   rigs	   for	  up	   to	  
one	  week	  over	  the	  Easter	  holidays.	  For	  2013,	  the	  Easter	  shut-‐down	  straddled	  the	  first	  quarter	  of	  2013	  
and	  the	  second	  quarter	  of	  2013.	  The	  wet	  season	  occurs	  (in	  some	  geographical	  areas	  where	  the	  company	  
operates,	  particularly	   in	  Burkina	  Faso)	  normally	   in	  the	  third	  quarter,	  but	   in	  the	  recent	  years	  the	  global	  
weather	   pattern	   has	   become	   somewhat	   erratic.	   The	   wet	   season	   affected	   the	   Company’s	   drilling	  
operations	  and	  revenue	  as	  companies	  slowed	  operations	  during	  this	  time.	  The	  Company	  has	  historically	  
taken	  advantage	  of	   the	  wet	   season	  and	  has	   scheduled	   the	   third	  quarter	   for	  maintenance	  and	   rebuild	  
programs	   for	   drill	   rigs	   and	   equipment.	   In	   the	   3rd	   quarter	   of	   2013	   the	   Company	   has	   continued	   with	  
repairs	   and	   maintenance	   but	   at	   a	   slower	   rate	   than	   previous	   quarters.	   	   The	   fourth	   quarter	   was	   also	  
affected,	   due	   to	   the	   shutdown	   of	   exploration	   activities,	   often	   for	   extended	   periods	   over	   the	   holiday	  
season	  (Christmas	  and	  New	  Year’s	  of	  up	  to	  two	  weeks	  over	  the	  period).	  	  
	  
Effect	  of	  Exchange	  Rate	  Movements	  
	  
The	   Company’s	   receipts	   and	   disbursements	   are	   denominated	   in	   US	   Dollars	   and	   local	   currencies.	   The	  
Company’s	  main	   exposure	   to	   exchange	   rate	   fluctuations	   arises	   from	   certain	   capital	   costs,	  wage	   costs	  
and	  purchases	  denominated	  in	  other	  currencies	  and	  borrowings	  denominated	  in	  other	  currencies.	  

The	  Company's	  revenue	  is	  invoiced	  in	  US	  Dollars.	  The	  Company’s	  purchases	  are	  in	  Australian	  Dollars,	  US	  
Dollars,	  Euros,	  Canadian	  Dollars	  and	  local	  currencies.	  Other	  local	  expenses	  include	  purchases	  and	  wages	  
which	   are	   paid	   in	   the	   local	   currency.	   During	   2013,	   the	   Company	   realized	   a	   foreign	   exchange	   gain	   of	  

	  (in	  US$	  000's) Dec-‐31 Sep	  30 Jun	  30 Mar	  31 Dec	  31 Sep	  30 Jun	  30 Mar	  31

Revenue 3,559	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   4,031	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   14,590 15,032 12,921 10,146 20,860 21,659
Revenue	  Increase	  (Decrease)	  	  % (12%) (72%) (3%) 16% 27% (51%) (4%) 4%

Gross	  (Loss)	  Profit (1,929)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (613)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   8,005 6,391 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  5,808	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  (990) 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  9,512	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  11,523	  
Gross	  Margin	  (%) (54%) (15%) 55% 43% 45% (10%) 46% 53%

Net	  (loss)	  Earnings (5,649)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (3,512)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   2,830 1,423 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  988	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  (4,994) 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  2,781	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  4,429	  
	  	  Per	  Share	  -‐	  Basic (0.13)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (0.08)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.07 0.03 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.02	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  (0.12) 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.07	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.10	  
	  	  Per	  Share	  -‐	  Diluted (0.13)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (0.08)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   0.07 0.03 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.02	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  (0.12) 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.06	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  0.10	  

20122013
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US$0.04M,	   compared	   to	   a	   foreign	   exchange	   loss	   of	   US$0.50M	   in	   2012	   predominately	   as	   a	   result	   of	  
fluctuations	  in	  the	  US	  Dollar	  against	  foreign	  and	  local	  currencies.	  

SELECTED	  INFORMATION	  FROM	  CONSOLIDATED	  STATEMENTS	  OF	  CASH	  FLOWS 

	  

LIQUIDITY	  AND	  CAPITAL	  RESOURCES	  	  

Liquidity	  

As	   at	   December	   31,	   2013	   the	   Company	   had	   cash	   and	   cash	   equivalents	   equal	   to	   US$3.2M.	   As	   at	  
December	   31,	   2013	   the	   Company	   had	   loans	   payable	   of	   US$6.6M	   compared	   to	   loans	   payable	   of	  
US$12.2M	   as	   at	   December	   31,	   2012.	   The	   decrease	   in	   the	   loans	   payable	   amount	   relates	   to	   quarterly	  
principal	   repayments	  on	   the	  Term	   loan	  and	  Equipment	   loans	  of	  US$6.4M,	  offset	  by	   the	  drawdown	  of	  
US$0.7M	  on	  the	  credit	  line.	  	  Since	  the	  Company	  has	  a	  loans	  payable	  amount,	  the	  Company	  continues	  to	  
monitor	   its	   cash	   and	   cash	   equivalents	   and	   its	   capital	   spending	   in	   response	   to	   the	   industry	   wide	  
slowdown	  for	  drilling	  activities	  and	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  loans	  that	  need	  to	  be	  repaid.	  	  As	  at	  March	  3,	  
2014,	  the	  Company	  has	  drawn	  down	  US$1.6M	  on	  the	  credit	  line.	  

FOURTH	  QUARTER	  ENDED	  DECEMBER	  31,	  2013	  

Operating	  Activities	  

In	  the	  4th	  quarter	  of	  2013,	  the	  Company	  used	  cash	   in	  operating	  activities	  of	  US$0.1M,	  as	  compared	  to	  
generating	   net	   cash	   from	   operating	   activities	   of	   US$1.9M	   in	   the	   4th	   quarter	   of	   2012.	   The	   Company	  
realized	  a	   loss	  before	   taxation	  of	  US$(4.6)M	   for	   the	  4th	   quarter	  of	   2013	  but	   the	   impact	  of	   changes	   in	  
non-‐cash	  items	  and	  changes	  in	  working	  capital	  items	  generated	  cash	  of	  US$4.5M	  resulting	  in	  cash	  used	  
in	  operations	  of	  US$0.1M.	  

Investing	  Activities	  

In	   the	  4th	  quarter	  of	  2013,	   the	  Company’s	   investment	   in	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  was	  US$0.1M	  
compared	   to	  US$4.9M	   in	   the	   4th	   quarter	   of	   2012.	   Plant	   and	   equipment	   addition	   in	   the	   4th	   quarter	   of	  
2013	  mainly	  included	  the	  costs	  associated	  with	  rebuilding	  existing	  drill	  rigs	  and	  related	  equipment.	  

Financing	  Activities	  

During	  the	  4th	  quarter	  of	  2013,	   the	  Company	  used	  cash	  of	  US$1.6M	  relating	   to	   the	  quarterly	  principal	  
repayments	  on	  loans	  offset	  by	  a	  draw	  down	  on	  the	  credit	  line	  of	  US$0.7M	  compared	  to	  using	  US$1.1M	  
in	  the	  4th	  quarter	  of	  2012,	  relating	  to	  the	  quarterly	  principal	  repayment	  on	  loans.	  

	   	  

(in	  US$	  000's) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Net	  Cash	  generated	  (used	  in)	  from	  operating	  activities 2,787	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   16,478	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (140)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   1,901	  	  	  	  	  	  
Net	  Cash	  used	  in	  investing	  activities (1,534)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (22,814)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (141)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (4,887)	  	  	  	  	  
Net	  Cash	  (used	  in)	  provided	  from	  financing	  activities (5,652)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,637	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (923)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (1,140)	  	  	  	  	  
Effect	  of	  movement	  in	  exchange	  rates	  on	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalents 46	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   96	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   56	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (7)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Net	  decrease	  in	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalents (4,353)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (603)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   (1,148)	  	  	  	  	   (4,133)	  	  	  	  	  

Fourth	  quarter	  endFiscal	  year	  end
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FISCAL	  	  2013	  
Operating	  Activities	  

In	   2013,	   the	   Company	   generated	   net	   cash	   from	   operating	   activities	   of	   US$3.4M,	   as	   compared	   to	  
generating	  net	  cash	  from	  operating	  activities	  of	  US$16.5M	  in	  2012.	  The	  Company	  realized	  a	  loss	  before	  
taxation	   of	   US$(3.5)M	   for	   2013,	   however	   the	   impact	   of	   changes	   in	   non-‐cash	   items	   and	   changes	   in	  
working	  capital	  items	  generated	  cash	  of	  US$6.3M,	  resulting	  in	  operating	  cash	  flow	  of	  US$2.8M.	  

Investing	  Activities	  

In	   2013,	   the	   Company’s	   investment	   in	   property,	   plant	   and	   equipment	   was	   US$1.5M	   compared	   to	  
US$22.8M	  in	  2012.	  Plant	  and	  equipment	  expenditures	  in	  2013	  mainly	  included	  the	  costs	  associated	  with	  
rebuilding	  existing	  drill	  rigs	  and	  related	  equipment.	  

Financing	  Activities	  

In	   2013,	   the	   Company	   used	   cash	   of	  US$6.4M	   relating	   to	   the	   quarterly	   principal	   repayments	   on	   loans	  
offset	  by	  a	  draw	  down	  of	  US$0.7M	  on	  the	  credit	  line	  compared	  to	  receiving	  net	  cash	  of	  US$5.6M	  in	  2012	  
related	  to	  net	  proceeds	  of	  US$10M	  from	  the	  Zenith	  less	  repayment	  of	  the	  Zenith	  Term	  Loan	  of	  US$1.1M	  
less	   the	   cash	   used	   to	   repay	   the	   Silverwood	   Ventures	   Loan	   of	   US$3.3M	   plus	   US$0.1M	   related	   to	   the	  
issuance	  of	  shares	  in	  exchange	  for	  stock	  options	  exercised.	  

Contractual	  Obligations	  

 
(1)	  	  The	  operating	  leases	  relate	  to	  the	  lease	  payments	  for	  the	  two	  real	  estate	  properties,	  as	  fully	  disclosed	  under	  “Transactions	  with	  Related	  Parties”.	  The	  annual	  
rent	  payable	  shall	  be	  reviewed	  on	  an	  upward	  only	  basis	  every	  two	  years	  depending	  on	  the	  average	  price	  of	  two	  firms	  of	  real	  estate	  valuators/surveyors	  or	  real	  
estate	  agents.	  	  The	  amount	  for	  2015	  represents	  nine	  months	  only	  as	  the	  initial	  lease	  term	  expires	  on	  September	  30,	  2015.	  	  In	  addition,	  the	  operating	  leases	  includes	  
an	  amount	  for	  a	  site	  in	  Burkina	  Faso.	  
(2)	  The	  purchase	  obligations	  refer	  to	  the	  purchase	  of	  an	  additional	  drill	  rig	  and	  spare	  rig	  parts	  that	  is	  currently	  on	  hold.	  
(3)	  Loans	  refer	  to	  the	  Zenith	  Term	  Loan,	  the	  Sandvik	  Equipment	  Loans	  and	  the	  Credit	  line,	  including	  the	  related	  interest.	  
 
Contractual	  obligations	  will	  be	  funded	  in	  the	  short-‐term	  by	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalents	  as	  at	  December	  
31,	  2013	  of	  US$3.2M,	  cash	  generated	  from	  operations	  and	  the	  US$3.4M	  available	  on	  the	  Credit	  Line.	  	  
OUTLOOK	  

The	  Company	  continues	  to	  believe	  that	  there	  is	  an	  industry	  wide	  slowdown	  in	  drilling	  activities	  as	  there	  
is	  pressure	  on	  early	  stage	  exploration	  companies	  as	  financing	  from	  the	  capital	  markets	  continues	  to	  be	  
challenging	  and	  there	  is	  also	  pressure	  on	  producing	  companies	  as	  they	  continue	  to	  need	  to	  manage	  their	  
exploration	  costs	  in	  light	  of	  increasing	  costs	  on	  the	  production	  side	  of	  their	  business.	  The	  Company	  had	  
certain	   jobs	   come	   to	   an	   end	  without	   being	   immediately	   replaced	   and	   certain	   customers	   reduced	   the	  
number	  of	  drill	  rigs	  operating	  at	  their	  sites	  and	  have	  parked	  certain	  rigs.	  The	  Company	  believes	  that	  the	  
slowdown	  in	  drilling	  activity	  will	  continue	  in	  2014	  and,	  as	  such,	  the	  Company	  continues	  to	  actively	  bid	  on	  
new	  jobs	  and	  continues	  to	  take	  steps	  to	  control	  costs,	  monitor	  its	  workforce	  and	  is	  managing	  its	  capital	  
expenditures.	  As	  at	  December	  31,	  2013	  the	  Company	  had	  33	  drill	  rigs	  that	  were	  available	  for	  operation,	  

Contractual	  Obligations	  
in	  US$
Operating	  Leases	  

(1)	   656,000 272,000 222,000 72,000 72,000 18,000
Purchase	  Obligations	  (2) 1,250,000 1,250,000 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Loans	  (3) 7,065,450 5,865,200 1,200,250 N/A N/A N/A

Total	  Contractual	  Obligations	   8,971,450 7,387,200 1,422,250 72,000 72,000 18,000

Payments	  Due	  by

Total	   2014 2015 20182016 2017
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four	  drill	   rigs	   in	  the	  workshop	  and	  one	  drill	  rig	  on	  hold	  with	  the	  manufacturer.	  The	  Company’s	  drill	   rig	  
fleet	  available	  for	  operation	  or	  planned	  to	  be	  available	  for	  operation	  is	  noted	  below:	  
	  

	  	  

	  

	  

	  

Make	  -‐	  Model Type

2 1x2003 2 1x2003 2 1x2003 2 1x2003 2 1x2003

1x1993 1x1993 1x1993 1x1993 1x1993

2 1x2007 2 1x2007 2 1x2007 2 1x2007 4 1x2007

1x2003 1x2003 1x2003 1x2003 1x2003

1X1998

1x1999

4 1x2010 4 1x2010 4 1x2010 2 1x2010 4 1x2010

3x2008 3x2008 3x2008 1x2008 3x2008

Sandvik	  -‐	  DE810 Multi-‐Purpose 6 6x2012 6 6x2012 6 6x2012 6 6x2012 6 6x2012

EDM	  -‐	  2000 Multi-‐Purpose 3 3x2011 3 3x2011 3 3x2011 3 3x2011 3 3x2011

Austex	  -‐	  X900 Multi-‐Purpose 5 3x2011 5 3x2011 5 3x2011 5 3x2011 6 3x2011

2x	  2012 2x	  2012 2x	  2012 2x	  2012 3x	  2012

2x2011 2x2011 2x2011 2x2011 8 2x2011

5x2010 5x2010 5x2010 5x2010 5x2010

1x2009 1x2009 1x2009 1x2009 1x2009

1x2011 1x2011 1x2011 2x2011 5 2x2011

2x2012 2x2012 2x2012 2x2012 2x2012

1x2010 1x2010 1x2010 1x2010 1x2010
Total	  Drill	  Rigs	  Available	  for	  
Operation 34 34 34 33 38

8

5

Multi-‐Purpose

8

4

8

4

Planned	  to	  be	  available	  for	  
Operation	  by	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

By	  Dec	  31,	  2014	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
No	  of	  Rigs	  

Austex	  -‐	  X300 Aircore 4

8

UDR	  -‐	  KL900 Multi-‐Purpose

Sandvik	  -‐	  DE820 Multi-‐Purpose

Sandvik	  -‐	  DE710 Core

Available	  for	  
Operation	  as	  at	  
Mar	  31,	  2013	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

No.	  of	  Rigs

Available	  for	  
Operation	  as	  at	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
Jun	  30,	  2013	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

No.	  of	  Rigs

Available	  for	  
Operation	  as	  at	  	  	  	  
Sep	  30,	  2013	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

No.	  of	  Rigs

Available	  for	  
Operation	  as	  at	  	  	  	  
Dec	  31,	  2013	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

No.	  of	  Rigs
UDR	  -‐	  650

No. of 
Rigs Type

No. of 
Rigs Type

No. of 
Rigs Type

No. of 
Rigs Type

22 Multi-Purpose 22 Multi-Purpose 22 Multi-Purpose 20 Multi-Purpose

8 Core Only 8 Core Only 8 Core Only 8 Core Only

4 Air core 4 Air core 4 Air core 5 Air core
TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR 
OPERATION 34 34 34 33

In transit

Total in Transit

2 Multi-Purpose 2 Multi-Purpose 2 Multi-Purpose 4 Multi-Purpose

1 Air core 1 Aircore 1 Aircore

Total in W/Shop 3 3 3 4

Total Manufacturing on 
hold 2 2 1 1

TOTAL DRILL RIGS 39 39 38 38

Split

Multi-Purpose 26 26 25 25

Core Only 8 8 8 8

Air Core 5 5 5 5

TOTAL 39 39 38 38

In W/Shop

Multi-Purpose 1 Multi-PurposeManufacturing on hold 2 Multi-Purpose 2 Multi-Purpose 1

As at Mar 31, 2013 As at  Jun 30, 2013 As at Sep 30, 2013 As at Dec 31, 2013

Available for Operation
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SUPPLEMENTARY	  DISCLOSURE	  -‐	  NON-‐IFRS	  MEASURES	  

EBIT	  is	  defined	  as	  Earnings	  before	  Interest	  and	  Taxes	  and	  EBITDA	  is	  defined	  as	  Earnings	  before	  Interest,	  
Taxes,	  Depreciation	  and	  Amortization.	   	  The	  definitions	  are	  used	  in	  this	  MD&A	  as	  measures	  of	  financial	  
performance.	   The	   Company	   believes	   EBIT	   and	   EBITDA	   are	   useful	   to	   investors	   because	   they	   are	  
frequently	  used	  by	  securities	  analysts,	   investors	  and	  other	   interested	  parties	  to	  evaluate	  companies	   in	  
the	  same	  industry.	  Management	  believes	  that	  EBITDA	  is	  an	  important	  indicator	  of	  the	  Group’s	  ability	  to	  
generate	  liquidity	  through	  operating	  cash	  flow	  to	  fund	  future	  working	  capital	  needs,	  service	  outstanding	  
debt,	  and	  fund	  any	  future	  capital	  expenditures	  and	  uses	  the	  metric	  for	  this	  purpose.	  	  However,	  EBIT	  and	  
EBITDA	  are	  not	  measures	  recognized	  by	  IFRS	  and	  do	  not	  have	  standardized	  meanings	  prescribed	  by	  IFRS.	  
EBIT	  and	  EBITDA	  should	  not	  be	  viewed	  in	  isolation	  and	  do	  not	  purport	  to	  be	  alternatives	  to	  net	  income	  
or	   gross	   profit	   as	   indicators	   of	   operating	   performance	   or	   cash	   flows	   from	   operating	   activities	   as	   a	  
measure	   of	   liquidity.	   EBIT	   and	   EBITDA	   do	   not	   have	   standardized	   meanings	   prescribed	   by	   IFRS	   and	  
therefore	  they	  may	  not	  be	  comparable	  to	  similarly	  titled	  measures	  presented	  by	  other	  publicly	  traded	  
companies.	  Also,	  EBIT	  and	  EBITDA	  should	  not	  be	  construed	  as	  alternatives	  to	  other	  financial	  measures	  
determined	  in	  accordance	  with	  IFRS.	  	  

Additionally,	   EBIT	   and	   EBITDA	   are	   not	   intended	   to	   be	   measures	   of	   free	   cash	   flow	   for	   management’s	  
discretionary	   use,	   as	   they	   do	   not	   consider	   certain	   cash	   requirements	   such	   as	   capital	   expenditures,	  
contractual	  commitments,	  interest	  payments,	  tax	  payments	  and	  debt	  service	  requirements.	  	  

Gross	  profit	  margin	  is	  defined	  as	  gross	  profit	  as	  a	  percentage	  of	  revenue.	  	  Gross	  profit	  margin	  does	  not	  
have	  a	  standardized	  meaning	  prescribed	  by	  IFRS	  and	  therefore	  may	  not	  be	  comparable	  to	  similarly	  titled	  
measures	  presented	  by	  other	  publicly	  traded	  companies.	  

The	  following	  table	  is	  a	  reconciliation	  of	  Geodrill’s	  results	  from	  operations	  to	  EBIT	  and	  EBITDA	  

	  

DISCLOSURE	  CONTROLS	  AND	  PROCEDURES	  

The	  Chief	  Executive	  Officer	  (the	  “CEO”)	  and	  the	  Chief	  Financial	  Officer	  (the	  “CFO”)	  of	  the	  Company	  are	  
responsible	   for	   establishing	   and	   maintaining	   disclosure	   controls	   and	   procedures	   (“DC&P”)	   for	   the	  
Company	   as	   defined	   under	   Multilateral	   Instrument	   52-‐109	   issued	   by	   the	   Canadian	   Securities	  
Administrators.	  	  The	  CEO	  and	  the	  CFO	  have	  designed	  such	  DC&P,	  or	  caused	  them	  to	  be	  designed	  under	  
their	   supervision,	   to	   provide	   reasonable	   assurance	   that	   information	   required	   to	   be	   disclosed	   by	   the	  
Company	   in	   its	   annual	   filings,	   interim	   filings	  or	  other	   reports	   filed	  or	   submitted	  by	   it	   under	   securities	  
legislation	   is	   recorded,	   processed,	   summarized	   and	   reported	  within	   the	   time	   periods	   specified	   in	   the	  
securities	  legislation	  and	  include	  controls	  and	  procedures	  designed	  to	  ensure	  that	  information	  required	  
to	  be	  disclosed	  by	  an	  issuer	  in	  its	  annual	  filings,	  interim	  filings	  or	  other	  reports	  filed	  or	  submitted	  under	  
securities	   legislation	   is	   accumulated	   and	   communicated	   to	   the	   Company’s	  management,	   including	   its	  
certifying	   officers,	   as	   appropriate	   to	   allow	   timely	   decisions	   regarding	   required	   disclosure.	   As	   at	  
December	   31,	   2013,	   the	   CEO	   and	   CFO	   evaluated	   the	   design	   and	   operation	   of	   the	   Company’s	   DC&P.	  	  

(US$	  000's) Dec	  31,	  2013 Dec	  31,	  2012 Dec	  31,	  2013 Dec	  31,	  2012

(Loss)	  Profit	  from	  Operating	  Activities (2,396)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,563 (4,352)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   862	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

Add:	  Finance	  Income 3 9 1 3
Earnings	  Before	  Interest	  and	  Taxes	  (EBIT) (2,393)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   5,572 (4,351)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   865	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

Add:	  Depreciation	  &	  Amortization	   9,625	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   7,977 2,461	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   2,410
Earnings	  Before	  Interest,	  Taxes,	  Depreciation	  &	  Amortization
(EBITDA) 7,232 13,549 (1,890)	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   3,275	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  

Twelve	  months	  ended Three	  months	  ended
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Based	  on	   that	  evaluation,	   the	  CEO	  and	  CFO	  concluded	   that	   the	  Company’s	  DC&P	  were	  effective	  as	  at	  
December	  31,	  2013.	  
	  
INTERNAL	  CONTROL	  OVER	  FINANCIAL	  REPORTING	  

Management	   is	   responsible	   for	   establishing	   and	   maintaining	   adequate	   internal	   control	   over	   financial	  
reporting	  to	  provide	  reasonable	  assurance	  regarding	  the	  reliability	  of	  the	  Company’s	  financial	  reporting	  
and	  the	  preparation	  of	  its	  consolidated	  financial	  statements	  in	  accordance	  with	  IFRS.	  	  

There	   were	   no	   changes	   in	   the	   Company’s	   internal	   control	   over	   financial	   reporting	   during	   the	   period	  
beginning	  on	   January	  1,	  2013	  and	  ended	  on	  December	  31,	  2013,	   that	  have	  materially	  affected,	  or	  are	  
reasonably	  likely	  to	  materially	  affect,	  the	  Company’s	  internal	  control	  over	  financial	  reporting.	  

RISK	  FACTORS	  

The	  following	  discussion	  outlines	  certain	  relevant	  risk	  factors	  according	  to	  the	  Company’s	  business	  and	  
industry	  within	  which	  it	  operates.	  These	  risks	  are	  not	  the	  only	  risks	  facing	  the	  Company.	  Additional	  risks	  
and	   uncertainties	   presently	   not	   known	   to	   the	   Company,	   or	   that	   the	   Company	   currently	   deems	  
immaterial,	  may	  also	  impair	  the	  operations	  and	  could	  potentially	  affect	  the	  Company.	  
	  
Risks	  Related	  to	  the	  Business	  and	  the	  Industry	  	  

Debt	  level	  
	  
In	  response	  to	  the	  need	  to	  finance	  general	  corporate	  expenditures	  including	  working	  capital	  needs,	  the	  
Company	   has	   needed	   to	   borrow	   funds.	   	   As	   a	   result,	   the	   Company	   has	   loans	   payable	   outstanding.	  	  
Historically,	   the	   Company	   has	   reinvested	   cash	   generated	   from	   operations	   into	   property,	   plant	   and	  
equipment.	   	   With	   loans	   payable	   outstanding	   and	   the	   required	   payments,	   the	   Company	   will	   need	   to	  
monitor	   its	   cash	   on	   hand,	   and	   its	   operating	   activities	   in	   response	   to	   the	   level	   of	   debt	   and	   scheduled	  
repayments.	   	   The	  debt	   requires	   repayments	  of	  principal	   and	   interest	  of	   approximately	  of	  US$5.9M	   in	  
2014	  and	  then	  US$1.2M	  in	  2015.	  
	  
Dependence	  on	  customers	  with	  capital	  raising	  challenges	  
	  
From	  time	  to	  time,	  the	  Company	  may	  be	  dependent	  on	  customers	  for	  a	  significant	  portion	  of	  revenue	  
and	  net	   income	  who,	  due	  to	  their	  relative	  size,	  could	  be	  challenged	  to	  attract	  funding	  to	  achieve	  their	  
business	  plans.	  Should	  a	  number	  of	  our	  customers	  face	  serious	  capital	  raising	  constraints,	  there	  can	  be	  
no	   guarantee	   that	   the	   Company	   will	   be	   able	   to	   secure	   sufficient	   replacement	   customers,	   potentially	  
leading	  to	  future	  reduced	  	  	  revenue	  and	  income	  levels.	  Consequently,	  the	  Company	  continues	  to	  work	  to	  
expand	  its	  client	  base	  to	  mitigate	  its	  exposure	  to	  customers	  with	  capital	  raising	  challenges.	  
	  
Competition	  	  
	  
The	   Company	   faces	   considerable	   competition	   from	   several	   large	   drilling	   services	   companies	   and	   a	  
number	  of	  smaller	  regional	  competitors.	  Some	  of	  the	  Company’s	  competitors	  have	  been	  in	  the	  drilling	  
services	  industry	  for	  a	  longer	  period	  of	  time	  and	  have	  substantially	  greater	  financial	  and	  other	  resources	  
than	   the	   Company.	   This	  may	  mean	   that	   they	   are	   perceived	   as	   being	   able	   to	   offer	   a	   greater	   range	   of	  
services	  at	  more	  competitive	  prices	  than	  the	  Company.	  	  In	  addition,	  new	  and	  current	  competitors	  willing	  
to	   provide	   services	   at	   a	   lower	   cost	  will	   likely	   continue	   to	  occur	   as	   demand	   for	   drilling	   services	   in	   the	  
West	   African	   mining	   market	   tightens.	   Increased	   competition	   in	   the	   drilling	   services	   market	   may	  
adversely	   affect	   the	   Company’s	   current	   market	   share,	   profitability	   and	   growth	   opportunities.	   Any	  
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erosion	  of	  the	  Company’s	  competitive	  position	  could	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company’s	  
business,	  results	  of	  operations,	  financial	  condition	  and	  growth	  prospects.	  	  
	  
A	   significant	  portion	  of	   the	  drilling	   services	  business	   is	   a	   result	   of	   being	   awarded	   contracts	   through	  a	  
competitive	   tender	   process.	   It	   is	   possible	   that	   the	   Company	   may	   lose	   potential	   new	   contracts	   to	  
competitors	  if	  it	  is	  unable	  to	  demonstrate	  reliable	  performance,	  technical	  competence	  and	  competitive	  
pricing	  as	  part	  of	  the	  tender	  process	  or	  if	  mining	  companies	  elect	  not	  to	  undertake	  a	  competitive	  tender	  
process,	  or	  does	  not	   continue	   to	  provide	  a	  premium	  service	  as	   compared	   to	  other	  competitors,	   to	   its	  
existing	  client	  base	  which	  would	  cause	  it	  to	  lose	  its	  reputation	  in	  the	  market	  place.	  
	  
Cyclical	  Downturns	  	  
	  
The	  Company’s	  business	   is	  highly	  dependent	  upon	  the	   levels	  of	  mineral	  exploration,	  development	  and	  
production	  activity	  by	  mining	   companies	   in	  West	  Africa.	  A	   reduction	   in	  exploration,	  development	  and	  
production	  activities	  has	  caused	  a	  decline	  in	  the	  demand	  for	  drill	  rigs	  and	  drilling	  services,	  which	  has	  had	  
a	   material	   adverse	   effect	   on	   the	   Company’s	   business,	   financial	   position,	   resulting	   operations	   and	  
prospects.	  The	  Company	  was	  affected	  by	  the	   industry	  wide	  slowdown	   in	  drilling	  activities.	   	   In	  general,	  
there	   continues	   to	   be	   pressure	   on	   early	   stage	   exploration	   companies	   as	   financing	   from	   the	   capital	  
markets	  continues	  to	  be	  challenging	  and	  there	  is	  also	  pressure	  on	  producing	  companies	  as	  they	  continue	  
to	   need	   to	  manage	   their	   exploration	   costs	   in	   light	   of	   increasing	   costs	   on	   the	   production	   side	   of	   their	  
business.	  Specifically,	  the	  Company’s	  revenue	  decreased	  as	  certain	  customers’	  jobs	  came	  to	  an	  end	  that	  
were	  not	   immediately	   replaced	  and	  certain	   continuing	  customers	   significantly	   reduced	   the	  number	  of	  
drill	  rigs	  operating	  on	  their	  sites.	  	  	  	  
	  
The	  operations	  and	  financial	  results	  of	  Geodrill	  may	  be	  materially	  adversely	  affected	  by	  declines	  in	  the	  
price	  of	  gold	  and	  other	  commodities.	  The	  prices	  of	  gold	  and	  other	  commodities	  fluctuate	  widely	  and	  are	  
affected	   by	   numerous	   factors	   beyond	   Geodrill’s	   control,	   such	   as	   the	   sale	   or	   purchase	   of	   metals	   by	  
various	   central	   banks	   and	   financial	   institutions,	   interest	   rates,	   exchange	   rates,	   inflation	   or	   deflation,	  
fluctuations	   in	   the	  value	  of	   the	  United	  States	  dollar	  and	   foreign	  currencies,	  global	  and	  regional	  supply	  
and	  demand	  and	  the	  political	  and	  economic	  conditions	  of	  major	  metals-‐producing	  countries	  throughout	  
the	  world.	  The	  price	  of	  gold	  and	  other	  commodities	  has	  fluctuated	  widely	  in	  the	  past,	  and	  future	  serious	  
price	   declines	   could	   cause	   continued	   exploration,	   development	   of	   and	   commercial	   production	   by	  
Geodrill’s	   clients	   to	  be	   impracticable.	   In	   such	  event,	   the	  operational	  and	   financial	   results	   from	  drilling	  
operations	  would	  suffer.	  	  
	  
Industry	  experience	  indicates	  that	  prevailing	  and	  projected	  prices	  of	  commodities	  are	  major	  influences	  
on	   the	  Company’s	   clients’	   activity	   levels	  and	  planned	  expenditures.	  Gold	  prices	  are	   currently	  at	   levels	  
well	  above	  historical	  averages.	  Strong	  commodities	  market	  conditions	  have	  led	  to	  an	  increased	  supply	  of	  
drill	  rigs	  to	  the	  market.	  In	  the	  event	  of	  a	  sustained	  decrease	  in	  demand,	  the	  market	  may	  be	  oversupplied	  
with	  drill	  rigs,	  which	  may	  result	  in	  downward	  pressure	  on	  drilling	  service	  providers’	  margins	  and	  drilling	  
operations.	  In	  addition,	  historically	  when	  commodity	  prices	  fall	  below	  certain	  levels,	  it	  is	  not	  uncommon	  
for	  mining	  and	  exploration	  expenditures	  to	  decline	  in	  the	  following	  12	  month	  period.	  There	  is	  a	  risk	  that	  
a	  significant,	  sustained	  fall	   in	  commodity	  prices	  could	  substantially	  reduce	  future	  mining	  expenditures,	  
particularly	   in	   relation	   to	   exploration	   and	   production,	   leading	   to	   a	   decline	   in	   demand	   for	   the	   drilling	  
services	   offered	   by	   the	   Company	   which	   may	   have	   a	   material	   adverse	   effect	   and	   impact	   on	   the	  
Company’s	  business,	  financial	  position,	  results	  of	  operations	  and	  prospects.	  	  
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Revenues	  and	  EBITDA	  	  

The	  Company	  does	  not	  provide	  financial	  guidance.	  	  The	  Company	  has	  generated	  positive	  EBITDA	  in	  the	  
past,	   however,	   in	   2013	   the	   EBITDA	   decreased	   compared	   to	   2012	   and	   in	   2012	   the	   EBITDA	   decreased	  
compared	  to	  2011.	   	  There	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  that	  the	  Company	  will	  generate	  positive	  EBITDA	   in	  the	  
future.	  	  	  

Global	  Financial	  Condition	  	  

Global	   financial	   conditions	   have	   been	   subject	   to	   increased	   volatility	   in	   recent	   years	   and	   numerous	  
financial	   institutions	  have	  either	  gone	   into	   insolvency	  or	  have	  received	  capital	  bail-‐outs	  or	  other	   relief	  
from	  governmental	  authorities.	  These	  factors	  may	   impact	  the	  ability	  of	  the	  Company	  and	  its	  clients	  to	  
obtain	   equity	   or	   debt	   financing	   in	   the	   future	   on	   terms	   that	   are	   favorable.	   Worldwide	   economic	  
conditions,	   in	   particular,	   economic	   conditions	   of	   countries	   such	   as	   the	   United	   States	   and	   China,	  
influence	  the	  activity	   in	  the	  mining	   industry	  which	   in	  turn	  has	  an	  effect	  on	  the	  demand	  for	  the	  drilling	  
services	  provided	  by	  Geodrill.	  Although	  there	  have	  been	  numerous	  indications	  of	  economic	  recovery	  in	  
recent	   years,	   if	   increased	   levels	   of	   volatility	   and	   market	   turmoil	   continue,	   the	   Company’s	   results	   of	  
operations	  could	  be	  adversely	  impacted	  and	  the	  trading	  price	  of	  the	  Ordinary	  Shares	  could	  be	  adversely	  
affected.	  	  

Foreign	  Currency	  Exposure	  	  

The	  Company	  receives	  the	  majority	  of	   its	  revenues	   in	  U.S.	  dollars.	   	   	   In	  Ghana,	  the	  Company	  receives	  a	  
portion	   of	   its	   revenues	   in	   U.S	   dollars	   and	   a	   portion	   in	   Ghanaian	   Cedi.	   In	   February	   2014,	   the	   Bank	   of	  
Ghana	  implemented	  revised	  rules	  on	  the	  operation	  of	  foreign	  exchange	  accounts	  and	  foreign	  currency	  
accounts	  that	  requires	  all	  transactions	  in	  Ghana	  to	  be	  conducted	  in	  Ghana	  Cedi.	   	  This	  will	   impact	  2014	  
and	  future	  years	  as	  the	  Company	  may	  be	  receiving	  more	  receipts	  from	  customers	   in	  Ghanaian	  Cedi	  as	  
opposed	  to	  U.S.	  dollars.	  The	  Company	  does	  have	  significant	  operations	  and	  expenditures	  in	  Ghana	  that	  
are	  payable	  in	  Ghana	  Cedi	  so	  an	  implicit	  foreign	  currency	  hedge	  for	  the	  Ghanaian	  Cedi	  is	  in	  place.	  	  The	  
new	   foreign	   exchange	   rules	   may	   also	   affect	   the	   Company’s	   future	   borrowings	   in	   Ghana	   which	   are	  
currently	  denominated	  in	  U.S.	  dollars.	  As	  it	  is	  still	  early	  in	  the	  process	  of	  implementing	  the	  revised	  rules,	  
the	  Company	   is	   investigating	   the	   impact	  of	   any	   changes	  of	  having	  all	   transactions	   to	  be	   conducted	   in	  
Ghana	  in	  Cedi.	  In	  addition,	  there	  is	  also	  a	  significant	  part	  of	  the	  Company’s	  foreign	  exchange	  exposure	  to	  
the	   Australian	   dollars	   in	   relation	   to	   international	   purchases.	   As	   a	   result,	   the	   Company	   is	   exposed	   to	  
currency	   fluctuations	   and	  exchange	   rate	   risks.	   Currency	   fluctuations	   and	  exchange	   rate	   risks	  between	  
the	  value	  of	  the	  U.S.	  dollar	  and	  the	  value	  of	  the	  Australian	  dollar	  may	  increase	  the	  cost	  of	  the	  Company’s	  
operations	  and	  could	  adversely	  affect	  financial	  results.	  	  

Concentration	  of	  Currency	  
	  
The	   Company	   receives	   the	   majority	   of	   its	   revenues	   in	   U.S.	   dollars	   and	   as	   result,	   the	   majority	   of	   the	  
Company’s	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalent	  are	  in	  U.S.	  dollars.	  To	  facilitate	  the	  payment	  of	  certain	  international	  
suppliers	  and	  expenses,	  the	  Company	  holds	  the	  majority	  of	  its	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalent	  in	  U.S.	  dollars	  in	  
jurisdictions	  where	  it	  can	  efficiently	  transfer	  funds	  to	  international	  suppliers.	  There	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  
that	   in	   the	   future,	   the	   Company	   will	   be	   able	   to	   continue	   to	   hold	   the	   majority	   of	   its	   cash	   and	   cash	  
equivalents	  in	  U.S.	  dollars.	  
	  
Dependence	  on	  Certain	  Key	  Personnel	  	  
	  
The	   success	   of	   the	   Company	   was,	   and	   is	   currently,	   largely	   dependent	   on	   the	   performance	   of	  
management	  and,	  in	  particular,	  Dave	  Harper,	  Terry	  Burling	  and	  Greg	  Borsk.	  The	  group	  is	  also	  supported	  
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by	   Stephan	   Rodrigue,	   Business	   Development	   Manager	   and	   Don	   Seguin,	   HSE	   &	   Training	   Manager,	   to	  
manage	  its	  immediate	  operations	  as	  well	  as	  the	  obligations	  of	  running	  a	  public	  company.	  The	  loss	  of	  the	  
services	  of	  these	  persons	  would	  likely	  have	  a	  materially	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company’s	  business	  and	  
prospects.	   Additionally,	   there	   is	   no	   assurance	   that	   the	   Company	   can	   maintain	   the	   services	   of	   its	  
management	  or	   its	  key	  drillers	  required	  to	  operate	  the	  business.	  The	  Company	  does	  not	  maintain	  key	  
person	  insurance	  on	  the	  lives	  of	  any	  of	  its	  key	  personnel.	  
	  
Sensitivity	  to	  General	  Economic	  Conditions	  	  
	  
The	  operating	  and	  financial	  performance	  of	  the	  Company	  is	  influenced	  by	  a	  variety	  of	  international	  and	  
country-‐specific	  general	  economic	  and	  business	  conditions	  (including	  inflation,	  interest	  rates	  and	  
exchange	  rates),	  access	  to	  debt	  and	  capital	  markets,	  as	  well	  as	  monetary	  and	  regulatory	  policies.	  A	  
deterioration	  in	  domestic	  or	  international	  general	  economic	  conditions,	  including	  an	  increase	  in	  interest	  
rates	  or	  a	  decrease	  in	  consumer	  and	  business	  demand,	  could	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  
financial	  performance,	  financial	  position	  and	  condition,	  cash	  flows,	  distributions,	  share	  price	  and	  growth	  
prospects	  of	  the	  Company.	  	  
	  
Political	  Instability	  	  
	  
The	  Company’s	  drilling	  activities	  are	  in	  West	  Africa,	  currently	  in	  Ghana,	  Burkina	  Faso	  and	  Cote	  d’Ivoire.	  
Conducting	  business	   in	  West	  Africa	  presents	  political	  and	  economic	   risks	   including,	  but	  not	   limited	   to,	  
terrorism,	  hostage	  taking,	  military	  repression,	  expropriation,	  extreme	  fluctuations	  in	  currency	  exchange	  
rates,	   high	   rates	   of	   inflation	   and	   labor	   unrest.	   Changes	   in	   mining	   or	   investment	   policies	   or	   shifts	   in	  
political	  attitudes	  may	  also	  adversely	  affect	  the	  Company’s	  business.	  Business	  may	  be	  affected	  in	  varying	  
degrees	  by	  government	  regulations	  with	  respect	   to,	  but	  not	   limited	  to,	   restrictions	  on	  production	  and	  
exploration	   activities,	   currency	   remittance,	   income	   taxes,	   environmental	   legislation,	   land	   use,	   land	  
claims	  of	  local	  people,	  water	  use	  and	  safety.	  The	  effect	  of	  these	  factors	  cannot	  be	  accurately	  predicted,	  
however,	  the	  Company	  keeps	  abreast	  of	  all	  political	  issues	  and	  is	  prepared	  to	  act	  accordingly.	  	  
	  
Specialized	  Skills	  and	  Cost	  of	  Labor	  Increases	  	  
	  
The	   Company	   may	   not	   be	   able	   to	   recruit	   or	   retain	   drillers	   and	   other	   key	   personnel	   who	   meet	   the	  
Company’s	  high	  standards.	  	  A	  failure	  by	  the	  Company	  to	  retain	  qualified	  drillers	  or	  attract	  and	  train	  new	  
qualified	  drillers	  could	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company’s	  financial	  performance,	  financial	  
condition,	  cash	  flows	  and	  growth	  prospects.	  	  
	  
Increased	  Cost	  of	  Sourcing	  Consumables	  and	  Drilling	  Equipment	  	  
	  
When	  bidding	  on	  a	  drilling	  contract,	   the	  cost	  of	   consumables	   (including	   fuel)	   is	  a	  key	  consideration	   in	  
deciding	  upon	  the	  pricing	  of	  a	  contract.	  A	  material	   increase	  in	  the	  cost	  of	  consumables	  (including	  fuel)	  
could	  result	  in	  materially	  higher	  costs	  and	  could	  materially	  reduce	  the	  Company’s	  financial	  performance,	  
financial	   condition,	   cash	   flows	   and	   growth	   prospects.	   Although	   the	   Company	   mitigates	   the	   risk	   of	  
sourcing	   and	   pricing	   of	   consumables	   by	   keeping	   an	   inventory	   and	   having	   the	   capacity	   to	   fabricate	  
certain	  consumable	  equipment,	  such	  as	  RC	  drill	  pipe	  and	  RC	  wire-‐line	  drill	  subs,	  there	  remains	  a	  risk	  that	  
the	   pricing	   and	   availability	   of	   certain	   other	   consumables	   such	   as	   fuel	   could	   have	   a	  material	   negative	  
effect	   on	   the	   Company’s	   operations.	   Additionally,	   the	   delay	   or	   inability	   of	   suppliers	   to	   supply	   key	  
manufacturing	   inputs,	   such	   as	   steel	   and	   other	   raw	   materials,	   may	   delay	   manufacturing	   certain	  
consumables	   such	  as	  RC	  drill	  pipe	  and	  RC	  wire-‐line	  drill	   subs,	   that	  may	  have	  an	  adverse	  effect	  on	   the	  
operations	  and	  the	  financial	  position	  of	  the	  Company’s	  business.	  
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Inability	  to	  Sustain	  revenue	  levels	  	  

The	   Company’s	   revenue	   decreased	   in	   2013	   compared	   to	   2012,	   and	   decreased	   in	   2012	   compared	   to	  
2011.	   	   The	   Company’s	   ability	   to	  maintain	   or	   sustain	   its	   revenue	  will	   depend	   on	   a	   number	   of	   factors,	  
many	  of	  which	  are	  beyond	  the	  Company’s	  control,	  including,	  but	  not	  limited	  to,	  commodity	  prices,	  the	  
ability	   of	   mining	   companies	   to	   raise	   financing	   and	   the	   global	   demand	   for	   materials.	   In	   addition,	   the	  
Company	   is	   subject	   to	   a	   variety	   of	   business	   risks	   generally	   associated	  with	   growing	   companies.	   	   	   The	  
Company	  is	  not	  currently	  contemplating	  adding	  a	  significant	  number	  of	  rigs	  but	  will	  continue	  to	  explore	  
geographic	  expansion.	   	   Expanding	   into	  other	  West	  Africa	   jurisdictions	  could	  place	   significant	   strain	  on	  
the	  Company’s	  management	  personnel	  and	   the	  Company	  may	  need	  to	  recruit	  additional	  personnel	   to	  
service	  these	  jurisdictions.	  	  

There	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	   that	   the	  Company	  will	  be	  able	   to	   sustain	  or	  accelerate	   its	   revenue	  or	   that	  
such	  increased	  revenue,	  if	  achieved,	  will	  result	  in	  profitable	  operations,	  that	  it	  will	  be	  able	  to	  attract	  and	  
retain	  sufficient	  management	  personnel	  necessary.	  	  The	  failure	  to	  accomplish	  any	  of	  the	  foregoing	  could	  
have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company’s	  financial	  performance,	  financial	  condition,	  cash	  flows	  
and	   growth	   prospects.	   Further,	   as	   the	   Company	   increases	   its	   geographical	   footprint,	   it	   may	   need	   to	  
expand	  its	  operations	  base	  or	  establish	  a	  new	  operations	  base	  in	  order	  to	  continue	  to	  maintain	  its	  fleet	  
of	  drill	  rigs.	  There	  is	  no	  assurance	  that	  the	  Company	  will	  be	  able	  to	  secure	  additional	  real	  estate	  leases	  at	  
all	  or	  on	  commercial	  terms	  acceptable	  to	  the	  Company.	  	  

Client	  Contracts	  	  

The	  Company’s	  drilling	  client	  contracts	  are	  typically	  for	  a	  term	  of	  one	  month	  to	  six	  months	  and	  can	  be	  
cancelled	   by	   the	   client	   on	   short	   or	   no	   notice	   in	   certain	   circumstances	   with	   limited	   or	   no	   amounts	  
payable	   to	   the	  Company.	  The	  short	  duration	  of	  contract	  periods,	   typical	   for	   the	  drilling	   industry,	  does	  
not	   provide	   any	   certainty	   of	   long	   term	   cash	   flows.	   There	   is	   a	   risk	   that	   existing	   contracts	  may	   not	   be	  
renewed	  or	   replaced	  and	   that	   the	  drill	   rigs	  may	  not	  be	  able	   to	  be	  placed	  with	  alternative	  clients.	  The	  
failure	  to	  renew	  or	  replace	  some	  or	  all	  of	  these	  existing	  contracts	  and	  cancellation	  of	  existing	  contracts	  
could	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company’s	  financial	  performance,	  financial	  condition,	  cash	  
flows	  and	  growth	  prospects.	  	  

International	  Expansion	  and	  Instability	  

Expansion	  internationally	  entails	  additional	  political	  and	  economic	  risk.	  Some	  of	  the	  countries	  and	  areas	  
targeted	  by	   the	  Company	   for	   expansion	  are	  undergoing	   industrialization	  and	  urbanization	  and	  do	  not	  
have	   the	   economic,	   political	   or	   social	   stability	   that	   many	   developed	   nations	   now	   possess.	   Other	  
countries	   have	   experienced	   political	   or	   economic	   instability	   in	   the	   past	   and	   may	   be	   subject	   to	   risks	  
beyond	   the	   Company’s	   control,	   such	   as	   war	   or	   civil	   disturbances,	   political,	   social	   and	   economic	  
instability,	   corruption,	   nationalization,	   terrorism,	   expropriation	   without	   fair	   compensation	   or	  
cancellation	  of	  contract	  rights,	  significant	  changes	  in	  government	  policies,	  breakdown	  of	  the	  rule	  of	  law	  
and	   regulations	  and	  new	   tariffs,	   taxes	  and	  other	  barriers,	   changes	   in	  mining	  or	   investment	  policies	  or	  
shifts	   in	  political	   attitude	   that	  may	  adversely	   affect	   the	  business.	   	   There	  has	  been	  an	  emergence	  of	   a	  
trend	  by	  some	  governments	   to	   increase	   their	  participation,	   through	   increased	   taxation,	  expropriation,	  
or	   otherwise.	   This	   could	   negatively	   impact	   the	   level	   of	   foreign	   investment	   in	   mining	   and	   exploration	  
activities	  and	  thus	  driling	  demand	   in	   these	  regions.	   	  Such	  events	  could	  result	   in	   reductions	   in	   revenue	  
and	  transition	  costs	  as	  equipment	  is	  shifted	  to	  other	  locations.	  
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Operational	  Risks	  and	  Liability	  	  

Risks	  associated	  with	  drilling	  include,	  in	  the	  case	  of	  employees,	  personal	  injury	  and	  loss	  of	  life	  and,	  in	  the	  
case	  of	  the	  Company,	  damage	  and	  destruction	  to	  property,	  equipment,	  release	  of	  hazardous	  substances	  
to	   the	   environment,	   including	   potential	   environmental	   liabilities	   associated	   with	   the	   Company’s	   fuel	  
storage	  activities,	  and	   interruption	  or	   suspension	  of	  drill	   site	  operation	  due	   to	  unsafe	  drill	  operations.	  
The	  occurrence	  of	  any	  of	  these	  events	  may	  have	  an	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  Company,	  including	  financial	  
loss,	  key	  personnel	  loss,	  legal	  proceedings	  and	  damage	  to	  the	  Company’s	  reputation.	  	  

In	   addition,	   poor	   or	   failed	   internal	   processes,	   people	   or	   systems,	   along	   with	   external	   events	   could	  
negatively	  impact	  the	  Company’s	  operational	  and	  financial	  performance.	  The	  risk	  of	  this	  loss,	  known	  as	  
operational	  risk,	   is	  present	  in	  all	  aspects	  of	  the	  business	  of	  the	  Company,	  including,	  but	  not	  limited	  to,	  
business	   disruptions,	   drill	   rig	   failures,	   theft	   and	   fraud,	   damage	   to	   assets,	   employee	   safety,	   regulatory	  
compliance	  issues	  and	  business	  integration	  issues.	  	  

Advances	   in	  exploration,	  development	  and	  production	  technology	  which	  could	  reduce	  the	  demand	  for	  
drilling	  services	  may	  have	  an	  adverse	  impact	  on	  the	  financial	  performance	  of	  the	  Company.	  	  

Business	  Interruptions	  	  

Business	   interruptions	  may	  result	  from	  a	  variety	  of	  factors,	   including	  regulatory	   intervention,	  delays	   in	  
necessary	   approvals	   and	   permits,	   health	   and	   safety	   issues	   or	   supply	   bottlenecks	   and	   seasonal	   or	  
extraordinary	  weather	  conditions.	  In	  addition,	  the	  Company	  operates	  in	  geographic	  locations	  which	  are	  
prone	   to	  political	   risks	   and	  natural	  or	  other	  disasters.	   Further,	   logistical	   risks	   such	  as	   road	   conditions,	  
ground	   conditions	   and	   political	   interference	   may	   affect	   the	   Company’s	   ability	   to	   quickly	   mobilize	   or	  
demobilize	   it’s	  drill	   rigs.	   The	  occurrence	  of	  business	   interruptions	  or	   conditions	   could	  have	  a	  material	  
adverse	   effect	   on	   the	   Company’s	   financial	   performance,	   financial	   condition,	   cash	   flows	   and	   growth	  
prospects.	  	  

Risk	  to	  the	  Company’s	  Reputation	  	  

Risks	   to	   the	   reputation	   of	   the	   Company,	   including	   any	   negative	   publicity,	  whether	   true	   or	   not,	   could	  
cause	  a	  decline	  in	  the	  Company’s	  customer	  base	  and	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  impact	  on	  the	  Company’s	  
financial	  performance,	  financial	  condition,	  cash	  flows	  and	  growth	  prospects.	  All	  risks	  have	  an	  impact	  on	  
reputation	  and,	  as	  such,	  reputational	  risk	  cannot	  be	  managed	  in	  isolation	  from	  other	  types	  of	  risk.	  Every	  
employee	   and	   representative	   of	   the	   Company	   is	   charged	   with	   upholding	   its	   strong	   reputation	   by	  
complying	  with	  all	  applicable	  policies,	  legislation	  and	  regulations	  as	  well	  as	  creating	  positive	  experiences	  
with	  the	  Company’s	  customers,	  stakeholders	  and	  the	  public.	  

Environment,	  Labor	  and	  Health	  and	  Safety	  Requirements	  and	  Related	  Considerations	  	  

The	  drilling	   services	   industry	   is	   regulated	  by	   environmental	   and	  health	   and	   safety	   regulations.	   To	   the	  
extent	  that	  the	  Company	  fails	  to	  comply	  with	  laws	  and	  regulations,	  it	  could	  lose	  client	  contracts	  and	  be	  
subject	   to	  suspension	  of	  operations	  or	  other	  penalties.	   In	  addition,	  accidents	  at	   the	  sites	  at	  which	  the	  
Company	  operates	  could	  adversely	  affect	  the	  Company’s	  ability	  to	  retain	  client	  contracts	  and	  win	  new	  
business.	  	  

The	  Company	  is	  subject	  to	  the	  labor	  laws	  and	  regulations	  of	  the	  various	  countries	  in	  which	  it	  operates.	  
Although	  none	  of	  the	  Company’s	  employees	  are	  currently	  unionized,	  there	  is	  the	  potential	  that	  some	  or	  
all	  of	  its	  employees	  may	  become	  unionized	  in	  the	  future.	  There	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  that	  the	  Company	  
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will	  not	  experience	  labor	  problems	  in	  the	  future,	  such	  as	  prolonged	  work	  stoppages	  due	  to	  labor	  strikes,	  
which	  may	  have	  an	  adverse	  effect	  on	  its	  results	  of	  operations	  and	  financial	  conditions.	  	  

Clients	   are	   required	   to	   hold	   certain	   permits	   and	   approvals	   in	   order	   for	   the	   Company	   to	   conduct	  
operations.	   Clients	   are	   generally	   responsible	   for	   obtaining	   the	   environmental	   permits	   necessary	   for	  
drilling.	  There	  is	  no	  assurance	  that	  clients	  will	  be	  able	  to	  renew	  or	  obtain	  the	  permits	  or	  approvals	  which	  
are	  required	  for	  the	  drilling	  services	  the	  Company	  provides	  to	  them,	  in	  the	  time	  frame	  anticipated	  or	  at	  
all.	  Any	  failure	  to	  renew,	  maintain	  or	  obtain	  the	  required	  permits	  or	  approvals	  may	  result	  in	  interruption	  
or	  delay	  to	  operations	  and	  may	  have	  an	  adverse	  impact	  on	  the	  Company’s	  business,	  financial	  position,	  
results	   of	   operations	   and	   prospects.	   In	   addition,	   clients	   rely	   on	   concessions,	   licenses	   and	   permits	   to	  
conduct	  their	  activities.	  Any	  modification	  or	  revocation	  of	  these	  concessions,	   licenses	  or	  permits	  could	  
result	   in	   a	   decrease	   in	   demand	   for	   the	   services	   of	   the	   Company	   or	   in	   contracts	   with	   clients	   being	  
terminated.	  	  

Insurance	  Limits	  	  

The	  Company	  maintains,	  to	  a	   limited	  extent,	   fixed	  property,	  motor	  and	  general	   liability	   insurance.	  The	  
Company	  does	  not	  insure	  all	  of	  its	  drill	  rigs	  nor	  its	  goods	  in	  transit,	  as	  management	  has	  determined	  that	  
the	  cost	  of	  the	  premiums	  outweigh	  the	  benefits	  at	  this	  time.	  Regarding	  the	  insurance	  that	  the	  Company	  
does	  have,	  there	  can	  be	  no	  assurance	  that	  such	  insurance	  will	  continue	  to	  be	  offered	  on	  an	  economically	  
feasible	  basis,	  that	  all	  events	  that	  could	  give	  rise	  to	  a	  loss	  or	  liability	  are	  insurable	  or	  that	  the	  amounts	  of	  
insurance	  will	  at	  all	  times	  be	  sufficient	  to	  cover	  each	  and	  every	  loss	  or	  claim	  that	  may	  occur	  involving	  the	  
assets	  or	  operations	  of	   the	  Company.	  The	  Company	  does	  not	  carry	  business	   interruption	   insurance	  or	  
key	   man	   insurance	   and,	   as	   such,	   any	   such	   interruption	   or	   loss	   would	   have	   an	   adverse	   effect	   on	   the	  
financial	  position	  of	  the	  Company.	  To	  the	  extent	  that	  Geodrill	  incurs	  losses	  not	  covered	  by	  its	  insurance	  
policies,	  the	  funds	  available	  for	  operations	  will	  be	  reduced.	  	  

Uncertain	  Legal	  and	  Regulatory	  Frameworks	  	  

The	   Company’s	   business	   and	   operations	   are	   potentially	   subject	   to	   the	   uncertain	   legal	   and	   regulatory	  
frameworks	   in	  the	  countries	   in	  which	   it	  operates.	  Laws,	  regulations	  and	   local	   rules	  governing	  business	  
entities	   in	   these	   countries	   may	   change	   and	   are	   often	   subject	   to	   a	   number	   of	   possibly	   conflicting	  
interpretations,	   both	   by	   business	   entities,	   government	   departments	   and	   the	   courts.	   Laws	   and	  
regulations	  may	  be	  promulgated	  and	  overseen	  by	  different	  government	  entities	  or	  departments,	  which	  
may	   be	   national,	   regional	   or	   municipal	   and	   these	   entities	   may	   differ	   in	   their	   interpretation	   and	  
enforcement	  of	   the	   laws	  and	   regulations.	  The	  business,	   financial	   condition,	  profitability	  and	   results	  of	  
operations	   of	   the	   Company	   could	   potentially	   be	   adversely	   affected	   by	   changes	   in	   and	   uncertainty	  
surrounding	  governmental	  policies,	  in	  particular	  with	  respect	  to	  business	  laws	  and	  regulations,	  licenses	  
and	  permits,	  taxation,	  exchange	  control	  regulations,	  labor	  laws	  and	  expropriation.	  	  

Given	  the	  uncertain	  legal	  and	  regulatory	  framework	  in	  some	  of	  the	  West	  African	  countries	  in	  which	  the	  
Company	   operates	   or	  may	   operate	   in	   the	   future,	   there	   is	   a	   risk	   that	   the	   necessary	   licenses,	   permits,	  
certificates,	  consents	  and	  authorizations	   to	   implement	  or	  conduct	  operations	  may	  not	  be	  obtained	  by	  
either	   the	   client	   or	   the	   Company	   under	   conditions	   or	  within	   time	   frames	   that	  make	   such	   operations	  
viable	   and	   that	   changes	   to	   applicable	   laws,	   regulations	   or	   the	   governing	   authorities	   may	   result	   in	  
additional	  material	  expenditure	  or	  time	  delays.	  	  

Tax	  Risk	  	  

The	  Company	  has	  organized	  its	  group	  structure	  and	  its	  operations	  in	  part	  based	  on	  certain	  assumptions	  
about	  various	  tax	   laws	   including,	  among	  others,	   income	  tax	  and	  withholding	  tax,	   foreign	  currency	  and	  
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capital	   repatriation	   laws	   and	   other	   relevant	   laws	   of	   a	   variety	   of	   jurisdictions.	   While	   the	   Company	  
believes	   that	   such	   assumptions	   are	   correct,	   there	   can	   be	   no	   assurance	   that	   foreign	   taxing	   or	   other	  
authorities	   will	   reach	   the	   same	   conclusion.	   If	   such	   assumptions	   are	   incorrect,	   or	   if	   such	   jurisdictions	  
were	   to	   change	   or	   modify	   such	   laws	   or	   the	   current	   interpretation	   thereof,	   the	   Company	   may	   suffer	  
adverse	   tax	   and	   financial	   consequences.	   Geodrill	   is	   an	   Isle	   of	   Man	   company	   with	   drilling	   activities	  
currently	   in	   Ghana,	   Burkina	   Faso,	   and	   Cote	   d’Ivoire.	   	   The	   Group	   has	   subsidiaries	   incorporated	   in	   the	  
British	   Virgin	   Islands,	   Ghana,	   Burkina	   Faso,	   Mali	   and	   Senegal.	   	   There	   is	   a	   risk	   in	   which	   the	   countries	  
where	   Geodrill	   operates	   may	   change	   their	   current	   tax	   regime	   with	   little	   prior	   notice	   or	   that	   the	   tax	  
authorities	   in	   these	   jurisdictions	  may	  attempt	   to	   claim	   tax	  on	   the	  global	   revenues	  of	   the	  Company.	  A	  
change	   to	   the	   tax	   regimes	   in	   these	   countries	   or	   an	   unfavorable	   interpretation	   of	   the	   current	   tax	  
legislation	  could	  have	  a	  material	  adverse	  effect	  on	  the	  profitability	  of	  the	  Company.	  	  

Credit	  Risk	  	  

The	  Company	  provides	  credit	  to	  its	  clients	  in	  the	  normal	  course	  of	  its	  operations.	  	  The	  Company	  had	  bad	  
debts	   and	   an	   allowance	   for	   doubtful	   accounts	   of	   US$1.3M	   for	   2013.	   	   The	   Company	   has	   noticed	   that	  
certain	   accounts	   are	   taking	   longer	   to	   pay	   and	   certain	   accounts	   are	   having	   difficulty	   paying.	   	   As	   at	  
December	  31,	  2013,	  7%	  of	  the	  trade	  accounts	  receivable	  are	  aged	  over	  91	  days.	  

One	  major	  client	  represents	  32%	  of	  the	  trade	  accounts	  receivable	  as	  at	  December	  31,	  2013.	  One	  other	  
major	   client	   represents	  21%,	   and	  one	  other	   client	   represents	  12%.	   The	   remaining	   clients	   represented	  
less	  than	  10%	  each.	  Credit	  risk	  also	  arises	  from	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalents	  with	  banks.	  This	  risk	  is	  limited,	  
as	  it	  is	  spread	  over	  various	  countries	  and	  banking	  institutions.	  	  

Geographic	  Expansion	  
Expansion	  into	  new	  West	  African	  jurisdictions	  also	  brings	  additional	  geographic	  and	  currency	  risk.	  There	  
is	  a	  risk	  that	  the	  operations,	  assets,	  employees	  or	  repatriation	  of	  revenues	  could	  be	  impaired	  by	  factors	  
specific	  to	  the	  regions	  into	  which	  Geodrill	  may	  choose	  to	  expand.	  	  

Supply	  of	  Consumables	  

The	  Company’s	  operations	  could	  place	  pressure	  on	  the	  ability	  of	  its	  vendors	  to	  manufacture	  and	  deliver	  
to	   the	  Company	   consumables	   used	   in	   its	   drilling	   activities.	   	   Any	   negative	   impact	   on	   the	   ability	   of	   the	  
vendors	   to	   deliver	   their	   products	   may	   constrain	   the	   Company’s	   ability	   to	   increase	   its	   capacity	   and	  
increase	  or	  maintain	  revenue	  and	  profitability.	  

Risks	  due	  to	  Foreign	  Incorporation	  	  

The	   Company	   is	   incorporated	   under	   and	   governed	   by	   the	   laws	   of	   the	   Isle	   of	   Man	   and	   consequently	  
shareholders	   may	   not	   have	   the	   same	   rights	   and	   protections	   as	   they	   would	   have	   under	   provincial	   or	  
federal	   corporate	   law	   in	   Canada.	   There	   can	   be	   no	   assurance	   that	   shareholder	   rights	   and	   remedies	  
available	  under	   the	   corporate	   law	  of	   the	   Isle	  of	  Man	  will	   be	  enforceable	   in	  Canada	   through	  Canadian	  
courts	   or	   that	   any	   orders	   of	   the	   courts	   of	   the	   Isle	   of	   Man	   made	   under	   such	   corporate	   law	   will	   be	  
enforceable	  in	  Canada.	  	  

Equity	  Market	  Risks	  	  

There	  is	  a	  risk	  associated	  with	  any	  investment	  in	  the	  Ordinary	  Shares.	  The	  market	  price	  of	  securities	  such	  
as	  the	  Ordinary	  Shares	  of	  the	  Company	  are	  affected	  by	  numerous	  factors	  including,	  but	  not	  limited	  to,	  
general	   market	   conditions,	   actual	   or	   anticipated	   fluctuations	   in	   the	   Company’s	   results	   of	   operations,	  
changes	   in	   estimates	   of	   future	   results	   of	   operations	   by	   the	   Company	   or	   securities	   analysts,	   risks	  

29



	   	   	  

27	  

identified	   in	   this	   section	   and	   other	   factors.	   In	   addition,	   the	   financial	   markets	   have	   experienced	  
significant	   price	   and	   volume	   fluctuations	   that	   have	   sometimes	   been	   unrelated	   to	   the	   operating	  
performance	  of	  the	  issuers	  or	  the	  industries	  in	  which	  they	  operate.	  	  

The	   Influence	  of	   Existing	  Shareholders	  and	  Future	  Sales	  by	  The	  Harper	   Family	   Settlement	  and	  Dave	  
Harper	  

The	   Harper	   Family	   Settlement	   and	   Dave	   Harper	   holds	   or	   controls,	   directly	   or	   indirectly,	   17,623,500	  
Ordinary	  Shares	  representing	  approximately	  41.5%	  of	  the	  Company’s	  issued	  Ordinary	  Shares.	  As	  a	  result,	  
The	  Harper	   Family	   Settlement	   and	  Dave	  Harper	   have	   the	   ability	   to	   influence	   the	  Company’s	   strategic	  
direction	   and	   policies,	   including	   any	   sale	   of	   all	   or	   substantially	   all	   of	   its	   assets,	   the	   election	   and	  
composition	  of	  the	  Board	  of	  Directors,	  the	  amendment	  of	  the	  Company’s	  Memorandum	  and	  Articles	  of	  
Association	  and	  the	  declaration	  of	  dividends.	  The	  foregoing	  ability	  to	  influence	  the	  control	  and	  direction	  
of	   the	   Company	   could	   adversely	   affect	   investors’	   perception	   of	   the	   Company’s	   corporate	   governance	  
and	   reduce	   its	   attractiveness	   as	   a	   target	   for	   potential	   take-‐over	   bids	   and	   business	   combinations,	   and	  
correspondingly	  affect	  its	  share	  price.	  	  

Sales	   of	   a	   large	   number	   of	   Ordinary	   Shares	   by	   The	   Harper	   Family	   Settlement	   or	   Dave	   Harper	   in	   the	  
public	  markets,	  or	  the	  potential	  for	  such	  sales,	  could	  decrease	  the	  trading	  price	  of	  the	  Ordinary	  Shares	  
and	  could	  impair	  Geodrill’s	  ability	  to	  raise	  capital	  through	  future	  sales	  of	  Ordinary	  Shares.	  	  

Dilution	  	  

The	  Company	  may	  raise	  additional	  funds	  in	  the	  future	  by	  issuing	  equity	  securities.	  Holders	  of	  Ordinary	  
Shares	   will	   have	   no	   pre-‐emptive	   rights	   in	   connection	   with	   such	   further	   issues.	   Additional	   Ordinary	  
Shares	  may	  be	  issued	  by	  the	  Company	  in	  connection	  with	  the	  exercise	  of	  options.	  Such	  additional	  equity	  
issuances	   could,	   depending	   on	   the	   price	   at	   which	   such	   securities	   are	   issued,	   substantially	   dilute	   the	  
interests	  of	  the	  holders	  of	  Ordinary	  Shares.	  	  

Lack	  of	  Dividend	  Payments	  	  

Geodrill	  does	  not	  pay	  dividends	  other	  than	  a	  real	  estate	  dividend	  in	  2010,	  issued	  in	  connection	  with	  the	  	  
IPO	   reorganization	   of	   the	   Company,	   no	   dividends	   on	   the	   Ordinary	   Shares	   have	   been	   paid	   to	   date.	  
Geodrill	  anticipates	  that	  for	  the	  foreseeable	  future	  it	  will	  retain	  future	  earnings	  and	  other	  cash	  resources	  
for	   the	   operation	   and	   development	   of	   its	   business.	   Payment	   of	   any	   future	   dividends	   will	   be	   at	   the	  
discretion	  of	  the	  Board	  of	  Directors	  after	  taking	  into	  account	  many	  factors,	  including	  Geodrill’s	  earnings,	  
operating	   results,	   financial	   condition,	   current	   and	   anticipated	   cash	  needs	   and	   restrictions	   in	   financing	  
agreements.	  	  
	  
FAIR	  VALUES	  OF	  FINANCIAL	  INSTRUMENTS	  
	  
The	   fair	   values	   of	   financial	   assets	   and	   liabilities,	   together	   with	   the	   carrying	   amounts	   shown	   in	   the	  
statement	  of	  financial	  position,	  are	  as	  follows:	  
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FINANCIAL	  RISK	  MANAGEMENT	  
	  
Overview	  	  
The	  Group	  has	  exposure	  to	  the	  following	  risks	  from	  its	  use	  of	  financial	  instruments:	  
	  

• credit	  risk	  
• liquidity	  risk	  
• market	  risk	  
	  

This	   note	   presents	   information	   about	   the	   Group’s	   exposure	   to	   each	   of	   the	   above	   risks,	   the	   Group’s	  
objectives,	  policies	  and	  processes	  for	  measuring	  and	  managing	  risk,	  methods	  used	  to	  measure	  the	  risks	  
and	  the	  Group’s	  management	  of	  capital.	  
	  
Risk	  management	  framework	  
	  
The	  Board	  of	  directors	  has	  overall	  responsibility	  for	  the	  establishment	  and	  oversight	  of	  the	  Group’s	  risk	  
management	  framework.	  	  
	  
The	   Group’s	   management	   team	   is	   responsible	   for	   developing	   and	   monitoring	   the	   Group’s	   risk	  
management	   policies.	   	   The	   team	   meets	   periodically	   to	   discuss	   corporate	   plans,	   evaluate	   progress	  
reports	  and	  establish	  action	  plans	  to	  be	  taken.	  	  The	  day-‐to-‐day	  implementation	  of	  the	  Board’s	  decisions	  
rests	  with	  the	  CEO.	  
	   	  

Loans and 
Receivables

Other Financial 
Liabilities Carrying Amount Total Fair Value

US$ US$ US$ US$
December 31, 2013

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 3,678,383             -                      3,678,383             3,678,383             
Cash and cash equivalents 3,209,080             -                      3,209,080             3,209,080             

6,887,463             -                      6,887,463             6,887,463             
Financial liabilities
Trade payables, creditors and 
accrued expenses -                      3,630,258             3,630,258             3,630,258             
Related party payables -                      923,025               923,025               923,025               
Loans payable -                      6,562,289             6,562,289             6,562,289             

-                      11,115,572           11,115,572           11,115,572           

December 31, 2012

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 8,386,243             -                      8,386,243             8,386,243             
Cash and cash equivalents 7,562,174             -                      7,562,174             7,562,174             

15,948,417           -                      15,948,417           15,948,417           
Financial liabilities
Trade payables, creditors and 
accrued expenses -                      9,503,097             9,503,097             9,503,097             
Related party payables -                      923,025               923,025               923,025               
Loans payable -                      12,228,824           12,228,824           12,228,824           

-                      22,654,946           22,654,946           22,654,946           
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(i) Credit	  risk	  
	  

Credit	  risk	  is	  the	  risk	  of	  financial	  loss	  to	  the	  Group	  if	  a	  customer	  or	  counterparty	  to	  a	  financial	  asset	  fails	  
to	  meet	  its	  contractual	  obligations,	  and	  arises	  principally	  from	  the	  Group’s	  receivables	  from	  customers	  
and	  cash	  and	  cash	  equivalents.	  	  
	  
Trade	  and	  other	  receivables	  
	  
The	  Group’s	  exposure	  to	  credit	  risk	  is	  minimized	  as	  customers	  are	  given	  30	  to	  60	  day	  credit	  periods	  for	  
services	  rendered.	  New	  clients	  are	  approved	  by	  the	  CEO	  and	  trade	  receivables	  are	  monitored	  closely	  by	  
the	  CEO.	  
	  
For	   the	  year	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013,	   three	  customers	   individually	  contributed	  10%	  or	  more	   to	   the	  
Group’s	   revenue.	   One	   customer	   contributed	   16%,	   one	   customer	   contributed	   15%	   and	   one	   customer	  
contributed	  13%.	  	  

For	   the	   year	   ended	  December	   31,	   2012,	   four	   customers	   individually	   contributed	   10%	  or	  more	   to	   the	  
Group’s	   revenue.	   One	   customer	   contributed	   28%,	   one	   customer	   contributed	   16%,	   one	   customer	  
contributed	  13%	  and	  one	  customer	  contributed	  11%.	  	  
	  
Exposure	  to	  credit	  risks	  

	  
The	   carrying	   amount	   of	   financial	   assets	   represents	   the	   maximum	   credit	   exposure.	   The	   maximum	  
exposure	  to	  credit	  risk	  at	  the	  reporting	  date	  was:	  
	  

	  
	  
The	  maximum	  exposure	  to	  credit	  risk	  for	  trade	  and	  other	  receivables	  at	  the	  reporting	  dates	  by	  type	  was:	  
	  

	  
	  
The	  ageing	  of	  trade	  receivables	  due	  from	  mining	  and	  exploration	  companies	  at	  the	  reporting	  dates	  was:	  	  
	  

	  

2013 2012
US$ US$

Trade and other receivables 3,678,383                       8,386,243                       
Cash and cash equivalents 3,209,080                       7,562,174                       

6,887,463                       15,948,417                     

2013 2012
US$ US$

Mining and exploration companies 3,483,950                       8,071,791                       
Others 194,433                          314,452                          

3,678,383                       8,386,243                       

2013 2012
US$ US$

Less than 30 days 1,716,144 2,822,908
31 - 60 days 1,395,001 3,703,931
61 - 90 days 124,668 576,402
91 + days 248,137 968,550

3,483,950 8,071,791

32



	   	   	  

30	  

	  
The	  maximum	  exposure	  to	  credit	  risk	  for	  trade	  and	  other	  receivables	  at	  the	  reporting	  dates	  by	  segment	  
was:	  
	  

	  
	  
(ii)	  	   Liquidity	  risk	  
	  
Liquidity	   risk	   is	   the	   risk	   that	   the	  Group	  either	  does	  not	  have	   sufficient	   financial	   resources	  available	   to	  
meet	  all	  of	  its	  obligations	  and	  commitments	  as	  they	  fall	  due,	  or	  can	  access	  them	  only	  at	  excessive	  cost.	  	  
The	  Group’s	  approach	  to	  managing	  liquidity	  is	  to	  ensure	  that	  it	  will	  maintain	  adequate	  liquidity	  to	  meet	  
its	   liabilities	  when	  due	  by	  monitoring	  and	   scheduling	   cash	   in	  bank	  movements	  and	   reinvesting	  profits	  
earned.	  
	  
The	  Group’s	  obligation	  and	  principal	  repayments	  on	  its	  financial	  liabilities	  are	  presented	  in	  the	  following	  
table:	  
	  

	  
	  
	   	  

2013 2012
US$ US$

Ghana 912,482                          4,101,420                       
Outside Ghana 2,765,901                       4,284,823                       

3,678,383                       8,386,243                       

Within Within 
Total One Year Two to Three Years

 US$ US$ US$
December 31, 2013

Non-derivative financial liability
Trade and other payables 3,677,897                    3,677,897                  -                          
Related party payables 923,025                       923,025                    -                          
Loans payable 6,514,650                    5,445,085                  1,069,565                 
Balance at December 31, 2013 11,115,572                  10,046,007                1,069,565                 

December 31, 2012

Non-derivative financial liability
Trade and other payables 9,565,235                    9,565,235                  -                          
Related party payables 923,025                       923,025                    -                          
Loans payable 12,166,686                  6,328,592                  5,838,094                 
Balance at December 31, 2012 22,654,946                  16,816,852                5,838,094                 
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(iii) Market	  risk	  
	  

Market	  risk	  is	  the	  risk	  that	  changes	  in	  market	  prices,	  such	  as	  foreign	  exchange	  rates,	  interest	  rates	  and	  
equity	  prices	  will	   affect	   the	  Group’s	   income	  or	   the	  value	  of	   its	  holdings	  of	   financial	   instruments.	   	   The	  
objective	  of	  market	  risk	  management	  is	  to	  manage	  and	  control	  market	  risk	  exposures	  within	  acceptable	  
parameters,	   while	   optimizing	   returns.	   Management	   regularly	   monitors	   the	   level	   of	   market	   risk	   and	  
considers	  appropriate	  strategies	  to	  mitigate	  those	  risks.	  	  Sensitivity	  analysis	  relating	  to	  key	  market	  risks	  
has	  been	  provided	  below.	  

(a) Foreign	  currency	  risk	  
	  

The	   Group	   is	   exposed	   to	   currency	   risk	   on	   cash	   and	   cash	   equivalents	   and	   purchases	   that	   are	  
denominated	   in	   currencies	   other	   than	   the	   functional	   currency.	   	   The	   other	   currencies	   in	  which	   these	  
transactions	  are	  denominated	  are	  EURO,	  Ghana	  Cedis	  (GH¢),	  Great	  British	  Pound	  (GBP),	  Central	  African	  
Franc	  (CFA),	  Australian	  Dollar	  (AUD)	  and	  Canadian	  Dollar	  (CAD).	  

The	  Group’s	  exposure	  to	  foreign	  currency	  risk	  was	  as	  follows	  based	  on	  foreign	  currency	  amounts.	  
	  

	  
	  
	  
The	  following	  significant	  exchange	  rates	  applied	  during	  the	  years:	  
	  

	  
	  
Sensitivity	  analysis	  on	  currency	  risks	  

	  
The	  following	  table	  shows	  the	  effect	  of	  a	  strengthening	  or	  weakening	  US$	  against	  all	  other	  currencies	  on	  
equity	  and	  profit	  or	  loss.	  	  This	  sensitivity	  analysis	  indicates	  the	  potential	  impact	  on	  equity	  and	  profit	  or	  
loss	   based	   upon	   the	   foreign	   currency	   exposures,	   (see	   “foreign	   currency	   risk”	   above)	   and	   it	   does	   not	  
represent	   actual	   or	   future	   gains	   or	   losses.	   	   The	   sensitivity	   analysis	   is	   based	   on	   a	   change	   of	   200	   basis	  
points	  in	  the	  closing	  exchange	  rate	  per	  currency	  recorded	  in	  the	  course	  of	  the	  respective	  financial	  year.	  

December 31, 2013
EURO GH¢ GBP CFA AUD CAD

Cash and cash equivalents 370               868,263         7,285             131,897,895   16,982           30,827           
Trade payables -                (510,950)        (7,813)            (130,571,309)  (357,768)        (117,287)        
Gross exposure 370               357,313         (528)              1,326,586      (340,786)        (86,460)          

December 31, 2012
EURO GH¢ GBP CFA AUD CAD

Cash and cash equivalents 30,980           279,807         60,919           150,303,680   19,092           8,721             
Trade payables (679,838)        (1,471,542)     (3,595)            -                (3,377,028)     (403,246)        
Gross exposure (648,858)        (1,191,735)     57,324           150,303,680   (3,357,936)     (394,525)        

US$1= Reporting Rate Average Rate Reporting Rate Average Rate
EURO 0.7263 0.7532 0.7565 0.7781
GH¢ 2.3595 2.0518 1.9040 1.8373
GBP 0.6064 0.6401 0.6185 0.6310
CFA 476.6420 494.1110 495.3500 496.7710
AUD 1.1268 1.0370 0.9640 0.9658
CAD 1.0694 1.0303 0.9966 0.9996

2013 2012
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A	  strengthening/weakening	  of	  the	  US$,	  by	  the	  rates	  shown	  in	  the	  table,	  against	  the	  following	  currencies	  
would	  have	  increased/decreased	  equity	  and	  profit	  and	  loss	  by	  the	  amounts	  shown	  below.	  	  

This	  analysis	  assumes	  that	  all	  other	  variables,	  in	  particular	  interest	  rates,	  remain	  constant.	  
	  

	  
	  
(b)	   Interest	  rate	  risk	  

	  
The	  Group	  is	  exposed	  to	  interest	  rate	  risk	  on	  its	  bank	  balances	  and	  loans.	  

	  
Profile	  	  
	  
At	  the	  reporting	  dates,	  the	  interest	  rate	  profiles	  of	  the	  Group’s	  interest-‐bearing	  financial	  instruments	  
were:	  

	  

	  
Sensitivity	  analysis	  for	  variable	  rate	  instruments	  

	  
A	   change	   of	   200	   basis	   points	   in	   the	   interest	   rate	   at	   the	   reporting	   date	   would	   have	   increased	   /	  
(decreased)	  equity	  and	  profit	  or	  loss	  by	  the	  amounts	  shown	  below.	  	  This	  analysis	  assumes	  that	  all	  other	  
variables,	  in	  particular	  foreign	  currency	  rates,	  remain	  constant.	  	  The	  analysis	  is	  performed	  on	  the	  same	  
basis	  for	  2013	  and	  2012.	  

	  
	  
	   	  

As at December 31, 2013 2012

% Change

Profit or Loss 
impact before tax 

US$ Equity US$ % Change

Profit  or Loss 
impact before tax 

US$ Equity US$
EURO ±2 ±10 ±10 ±2 ±16,678 ±16,678
GH¢ ±2 ±3,029 ±2,899 ±2 ±12,973 ±12,973
GBP ±2 ±17 ±17 ±2 ±1,816 ±1,816
CFA ±2 ±56 ±56 ±2 ±6,051 ±6,051
AUD ±2 ±6,049 ±6,049 ±2 ±69,537 ±69,537
CAD ±2 ±1,617 ±1,617 ±2 ±7,894 ±7,894

2013 2012
US$ US$

Variable rate instruments
Bank balances 3,044,465                       7,246,669                       

Fixed rate instruments
Loans 6,514,650                       12,166,686                     

% 
Change

Profit or 
Loss 

impact 
before tax 

US$
Equity 
US$

% 
Change

Profit or 
Loss 

impact 
before tax 

US$
Equity 
US$

Bank balances ±2% ±60,889 ±60,889 ±2% ±144,933 ±144,933

2013 2012
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(iv)	   Capital	  management	  

The	  Group	  manages	  its	  capital	  structure	  and	  makes	  adjustments	  to	  it	  to	  effectively	  support	  the	  Group’s	  
operations.	  In	  the	  definition	  of	  capital,	  the	  Group	  includes,	  as	  disclosed	  on	  its	  consolidated	  statement	  of	  
financial	  position:	  share	  capital,	  retained	  earnings,	  reserves	  and	  loans.	  	  
	  
The	  Group’s	  capital	  at	  December	  31,	  2013	  and	  2012	  is	  as	  follows:	  
	  

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
	  
(i) Transactions	  with	  related	  parties	  

	  
Transactions	  with	  companies	  within	  the	  Group	  have	  been	  eliminated	  on	  consolidation.	  

Transtraders	   Limited	   (“TTL”)	   is	   a	   company	   which	   is	   owned	   by	   Clearwater	   Nominees	   Limited	   and	  
Clearwater	  Registrars	   Limited	  which	   shares	  are	  held	  on	  behalf	  of	   the	  Harper	  Family	  Settlement	  which	  
also	  owns	  41.2%	  (December	  31,	  2012:	  41.2%)	  of	  the	  issued	  share	  capital	  of	  Geodrill	  Limited.	  	  	  

Geodrill	  Ghana	  Limited	  originally	  entered	  into	  an	  agreement	  with	  the	  Harper	  Family	  Settlement	  to	  lease	  
the	   Anwiankwanta	   property	   for	   US$112,000	   per	   annum	   and	   the	   Accra	   property	   for	   US$48,000	   per	  
annum.	  	  The	  material	  terms	  of	  the	  five	  year	  lease	  agreement	  include:	  (i)	  the	  annual	  rent	  payable	  shall	  be	  
reviewed	  on	  an	  upward	  only	  basis	  every	  two	  years	  based	  on	  the	  average	  price	  of	  two	  firms	  of	  real	  estate	  
valuators/surveyors	   or	   real	   estate	   agents;	   (ii)	   at	   the	   end	   of	   the	   original	   five	   year	   lease	   term,	  Geodrill	  
Ghana	  Limited	  shall	  have	  the	  option	  to	  renew	  the	  lease	  for	  an	  additional	  five	  year	  term	  with	  similar	  rent	  
and	  conditions;	  and	  (iii)	  either	  party	  may	  terminate	  the	   lease	  agreement	  provided	  they	  give	  the	  other	  
party	  12	  months’	  notice.	  	  
	  
On	  October	  1,	  2012	  in	  conjunction	  with	  the	  rent	  review,	  Geodrill	  Ghana	  Limited	  agreed	  to	  increase	  the	  
rent	  for	  the	  Anwiankwanta	  property	  to	  US$140,000	  per	  annum	  and	  the	  rent	  for	  the	  Accra	  property	  to	  

Capital Management 2013 2012
US$ US$

Loans payable 6,562,289 12,228,824
Share capital 21,150,866 21,150,866
Share-based payment reserve 3,537,446 3,085,787
Retained earnings 31,030,118 35,937,836

62,280,719 72,403,313

Related party Relationship
Country of 
Incorporation 2013 2012

Geodrill Ghana Limited Subsidiary Ghana 100% 100%
D.S.I.  Services Limited Subsidiary British Virgin Islands 100% 100%
Geotool Limited Subsidiary British Virgin Islands 100% 100%
Geo-Forage BF SARL Subsidiary Burkina Faso 100% 100%
Geo-Forage Cote d'Ivoire SARL Subsidiary Cote d'Ivoire 100% 100%
Geo-Forage Mali SARL Subsidiary Mali 100% -
Transtraders Limited Related party Isle of Man - -

Harper Family Settlement Significant indirect 
shareholder

Isle of Man - -

Ownership Interest
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US$60,000	  per	  annum	  for	  a	  period	  of	  two	  years	  effective	  October	  1,	  2012.	  The	  rent	  for	  these	  properties	  
will	  be	  reviewed	  again	  on	  October	  1,	  2014.	  
	  
Future	  operating	  lease	  commitments	  related	  to	  the	  properties	  are:	  

	  
	  
During	   the	   year	   ended	   December	   31,	   2013	   lease	   payments	   amounted	   to	   US$200,000	   (2012:	  
US$170,000).	  	  
	  
(ii) Key	  management	  personnel	  and	  directors’	  transactions	  
	  
The	  Group’s	  key	  management	  personnel,	  and	  persons	  connected	  with	  them,	  are	  also	  considered	  to	  be	  
related	  parties	  for	  disclosure	  purposes.	  	  The	  definition	  of	  key	  management	  includes	  the	  close	  members	  
of	   the	   family	  of	   key	  personnel	  and	  any	  entity	  over	  which	  key	  management	  exercises	   control.	   The	  key	  
management	   personnel	   have	   been	   identified	   as	   directors	   of	   the	  Group	   and	   other	  management	   staff.	  	  
Close	  members	  of	  family	  are	  those	  family	  members	  who	  may	  be	  expected	  to	  influence,	  or	  be	  influenced	  
by	  that	  individual	  in	  their	  dealings	  with	  Geodrill	  Limited.	  
	  
The	  Group	  previously	  paid	  management	  fees	  to	  Kingston	  Management	  (Isle	  of	  Man)	  Ltd.	  which	  was	  also	  
the	   licensed	   and	   regulated	   fiduciary	   service	   provider	   of	   the	   Harper	   Family	   Settlement	   up	   to	  May	   31,	  
2013.	   Throughout	   2012,	   two	   of	   the	   directors	   of	   Kingston	   Management	   (Isle	   of	   Man)	   Ltd.	   were	   also	  
directors	  of	  Geodrill.	  Management	   fees	  paid	  during	   the	   year	   ended	  December	  31,	   2013	  amounted	   to	  
US$Nil	  (2012:	  US$68,784).	  One	  of	  the	  directors	  of	  Geodrill	  resigned	  from	  Kingston	  Management	  (Isle	  of	  
Man)	  Ltd	  on	  January	  31,	  2013	  and	  the	  other	  director	  resigned	  on	  February	  28,	  2013.	  

The	  Group	   previously	   paid	  management	   fees	   to	   City	   Trust	   Limited.	  One	   of	   the	   directors	   of	   City	   Trust	  
Limited	  was	  also	  a	  director	  of	  Geodrill	  up	  to	  December	  21,	  2012,	  when	  that	  director	  resigned	  from	  City	  
Trust	   Limited.	  Management	   fees	  paid	  during	   the	  year	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  amounted	   to	  US$Nil	  
(2012:	  US$7,746).	  

The	  Group	  previously	  paid	  consulting	  fees	  to	  MS	  Risk	  Limited.	  Two	  of	  the	  directors	  of	  MS	  Risk	  Limited	  
are	   also	   directors	   of	   Geodrill	   Limited.	   Consulting	   fees	   paid	   during	   year	   ended	   December	   31,	   2013	  
amounted	  to	  US$Nil	  (2012:	  US$58,616).	  	  

Effective	   May	   10,	   2013	   Clearwater	   Fiduciary	   Services	   Limited	   was	   appointed	   as	   the	   licensed	   and	  
regulated	   fiduciary	   service	  provider	   to	  DSI	   Services	   Limited	  and	  Geotool	   Limited.	   From	  May	  31,	  2013,	  
Clearwater	   Fiduciary	   Services	   Limited	   replaced	   City	   Trust	   as	   registered	   agent	   of	   Geodrill.	   One	   of	   the	  
directors	  of	  Clearwater	  Fiduciary	  Services	  is	  also	  a	  director	  of	  Geodrill.	  Fees	  paid	  to	  Clearwater	  Fiduciary	  
Services	  Limited	  for	  the	  year	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  amounted	  to	  US$Nil.	  	  	  
	  
The	  Group	  sold	  an	  item	  of	  plant	  and	  equipment	  to	  an	  officer	  of	  the	  company	  for	  US$8,544.	  No	  gain	  or	  
loss	  was	  recognized	  on	  the	  sale.	  	  
	  
	  

2013 2012
US$ US$

Payable within one year 200,000                          200,000                          
Payable between 1 and 5 years 150,000                          350,000                          
Total 350,000                          550,000                          
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Key	  management	  personnel	  and	  directors’	  compensation	  for	  the	  year	  comprised:	  
	  

	  
	  
	  (iii)	   Related	  party	  balances	  
	  
The	  aggregate	  value	  of	  related	  party	  balances	  outstanding	  at	  each	  year	  end	  were	  as	  follows:	  
	  

	  
	  
The	  intercompany	  payable	  to	  Transtraders	  Limited	  is	  unsecured	  and	  is	  interest	  free.	  Transactions	  with	  
companies	  within	  the	  Group	  have	  been	  eliminated	  on	  consolidation.	  
	  
SIGNIFICANT	  ACCOUNTING	  POLICIES	  

	  
a.	   Statement	  of	  compliance	  

The	  consolidated	   financial	   statements	   for	   the	  years	  ended	  December	  31,	  2013	  and	  2012	  have	  
been	  prepared	  in	  accordance	  with	  International	  Financial	  Reporting	  Standards	  (“IFRS”).	  	  

b.	   Basis	  of	  measurement	  

The	   consolidated	   financial	   statements	   are	   prepared	   on	   the	   historical	   cost	   basis	   except	  where	  
otherwise	  stated.	  

c.	   Functional	  and	  presentation	  currency	  

The	   consolidated	   financial	   statements	   are	   presented	   in	   United	   States	   dollars	   which	   is	   the	  
Group’s	  functional	  and	  presentation	  currency.	  

d.	   Basis	  of	  consolidation	  
	  
(i)	   Subsidiaries	  

Subsidiaries	  are	  entities	  controlled	  by	  the	  company.	  	  Control	  exists	  when	  the	  company	  has	  the	  
power	  to	  govern	  the	  financial	  and	  operating	  policies	  of	  an	  entity	  so	  as	  to	  obtain	  benefits	  from	  its	  
activities.	   	   In	   assessing	   control,	   potential	   voting	   rights	   that	   are	   exercisable	   are	   taken	   into	  
account.	   	   The	   financial	   statements	   of	   subsidiaries	   are	   included	   in	   the	   consolidated	   financial	  
statements	  from	  the	  date	  that	  control	  commences	  until	  the	  date	  that	  control	  ceases.	  Consistent	  
accounting	  policies	  and	  the	  same	  reporting	  period	  are	  used	  for	  all	  Group	  entities.	  

2013 2012
US$ US$

Short-term benefits 1,927,142  1,720,243 
Share-based payment arrangements  451,659  1,076,833 

 2,378,801  2,797,076 

2013 2012
Type US$ US$

Transtraders Limited:

Payable Line of credit 923,025            923,025                  
Total 923,025            923,025                  

Balances outstanding as at,

38



	   	   	  

36	  

	  (ii)	   Structured	  entities	  
A	   structured	   entity	   (“SE”)	   is	   consolidated	   if,	   based	   on	   evaluation	   of	   the	   substance	   of	   its	  
relationship	  with	  the	  Group	  and	  the	  SE’s	  risks	  and	  rewards,	  the	  Group	  concludes	  that	  it	  controls	  
the	  SE.	  

	  (iii)	   Transactions	  eliminated	  on	  consolidation	  

Intra-‐Group	  balances,	  unrealized	  gains	  and	  losses,	  transactions	  and	  dividends	  are	  eliminated	  in	  
preparing	  the	  consolidated	  financial	  statements.	  

e.	   Financial	  instruments	  
	  
(i)	   Recognition	  

	   Financial	  assets	  and	  financial	  liabilities	  are	  recognized	  when	  a	  Group	  entity	  becomes	  a	  party	  to	  
the	  contractual	  provisions	  of	  the	  instrument.	  	  

Financial	  assets	  and	  financial	  liabilities	  are	  initially	  measured	  at	  fair	  value.	  Transaction	  costs	  that	  
are	   directly	   attributable	   to	   the	   acquisition	   or	   issue	   of	   financial	   assets	   and	   financial	   liabilities	  
(other	  than	  financial	  assets	  and	  financial	  liabilities	  at	  fair	  value	  through	  profit	  or	  loss)	  are	  added	  
to	  or	  deducted	  from	  the	  fair	  value	  of	  the	  financial	  assets	  or	  financial	   liabilities,	  as	  appropriate,	  
on	  initial	  recognition.	  Transaction	  costs	  directly	  attributable	  to	  the	  acquisition	  of	  financial	  assets	  
or	  financial	  liabilities	  at	  fair	  value	  through	  profit	  or	  loss	  are	  recognized	  immediately	  in	  profit	  or	  
loss.	  

Financial	   assets	   are	   classified	   into	   the	   following	   specified	   categories:	   financial	   assets	   ‘at	   fair	  
value	   through	   profit	   or	   loss'	   (“FVTPL”),	   ‘held-‐to-‐maturity'	   investments,	   ‘available-‐for-‐sale'	  
(“AFS”)	  financial	  assets	  and	  ‘loans	  and	  receivables'.	  The	  classification	  depends	  on	  the	  nature	  and	  
purpose	  of	  the	  financial	  assets	  and	  is	  determined	  at	  the	  time	  of	  initial	  recognition.	  	  

Subsequent	   to	   initial	   recognition,	   the	   treatment	   of	   financial	   assets	   depends	   on	   their	  
classification.	  Those	  recognized	  as	  FVTPL	  are	  carried	   in	  the	  consolidated	  statement	  of	  financial	  
position	   at	   fair	   value	   with	   changes	   in	   fair	   value	   recognized	   in	   comprehensive	   income.	   	   AFS	  
financial	  assets	  are	   recognized	   in	   the	  consolidated	  statement	  of	   financial	  position	  at	   fair	  value	  
with	   unrealized	   gains	   and	   losses	   recognized	   as	   other	   comprehensive	   income	   until	   the	  
investment	   is	   derecognized	   or	   impaired,	   at	  which	   time	   gains	   and	   losses	   are	   recognized	   in,	   or	  
reclassified	  to,	  comprehensive	  income.	  	  Loans	  and	  receivables	  and	  held-‐to-‐maturity	  investments	  
are	  measured	  at	  amortized	  cost	  using	  the	  effective	  interest	  rate	  method,	  less	  impairment.	  	  

Financial	   liabilities	   are	   classified	   as	   either	   financial	   liabilities	   ‘at	   FVTPL'	   or	   ‘other	   financial	  
liabilities'.	  	  

Subsequent	   to	   initial	   recognition,	   the	   treatment	   of	   financial	   liabilities	   depends	   on	   their	  
classification.	  	  Those	  recognized	  as	  FVTPL	  are	  carried	  in	  the	  consolidated	  statement	  of	  financial	  
position	   at	   fair	   value	  with	   changes	   in	   fair	   value	   recognized	   in	   comprehensive	   income.	   	   Other	  
financial	  liabilities	  are	  measured	  at	  amortized	  cost	  using	  the	  effective	  interest	  rate	  method.	  
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	  (ii)	   Derecognition	  

Financial	  assets	  are	  derecognized	  when	  the	  contractual	  rights	  to	  the	  cash	  flows	  from	  the	  asset	  
expire,	  or	   the	  Group	   transfers	   the	   rights	   to	   receive	   the	  contractual	   cash	   flows	  or	   the	   financial	  
asset	   in	   a	   transaction	   in	   which	   substantially	   all	   the	   risks	   and	   rewards	   of	   ownership	   of	   the	  
financial	   asset	   are	   transferred.	   Any	   interest	   in	   transferred	   financial	   assets	   that	   is	   created	   or	  
retained	  by	  the	  Group	  is	  recognized	  as	  a	  separate	  asset	  or	  liability.	  	  

Financial	   liabilities	   are	   derecognized	   when,	   and	   only	   when,	   the	   Group's	   obligations	   are	  
discharged,	   cancelled	   or	   they	   expire.	   The	   difference	   between	   the	   carrying	   amount	   of	   the	  
financial	  liability	  derecognized	  and	  the	  consideration	  paid	  and	  payable	  is	  recognized	  in	  profit	  or	  
loss.	  

(iii)	   Classification	  

The	  Group	  applies	  a	  hierarchy	  to	  measure	  financial	  instruments	  carried	  at	  fair	  value.	  Levels	  1	  to	  
3	   are	   defined	   based	   on	   the	   degree	   to	   which	   fair	   value	   inputs	   are	   observable	   and	   have	   a	  
significant	  effect	  on	  the	  recorded	  fair	  value,	  as	  follows:	  

Level	  1:	  Quoted	  prices	  (unadjusted)	  in	  active	  markets	  for	  identical	  assets	  or	  liabilities;	  

Level	  2:	  Valuation	  techniques	  using	  significant	  observable	  inputs,	  either	  directly	  (i.e.	  as	  prices)	  or	  
indirectly	   (i.e.	   derived	   from	   prices),	   or	   valuations	   that	   are	   based	   on	   quoted	   prices	   for	   similar	  
instruments;	  and	  	  

Level	  3:	  Valuation	  techniques	  using	  significant	   inputs	  that	  are	  not	  based	  on	  observable	  market	  
data	  (unobservable	  inputs).The	  fair	  values	  of	  financial	  instruments	  are	  determined	  using	  market	  
prices	  for	  quoted	  instruments	  and	  widely	  accepted	  valuation	  techniques	  for	  other	  instruments.	  	  
Valuation	  techniques	  include	  discounted	  cash	  flows,	  standard	  valuation	  models	  based	  on	  market	  
parameters,	  dealer	  quotes	  for	  similar	  instruments	  and	  expert	  valuations.	  

When	  fair	  values	  of	  unquoted	   instruments	  cannot	  be	  measured	  with	  sufficient	  reliability,	  such	  
instruments	  are	  carried	  at	  cost	  less	  impairments,	  if	  applicable.	  

Further	  information	  relating	  to	  the	  fair	  values	  of	  financial	  instruments	  is	  provided	  in	  notes	  5	  and	  
18.	  
	  

(iv)	   Amortized	  cost	  measurement	  
	  

The	  amortized	  cost	  of	  a	  financial	  asset	  or	   liability	   is	  the	  amount	  at	  which	  the	  financial	  asset	  or	  
liability	   is	   measured	   at	   initial	   recognition,	   minus	   principal	   repayments,	   plus	   or	   minus	   the	  
cumulative	   amortization	   using	   the	   effective	   interest	   method	   of	   any	   difference	   between	   the	  
initial	  amount	  recognized	  and	  the	  maturity	  amount,	  minus	  any	  reduction	  for	  impairment.	  
	  

(v)	   Offsetting	  	  
	  

Financial	   assets	   and	   liabilities	   are	   set	   off	   and	   the	   net	   amount	   presented	   in	   the	   consolidated	  
statement	  of	  financial	  position	  when,	  and	  only	  when,	  the	  Group	  has	  a	  legal	  right	  to	  set	  off	  the	  
amounts	  and	  intends	  either	  to	  settle	  on	  a	  net	  basis	  or	  to	  realize	  the	  asset	  and	  settle	  the	  liability	  
simultaneously.	  	  
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Income	  and	  expenses	  on	  financial	  instruments	  are	  presented	  on	  a	  net	  basis	  when	  permitted	  by	  
accounting	  standards.	  
	  

(vi)	   Share	  capital	  	  
	  

Proceeds	   from	   the	   issue	  of	   ordinary	   shares	   are	   classified	   as	   equity.	   Incremental	   costs	   directly	  
attributable	   to	   the	   issue	   of	   ordinary	   shares	   and	   share	   options	   are	   recognized	   as	   a	   deduction	  
from	  equity,	  net	  of	  any	  tax	  effects.	  
	  

(vii)	   Compound	  financial	  instruments	  

From	   time	   to	   time	   the	   Group	   may	   issue	   compound	   financial	   instruments	   such	   as	   convertible	  
notes	  that	  can	  be	  converted	  to	  share	  capital	  at	  the	  option	  of	  the	  holder,	  when	  the	  number	  of	  
shares	  to	  be	  issued	  does	  not	  vary	  with	  changes	  in	  their	  fair	  value.	  	  

The	   liability	   component	   of	   a	   compound	   financial	   instrument	   is	   recognized	   initially	   at	   the	   fair	  
value	  of	  a	  similar	  liability	  that	  does	  not	  have	  an	  equity	  conversion	  option.	  The	  equity	  component	  
is	   recognized	   initially	   at	   the	   difference	   between	   the	   fair	   value	   of	   the	   compound	   financial	  
instrument	  as	  a	  whole	  and	  the	  fair	  value	  of	  the	  liability	  component.	  	  

Any	  directly	  attributable	  transaction	  costs	  are	  allocated	  to	  the	  liability	  and	  equity	  component	  in	  
the	  proportion	  of	  their	  initial	  carrying	  amounts.	  

Subsequent	  to	  initial	  recognition,	  the	  liability	  component	  of	  a	  compound	  financial	  instrument	  is	  
measured	   at	   amortized	   cost	   using	   the	   effective	   interest	   method.	   The	   equity	   component	   of	   a	  
compound	  financial	  instrument	  is	  not	  re-‐measured	  subsequent	  to	  initial	  recognition.	  

Interest,	  and	  gains	  and	  losses	  related	  to	  the	  financial	  liability,	  are	  recognized	  in	  profit	  or	  loss.	  On	  
conversion,	   the	   financial	   liability	   is	   reclassified	   to	   equity;	   no	   gain	   or	   loss	   is	   recognized	   on	  
conversion.	  

	  
(viii)	   Trade	  receivables	  
	  

Trade	   receivables	   are	   initially	   stated	   at	   their	   fair	   value.	   The	   carrying	   amounts	   for	   accounts	  
receivable	  are	  net	  of	  allowances	  for	  doubtful	  accounts.	  The	  Group	  evaluates	  the	  recoverability	  
of	   trade	   receivables	   on	   the	   specific	   risks	   associated	   with	   the	   customer	   and	   other	   relevant	  
information.	   Individual	   trade	   receivables	   are	  only	  written	  off	  when	  management	  deems	   them	  
not	  collectible.	  	  	  
	  

f.	   Leases	  
	  
(i) Classification	  

	  
Leases	  are	  classified	  as	  finance	  leases	  whenever	  the	  terms	  of	  the	  lease	  transfer	  substantially	  all	  
the	  risks	  and	  rewards	  of	  ownership	  to	  the	  lessee.	  	  Assets	  held	  under	  finance	  leases	  are	  stated	  as	  
assets	  of	  the	  Group	  at	  the	  lower	  of	  their	  fair	  value	  and	  the	  present	  value	  of	  the	  minimum	  lease	  
payments	  at	  inception	  of	  the	  lease,	  less	  accumulated	  depreciation	  and	  impairment	  losses.	  	  The	  
corresponding	   liability	   to	   the	   lessor	   is	   included	   in	   the	   consolidated	   statement	   of	   financial	  
position	  as	  a	  finance	  lease	  obligation.	  	  Finance	  costs	  are	  charged	  to	  comprehensive	  income	  over	  
the	   term	   of	   the	   relevant	   lease	   so	   as	   to	   produce	   a	   constant	   periodic	   interest	   charge	   on	   the	  
remaining	  balance	  of	  the	  obligations	  for	  each	  accounting	  period.	  	  
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Leases	   where	   significant	   portions	   of	   the	   risks	   and	   rewards	   of	   ownership	   are	   retained	   by	   the	  
lessor	  are	  classified	  as	  operating	  leases.	  	  

	  
(ii)	   Lease	  payments	  
	  

Payments	  made	  under	  operating	  leases	  are	  charged	  to	  comprehensive	  income	  on	  a	  straight-‐line	  
basis	   over	   the	   period	   of	   the	   lease.	   	   When	   an	   operating	   lease	   is	   terminated	   before	   the	   lease	  
period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is 
recognized	   as	   an	   expense	   in	   the	   period	   in	   which	   termination	   takes	   place.	   	   Minimum	   lease	  
payments	  made	  under	  finance	  leases	  are	  apportioned	  between	  finance	  expense	  and	  a	  reduction	  
of	  the	  outstanding	  lease	  liability.	  
	  

g.	   Property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  
	  
(i) Recognition	  and	  measurement	  
	  

Items	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  are	  measured	  at	  acquisition	  or	  construction	  cost,	   less	  
accumulated	  depreciation	  and	   impairment	   losses.	  Cost	   includes	  expenditures	   that	   are	  directly	  
attributable	  to	  the	  acquisition	  of	  the	  asset	  and,	  for	  qualifying	  assets,	  borrowing	  costs	  capitalized	  
in	  accordance	  with	   the	  Group’s	  accounting	  policy.	  The	  cost	  of	   self-‐constructed	  assets	   includes	  
the	  cost	  of	  materials	  and	  direct	   labor,	  and	  any	  other	  costs	  directly	  attributable	  to	  bringing	  the	  
asset	   to	   a	   working	   condition	   for	   its	   intended	   use.	   Purchased	   software	   that	   is	   integral	   to	   the	  
functionality	  of	  the	  related	  equipment	  is	  capitalized	  as	  part	  of	  that	  equipment.	  When	  significant	  
parts	   of	   an	   item	   of	   property,	   plant	   and	   equipment	   have	   different	   useful	   lives,	   they	   are	  
accounted	  for	  as	  separate	  items	  (major	  components)	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment.	  

	  
(ii) Subsequent	  costs	  

	  
The	   cost	   of	   replacing	   part	   of	   an	   item	   of	   property,	   plant	   and	   equipment	   is	   recognized	   in	   the	  
carrying	  amount	  of	  the	  item	  if	  it	  is	  probable	  that	  the	  future	  economic	  benefits	  embodied	  within	  
the	  part	  will	  flow	  to	  the	  Group	  and	  its	  cost	  can	  be	  measured	  reliably.	   	  The	  costs	  of	  the	  day-‐to-‐
day	  maintenance,	  repair	  and	  servicing	  expenditures	  incurred	  on	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  
are	  recognized	  in	  comprehensive	  income,	  as	  incurred.	  
	  

(iii) Depreciation	  
	  

	   Depreciation	  is	  recognized	  in	  comprehensive	  income	  on	  a	  straight-‐line	  basis	  over	  the	  estimated	  
useful	  lives	  of	  each	  part	  of	  an	  item	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment.	  	  Assets	  leased	  under	  a	  
finance	  lease	  are	  depreciated	  over	  their	  useful	  lives.	  Capital	  work	  in	  progress	  is	  not	  depreciated.	  	  

	   The	  estimated	  useful	  lives	  of	  major	  classes	  of	  depreciable	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  are:	  
	  

	   	  
	  

Motor	  vehicles 3	  years
Plant	  and	  equipment 5	  years
Leasehold	  improvements over	  the	  term	  of	  the	  lease
Drill	  rigs 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  10	  years
Drill	  rig	  components 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  5	  years
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Depreciation	   methods,	   useful	   lives	   and	   residual	   values	   of	   property	   plant	   and	   equipment	   are	  
reassessed	  at	  each	  reporting	  date.	  The	  actual	  lives	  of	  these	  assets	  and	  residual	  values	  can	  vary	  
depending	   on	   a	   variety	   of	   factors,	   including	   technological	   innovation	   and	   maintenance	  
programs.	   	   Changes	   in	   estimates	   can	   result	   in	   significant	   variations	   in	   the	   carrying	   value	   and	  
amounts	  charged,	  on	  account	  of	  depreciation,	  to	  comprehensive	  income	  in	  specific	  periods.	  	  
	  
Gains	   and	   losses	   on	   disposal	   of	   property,	   plant	   and	   equipment	   are	   determined	   by	   comparing	  
proceeds	   from	  disposal	  with	   the	   carrying	   amounts	  of	  property,	   plant	   and	  equipment,	   and	  are	  
recognized	  in	  comprehensive	  income.	  
	  
Impairment	  

	  
The	  Group’s	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  are	  reviewed	  at	  each	  reporting	  date	  to	  determine	  
whether	  there	  is	  any	  indication	  of	  impairment.	  	  If	  any	  such	  indication	  exists,	  then	  the	  respective	  
asset’s	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit’s	  recoverable	  amount	  is	  estimated.	  	  	  
	  
An	  impairment	  loss	   is	  recognized	  if	  the	  carrying	  amount	  of	  an	  asset	  or	   its	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  
exceeds	  its	  recoverable	  amounts.	  	  A	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  is	  the	  smallest	  identifiable	  asset	  group	  
that	  generates	  cash	  inflows	  that	  are	  largely	  independent	  from	  other	  assets	  and	  groups.	  	  
	  
The	  recoverable	  amount	  of	  the	  asset	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  is	  based	  on	  the	  higher	  of	  a	  value-‐
in-‐use	   calculation	   or	   fair	   value	   less	   costs	   to	   sell.	   The	   value-‐in-‐use	   calculation	   requires	   an	  
estimation	  of	  the	  future	  cash	  flows	  expected	  to	  arise	  from	  the	  asset	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  and	  
a	  pre-‐tax	  discount	  rate	  in	  order	  to	  calculate	  the	  present	  value.	  Fair	  values	  less	  costs	  to	  sell	  are	  
based	   on	   recent	   market	   transactions	   where	   available,	   and	   where	   not	   available,	   appropriate	  
valuation	   models	   are	   used.	   An	   impairment	   loss	   is	   recognized	   immediately	   in	   comprehensive	  
income.	  

	  
At	  the	  end	  of	  each	  reporting	  period,	  the	  Group	  assesses	  whether	  there	  is	  any	  indication	  that	  an	  
impairment	  loss	  recognized	  in	  prior	  periods	  for	  an	  asset	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  may	  no	  longer	  
exist	  or	  may	  have	  decreased.	  If	  any	  such	  indication	  exists,	  the	  Group	  estimates	  the	  recoverable	  
amount	  of	  the	  asset	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit.	  Where	  an	  impairment	  loss	  subsequently	  reverses,	  
the	  carrying	  amount	  of	  the	  asset	  or	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  is	  increased	  to	  the	  revised	  estimate	  of	  
its	  recoverable	  amount,	  but	  so	  that	  the	  increased	  carrying	  amount	  does	  not	  exceed	  the	  carrying	  
amount	   that	   would	   have	   been	   determined	   had	   no	   impairment	   loss	   been	   recognized	   for	   the	  
asset	   or	   cash-‐generating	   unit	   in	   prior	   years.	   A	   reversal	   of	   an	   impairment	   loss	   is	   recognized	  
immediately	  in	  comprehensive	  income.	  
	  

h.	   Inventories	  
	  

Inventories	  are	  measured	  at	  the	  lower	  of	  cost	  and	  net	  realizable	  value.	  	  The	  cost	  of	  spare	  parts	  is	  
based	  on	  the	  first-‐in	  first-‐out	  principle	  and	  includes	  expenditures	  incurred	  in	  acquiring/building	  
the	  inventories	  and	  bringing	  them	  to	  their	  existing	  location	  and	  condition.	  Net	  realizable	  value	  is	  
the	  estimated	  selling	  price	   in	   the	  ordinary	  course	  of	  business,	   less	  estimated	  selling	  expenses.	  
Inventory	  is	  assessed	  on	  a	  per	  unit	  basis	  to	  determine	  whether	  indicators	  exist	  which	  would	  lead	  
to	  a	  downward	  revision	  in	  the	  net	  realizable	  value	  of	  inventory.	  This	  assessment	  is	  performed	  at	  
each	  reporting	  date.	  
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i.	   Employee	  benefits	  
	  
(i) Defined	  contribution	  plans	  

	  
A	  defined	  contribution	  plan	  is	  a	  post-‐employment	  benefit	  plan	  under	  which	  an	  entity	  pays	  fixed	  
contributions	  to	  a	  separate	  entity	  and	  will	  have	  no	  legal	  or	  constructive	  obligation	  to	  pay	  future	  
amounts.	  Obligations	  for	  contributions	  to	  defined	  contribution	  schemes	  are	  recognized	  as	  an	  
expense	  in	  comprehensive	  income	  in	  the	  periods	  during	  which	  services	  are	  rendered	  by	  
employees.	  
	  

(ii)	   Short-‐term	  benefits	  
	  

Short-‐term	   employee	   benefit	   obligations	   are	   measured	   on	   an	   undiscounted	   basis	   and	   are	  
expensed	  as	  the	  related	  service	  is	  provided.	  	  A	  provision	  is	  recognized	  for	  the	  amount	  expected	  
to	  be	  paid	  under	  short-‐term	  cash	  bonus	  or	  profit-‐sharing	  plans	  if	  the	  Group	  has	  a	  present	  legal	  
or	   constructive	   obligation	   to	   pay	   this	   amount	   as	   a	   result	   of	   past	   services	   provided	   by	   the	  
employee,	  and	  the	  obligation	  can	  be	  estimated	  reliably.	  	  

	  
(iii)	   Share-‐based	  payment	  transactions	  
	  

The	  grant-‐date	  fair	  value	  of	  equity-‐settled	  share-‐based	  payment	  awards	  granted	  to	  employees	  is	  
recognized	   as	   an	   employee	   expense,	  with	   a	   corresponding	   increase	   in	   share	   based	   payments	  
reserve,	   over	   the	   period	   that	   the	   employees	   unconditionally	   become	   entitled	   to	   the	   awards.	  
Estimations	  are	  made	  at	  the	  end	  of	  each	  reporting	  period	  of	  the	  number	  of	  instruments	  which	  
will	   eventually	   vest.	   	   The	   impact	   of	   any	   revision	   is	   recognized	   in	   comprehensive	   income	   such	  
that	  the	  cumulative	  expense	  reflects	  the	  revised	  estimate,	  with	  a	  corresponding	  adjustment	  to	  
the	  share-‐based	  payment	  reserve.	  

	  
j.	   Income	  tax	  
	  

Income	  tax	  expense	  comprises	  current	  and	  deferred	  tax	  expenses.	  	  
	  
Current	  tax	  and	  deferred	  tax	  are	  recognized	  in	  comprehensive	  income	  except	  to	  the	  extent	  that	  
they	  relate	  to	  items	  recognized	  directly	  in	  other	  comprehensive	  income	  or	  equity.	  Current	  tax	  is	  
the	   expected	   tax	   payable	   on	   taxable	   income	   for	   the	   year,	   using	   tax	   rates	   enacted	   or	  
substantively	   enacted	   at	   the	   consolidated	   statement	   of	   financial	   position	   date,	   and	   any	  
adjustment	  to	  tax	  payable	  in	  respect	  of	  previous	  years.	  Deferred	  tax	  is	  provided	  using	  the	  asset	  
and	   liability	   method,	   providing	   for	   temporary	   differences	   between	   the	   carrying	   amounts	   of	  
assets	   and	   liabilities	   for	   financial	   reporting	   purposes	   and	   their	   tax	   base.	   Deferred	   tax	   is	  
measured	  at	   the	  tax	  rates	  that	  are	  expected	  to	  be	  applied	  to	  the	  temporary	  differences	  when	  
they	   reverse,	   based	   on	   the	   laws	   that	   have	   been	   enacted	   or	   substantively	   enacted	   by	   the	  
reporting	   date.	   A	   deferred	   tax	   asset	   is	   recognized	   only	   to	   the	   extent	   that	   it	   is	   probable	   that	  
future	   taxable	   profits	   will	   be	   available	   against	   which	   the	   asset	   can	   be	   utilized.	   	   Deferred	   tax	  
assets	   are	   reviewed	  at	  each	   reporting	  date	  and	  are	   reduced	   to	   the	  extent	   that	   it	   is	  no	   longer	  
probable	  that	  the	  related	  tax	  benefit	  will	  be	  realized.	  	  	  
	  

k.	   Dividends	  
	  

Dividends	  payable/receivable	  are	  recognized	  in	  the	  period	  in	  which	  the	  dividend	  is	  appropriately	  
authorized.	  	  	  	  
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l.	   Revenue	  –	  drilling	  revenue	  
	  

Revenue	  from	  the	  provision	  of	  services	  in	  the	  course	  of	  ordinary	  activities	  is	  measured	  at	  the	  fair	  
value	   of	   the	   consideration	   received	   or	   receivable,	   net	   of	   discounts	   and	   value	   added	   taxes.	  	  
Drilling	   revenue	   is	   recognized	   as	   revenue	  when	   the	   outcome	  of	   the	   drilling	   can	   be	   estimated	  
reliably	  to	  the	  actual	  chargeable	  meters	  drilled.	  	  
The	  outcome	  can	  be	  estimated	  reliably	  when	  all	  the	  following	  conditions	  are	  satisfied:	  

- the	  amount	  of	  revenue	  can	  be	  measured	  reliably;	  
- it	   is	  probable	   that	   the	  economic	  benefits	   associated	  with	   the	  drilling	   service	   rendered	  

will	  flow	  to	  the	  Group;	  
- the	   work	   performed	   of	   the	   drilling	   service	   at	   the	   end	   of	   the	   reporting	   period	   can	   be	  

measured	  reliably;	  and	  
- the	  costs	  incurred	  for	  and	  to	  complete	  the	  drilling	  can	  be	  measured	  reliably.	  

	  
m.	   Finance	  income	  
	  

Finance	  income	  comprises	  interest	  income	  on	  funds	  invested	  or	  held	  in	  bank	  accounts.	  	  Interest	  
income	  is	  recognized	  in	  comprehensive	  income	  using	  the	  effective	  interest	  method.	  
	  

n.	   Finance	  costs	  
	  

Finance	  costs	  comprise	  interest	  expense	  on	  borrowings,	  including	  all	  financing	  arrangements.	  	  
	  

	  
o.	   Foreign	  exchange	  
	  
	   The	   consolidated	   financial	   statements	   of	   the	   Group	   have	   been	   translated	   into	   United	   States	  

dollars	  using	  the	  exchange	  rates	  at	  each	  balance	  sheet	  date	  for	  assets	  and	   liabilities	  and	  at	  an	  
average	   exchange	   rate	   for	   the	   year	   for	   revenue	   and	   expenses.	   Realized	   and	   unrealized	  
transaction	  gains	  on	  short-‐term	  receivables	  and	  payables	  denominated	  in	  a	  currency	  other	  than	  
the	  functional	  currency	  are	  included	  in	  profit	  or	  loss.	  	  	  

	  
p.	   Provisions	  

	  
A	   provision	   is	   recognized	   if,	   as	   a	   result	   of	   a	   past	   event,	   the	   Group	   has	   a	   present	   legal	   or	  
constructive	   obligation	   that	   can	   be	   estimated	   reliably,	   and	   it	   is	   probable	   that	   an	   outflow	   of	  
economic	   benefits	   will	   be	   required	   to	   settle	   the	   obligation.	   Provisions	   are	   determined	   by	  
discounting	   the	   expected	   future	   cash	   flows	   at	   a	   pre-‐tax	   rate	   that	   reflects	   current	   market	  
assessments	  of	  the	  time	  value	  of	  money	  and	  the	  risks	  specific	  to	  the	  liability.	  

	  
q.	   Post	  balance	  sheet	  events	   	  
	  

Events	   subsequent	   to	   the	  balance	   sheet	  date	  are	   reflected	   in	   the	   financial	   statements	  only	   to	  
the	  extent	  that	  they	  relate	  to	  the	  period	  under	  consideration	  and	  the	  effect	  is	  material.	  
	  

r.	   Earnings	  per	  share	  
	  

The	   Group	   presents	   basic	   and	   diluted	   earnings	   per	   share	   data	   for	   its	   ordinary	   shares.	   Basic	  
earnings	   per	   share	   is	   calculated	   by	   dividing	   the	   profit	   or	   loss	   attributable	   to	   ordinary	  
shareholders	  of	  the	  company	  by	  the	  weighted	  average	  number	  of	  ordinary	  shares	  outstanding	  
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during	   the	  period,	   adjusted	   for	   own	   shares	  held.	  Diluted	  earnings	  per	   share	   is	   determined	  by	  
adjusting	   the	   weighted	   average	   number	   of	   ordinary	   shares	   outstanding	   for	   the	   effects	   of	   all	  
dilutive	   potential	   shares,	   which	   currently	   comprise	   share	   options	   granted	   to	   employees	   and	  
directors.	  

	  

NEW	  AND	  FUTURE	  ACCOUNTING	  STANDARDS	  

a. Adoption	  of	  new	  and	  amended	  accounting	  pronouncements	  
	  
IFRS	  12	  –	  Disclosure	  of	  interests	  in	  other	  entities	  
	  
IFRS	  12,	  “Disclosure	  of	  interests	  in	  other	  entities”	  (IFRS	  12)	  requires	  enhanced	  disclosure	  of	  information	  
about	   involvement	   with	   consolidated	   and	   unconsolidated	   entities,	   including	   structured	   entities	  
commonly	  referred	  to	  as	  special	  purpose	  vehicles	  or	  variable	   interest	  entities.	  The	  Group	  adopted	  the	  
standard	   effective	   January	   1,	   2013	   and	   has	   included	   these	   enhanced	   disclosures	   within	   the	   Group’s	  
consolidated	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
IFRS	  13	  –	  Fair	  value	  measurement	  
	  
IFRS	  13,	  “Fair	  value	  measurement”	  (IFRS	  13)	  clarifies	  the	  definition	  of	  fair	  value,	  requires	  disclosures	  for	  
fair	   value	  measurement,	   and	   sets	   out	   a	   single	   framework	   for	  measuring	   fair	   value.	   	   IFRS	   13	   provides	  
guidance	  on	  fair	  value	  in	  a	  single	  standard,	  replacing	  the	  existing	  guidance	  on	  measuring	  and	  disclosing	  
fair	   value	   which	   is	   dispersed	   among	   several	   standards.	   The	   Group	   adopted	   the	   standard	   effective	  
January	  1,	  2013.	  The	  adoption	  did	  not	  have	  a	  significant	   impact	  on	  the	  Group’s	  consolidated	  financial	  
statements.	  
	  
Amendment	  to	  IAS	  16	  –	  Property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  
	  
Paragraph	  8	  of	   IAS	  16,	  “Property,	  plant	  and	  equipment”	  was	  amended	  requiring	  entities	  to	  recognize	  
items	   such	   as	   spare	   parts,	   stand-‐by	   equipment	   and	   servicing	   equipment	   as	   Property,	   plant	   and	  
equipment	  when	  they	  meet	  the	  definition	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment;	  otherwise,	  such	  items	  are	  
classified	  as	  inventory.	  The	  Group	  elected	  early	  adoption	  of	  the	  standard	  in	  2012.	  The	  impact	  in	  2013	  
on	   the	   Group	   was	   a	   reclassification	   of	   $587,953	   out	   of	   inventory	   and	   into	   property,	   plant	   and	  
equipment	  (2012;	  $2,833,934	  out	  of	  inventory	  and	  into	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment).	  	  	  	  
 
b)	   Accounting	  pronouncements	  issued	  but	  not	  yet	  effective	  
	  
IFRS	  9	  –	  Financial	  instruments	  
	  
IFRS	  9,	  “Financial	   instruments”	  (IFRS	  9)	  was	   issued	  by	  the	  IASB	  in	  November	  2009	  and	  will	  replace	  IAS	  
39,	  “Financial	  instruments:	  recognition	  and	  measurement”	  (IAS	  39).	  IFRS	  9	  replaces	  the	  multiple	  rules	  in	  
IAS	  39	  with	  a	  single	  approach	  to	  determine	  whether	  a	  financial	  asset	  is	  measured	  at	  amortized	  cost	  or	  
fair	   value	   and	   a	   new	   mixed	   measurement	   model	   for	   debt	   instruments	   having	   only	   two	   categories:	  
amortized	  cost	  and	  fair	  value.	  The	  approach	   in	   IFRS	  9	   is	  based	  on	  how	  an	  entity	  manages	   its	   financial	  
instruments	   in	   the	   context	   of	   its	   business	  model	   and	   the	   contractual	   cash	   flow	   characteristics	   of	   the	  
financial	   assets.	   This	   standard	   also	   requires	   a	   single	   impairment	   method	   to	   be	   used,	   replacing	   the	  
multiple	  impairment	  methods	  in	  IAS	  39.	  	  
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In	  December	  2011,	  the	  IASB	  issued	  amendments	  to	  IFRS	  9	  that	  also	  provide	  relief	  from	  the	  requirement	  
to	  restate	  comparative	  financial	  statements	  for	  the	  effect	  of	  applying	  IFRS	  9	  which	  was	  originally	  limited	  
to	  companies	  that	  chose	  to	  apply	  IFRS	  9	  prior	  to	  2012.	  Alternatively,	  additional	  transition	  disclosures	  will	  
be	   required	   to	   help	   investors	   understand	   the	   effect	   that	   the	   initial	   application	   of	   IFRS	   9	   has	   on	   the	  
classification	   and	   measurement	   of	   financial	   instruments.	   In	   November	   2013,	   the	   IASB	   issued	  
amendments	   to	   IFRS	   9	   deferring	   the	   mandatory	   effective	   date	   until	   the	   IFRS	   9	   project	   is	   closer	   to	  
completion.	   The	   Group	   is	   currently	   evaluating	   the	   impact	   of	   this	   standard	   and	   amendments	   on	   its	  
consolidated	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
IFRS	  10	  –	  Consolidated	  financial	  statements	  
	  
IFRS	  10,	  “Consolidated	  financial	  statements”	  (IFRS	  10)	  was	  amended	  by	  the	  IASB	  in	  October	  2012.	  	  The	  
amendments	   introduce	   an	   exception	   for	   investment	   entities	   to	   the	   principle	   that	   all	   subsidiaries	   are	  
consolidated.	   The	   amendments	   define	   an	   investment	   entity	   and	   require	   an	   investment	   entity	   to	  
measure	   subsidiaries	   at	   fair	   value	   through	   profit	   or	   loss	   in	   accordance	   with	   IFRS	   9,	   “Financial	  
instruments”	   or	   IAS	   39,	   “Financial	   instruments:	   recognition	   and	   measurement”.	   The	   amendments	   to	  
IFRS	   10	   are	   effective	   for	   annual	   periods	   beginning	   on	   or	   after	   January	   1,	   2014.	   The	   adoption	   of	   this	  
standard	  is	  not	  expected	  to	  have	  a	  significant	  impact	  on	  the	  Group’s	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
IFRS	  12	  –	  Disclosure	  of	  interests	  in	  other	  entities	  
	  
IFRS	  12,	  “Disclosure	  of	  interests	  in	  other	  entities”	  (IFRS	  12)	  was	  amended	  by	  the	  IASB	  in	  October	  2012.	  	  
The	   amendments	   add	   disclosure	   requirements	   for	   investment	   entities	   as	   defined	   in	   IFRS	   10,	  
“Consolidated	   financial	   statements”.	   The	   amendments	   to	   IFRS	   12	   are	   effective	   for	   annual	   periods	  
beginning	  on	  or	  after	  January	  1,	  2014.	  The	  adoption	  of	  this	  standard	  is	  not	  expected	  to	  have	  a	  significant	  
impact	  on	  the	  Group’s	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
IAS	  27	  –	  Separate	  financial	  statements	  
	  
IAS	   27,	   “Separate	   financial	   statements”	   (IAS	   27)	   was	   amended	   by	   the	   IASB	   in	   October	   2012.	   	   The	  
amendments	   require	   an	   investment	   entity	   to	   measure	   its	   investments	   in	   subsidiaries	   at	   fair	   value	  
through	  profit	  or	   loss	  when	   it	  presents	   separate	   financial	   statements.	  The	  amendments	   to	   IAS	  27	  are	  
effective	   for	   annual	   periods	   beginning	   on	   or	   after	   January	   1,	   2014.	   The	   Group	   determined	   that	   this	  
standard	  is	  not	  applicable	  to	  the	  consolidated	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
IAS	  32	  –	  Financial	  instruments:	  presentation	  
	  
IAS	  32,	  “Financial	  instruments:	  presentation”	  (IAS	  32)	  was	  amended	  by	  the	  IASB	  in	  December	  2011.	  	  The	  
amendment	  clarifies	  that	  an	  entity	  has	  a	  legally	  enforceable	  right	  to	  offset	  financial	  assets	  and	  financial	  
liabilities	  if	  that	  right	  is	  not	  contingent	  on	  a	  future	  event	  and	  it	  is	  enforceable	  both	  in	  the	  normal	  course	  
of	  business	  and	   in	   the	  event	  of	  default,	   insolvency	  or	  bankruptcy	  of	   the	  entity	  and	  all	   counterparties.	  
The	  amendments	  to	  IAS	  32	  are	  effective	  for	  annual	  periods	  beginning	  on	  or	  after	  January	  1,	  2014.	  The	  
adoption	   of	   this	   standard	   is	   not	   expected	   to	   have	   a	   significant	   impact	   on	   the	   Group’s	   financial	  
statements.	  
	  
IAS	  36	  –	  Impairment	  of	  assets	  
	  
IAS	   36,	   “Impairment	   of	   assets”	   (IAS	   36)	   was	   amended	   by	   the	   IASB	   in	   May	   2013.	   	   The	   amendments	  
require	  the	  disclosure	  of	  the	  recoverable	  amount	  of	  impaired	  assets	  when	  an	  impairment	  loss	  has	  been	  
recognised	   or	   reversed	   during	   the	   period	   and	  additional	   disclosures	   about	   the	   measurement	   of	   the	  
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recoverable	  amount	  of	  impaired	  assets	  when	  the	  recoverable	  amount	  is	  based	  on	  fair	  value	  less	  costs	  of	  
disposal,	  including	  the	  discount	  rate	  when	  a	  present	  value	  technique	  is	  used	  to	  measure	  the	  recoverable	  
amount.	  The	  amendments	   to	   IAS	  36	  are	  effective	   for	  annual	  periods	  beginning	  on	  or	  after	   January	  1,	  
2014.	  The	  adoption	  of	  this	  standard	  is	  not	  expected	  to	  have	  a	  significant	  impact	  on	  the	  Group’s	  financial	  
statements.	  
	  
IAS	  39	  -‐	  Financial	  instruments:	  recognition	  and	  measurement	  
	  
IAS	   39,	   “Financial	   instruments:	   recognition	   and	  measurement”	   (IAS	   39)	  was	   amended	   by	   the	   IASB	   in	  
June	  2013.	  The	  amendments	  clarify	  that	  novation	  of	  a	  hedging	  derivative	  to	  a	  clearing	  counterparty	  as	  a	  
consequence	  of	  laws	  or	  regulations	  or	  the	  introduction	  of	  laws	  or	  regulations	  does	  not	  terminate	  hedge	  
accounting.	  The	  amendments	  to	  IAS	  39	  are	  effective	  for	  annual	  periods	  beginning	  on	  or	  after	  January	  1,	  
2014.	  The	  adoption	  of	  this	  standard	  is	  not	  expected	  to	  have	  a	  significant	  impact	  on	  the	  Group’s	  financial	  
statements.	  
	  
IFRIC	  21	  –	  Levies	  
 
IFRIC	   21	   –	   Levies	   was	   issued	   in	  May	   2013	   and	   is	   an	   interpretation	   of	   IAS	   37	   –	   Provisions,	   Contingent	  
Liabilities	   and	   Contingent	   Assets.	   The	   interpretation	   clarifies	   the	   obligating	   event	   that	   gives	   rise	   to	   a	  
liability	  to	  pay	  a	  levy.	  IFRIC	  21	  is	  effective	  for	  periods	  beginning	  on	  or	  after	  January	  1,	  2014.	  The	  Group	  is	  
currently	  evaluating	  the	  impact	  of	  this	  interpretation	  on	  its	  financial	  statements.	  
	  
CRITICAL	  ACCOUNTING	  ESTIMATES	  AND	  JUDGEMENTS	  

The	   preparation	   of	   financial	   statements	   in	   conformity	   with	   IFRS	   requires	   management	   to	   make	  
judgments,	  estimates	  and	  assumptions	  that	  affect	  the	  application	  of	  policies	  and	  reported	  amounts	  of	  
assets	  and	  liabilities,	  income	  and	  expenses.	  	  

The	  estimates	  and	  associated	  assumptions	  are	  based	  on	  historical	  experience	  and	  various	  other	  factors	  
that	   are	   believed	   to	   be	   reasonable	   under	   the	   circumstances,	   the	   results	   of	   which	   form	   the	   basis	   of	  
making	  judgments	  about	  the	  carrying	  values	  of	  assets	  and	  liabilities	  that	  are	  not	  readily	  apparent	  from	  
other	  sources.	  Actual	  results	  may	  differ	  from	  these	  estimates.	  	  

The	  estimates	  and	  underlying	  assumptions	  are	   reviewed	  on	  an	  ongoing	  basis.	  Revisions	   to	  accounting	  
estimates	  are	  recognized	  in	  the	  period	  in	  which	  the	  estimate	  is	  revised	  if	  the	  revision	  affects	  only	  that	  
period	  or	  in	  the	  period	  of	  the	  revision	  and	  future	  periods	  if	  the	  revision	  affects	  both	  current	  and	  future	  
periods.	  	  
	  
(i) Estimates	  
	  
a. Depreciation	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  
	  

Property,	   plant	   and	   equipment	   is	   often	   used	   in	   hostile	   environments	   and	   may	   be	   subject	   to	  
accelerated	   depreciation.	   Management	   considers	   the	   reasonableness	   of	   useful	   lives	   and	  
whether	   known	   factors	   reduce	   or	   extend	   the	   lives	   of	   certain	   assets.	   This	   is	   accomplished	   by	  
assessing	   the	   changing	   business	   conditions,	   examining	   the	   level	   of	   expenditures	   required	   for	  
additional	   improvements,	   observing	   the	   patterns	   of	   gains	   or	   losses	   on	   disposition,	   and	  
considering	  the	  various	  components	  of	  the	  assets.	  	  
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b. Share-‐based	  payment	  transactions	  
	  

The	   fair	   value	   of	   share-‐based	   payment	   transactions	   is	   based	   on	   certain	   assumptions	   from	  
management.	  The	  main	  areas	  of	  estimate	   relate	   to	   the	  determination	  of	   the	   risk	   free	   interest	  
rate,	  stock	  price	  volatility	  and	  the	  forfeiture	  rate.	  	  
	  

c. Inventory	  provision	  
	  

Management	  reviews	  inventories	  at	  each	  reporting	  period	  to	  determine	  whether	  indicators	  exist	  
which	   would	   lead	   to	   a	   downward	   revision	   in	   the	   net	   realizable	   value	   of	   the	   inventory.	  
Management’s	  estimate	  of	  net	   realizable	   value	  of	   such	   inventories	   is	  based	  primarily	  on	   sales	  
price	  and	  current	  market	  conditions.	  	  

	  
d. Allowance	  for	  doubtful	  accounts	  
	  

Management	   reviews	   trade	   receivables	   at	   each	   reporting	   period	   to	   determine	   whether	  
indicators	  exist	  which	  would	  lead	  to	  a	  downward	  revision	  in	  the	  net	  realizable	  value	  of	  the	  trade	  
receivables.	  Management’s	  estimate	  of	  net	   realizable	   value	  of	   such	   trade	   receivables	   is	  based	  
primarily	  on	  the	  ageing	  of	  the	  receivables.	  

	  
e. Income	  tax	  
	  

Tax	   interpretations,	   regulations	   and	   legislations	   in	   the	   various	   countries	   in	   which	   the	   Group	  
operates	   are	   subject	   to	   change	   and	   management	   uncertainty.	   Current	   income	   tax	   expense	   is	  
based	  on	  tax	  currently	  payable	  or	  current	  withholding	  tax	  rates	  in	  countries	  in	  which	  the	  group	  
operates.	  In	  addition,	  deferred	  income	  tax	  liabilities	  are	  assessed	  by	  management	  at	  the	  end	  of	  
the	  reporting	  period	  and	  are	  measured	  at	  the	  tax	  rates	  that	  are	  expected	  to	  be	  applied	  to	  the	  
temporary	  differences	  when	  they	  reverse.	  	  
	  
The	  amount	  recognized	  as	  accrued	  liabilities	   is	  the	  best	  estimate	  of	  the	  consideration	  required	  
to	  settle	  the	  related	  liability,	  including	  any	  related	  interest	  charges,	  taking	  into	  account	  the	  risks	  
and	  uncertainties	  surrounding	  the	  obligation.	  The	  Group	  assesses	  its	  liabilities	  at	  each	  reporting	  
period,	   based	   upon	   the	   best	   information	   available,	   relevant	   to	   the	   tax	   laws	   and	   other	  
appropriate	  requirements.	  	  

	  
(ii) Judgements	  
	  
a. Assessment	  of	  impairment	  of	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  
	  

The	  Group	  tests	  at	  each	  reporting	  period	  whether	  property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  have	  suffered	  
any	   impairment,	   in	   accordance	   with	   the	   accounting	   policy	   stated	   in	   Note	   2.	   The	   recoverable	  
amounts	  of	  each	  cash-‐generating	  unit	  have	  been	  determined	  based	  on	  value-‐in-‐use	  calculations.	  
These	  calculations	  require	  the	  use	  of	  estimates.	  	  
	  
The	  Group	  tests	  impairment	  based	  on	  the	  discounted	  cash	  flows	  related	  to	  each	  cash	  generating	  
unit.	   The	  value	   in	  use	  determination	   is	   sensitive	   to	   changes	   in	   cash	   flow	  assumptions	  and	   the	  
discount	  rate	  applied.	  No	  impairment	  charge	  has	  been	  recognized	  in	  the	  periods	  presented.	  
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b. Functional	  currency	  
	  

The	  Company	  applied	  judgment	  in	  determining	  the	  functional	  currency	  of	  the	  Company	  and	  its	  
subsidiaries.	  Functional	  currency	  was	  determined	  based	  on	  the	  currency	  that	  mainly	  influences	  
sales	  prices,	  labour,	  material	  and	  other	  costs	  of	  providing	  services.	  

	  

Additional	  Information	  

Additional	   information	   relating	   to	  Geodrill,	   including	   the	   Company’s	   Annual	   Information	   Form	   can	   be	  
found	  on	  SEDAR	  at	  www.sedar.com	  	  	  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of Geodrill Limited  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Geodrill Limited, which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 
2012, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Geodrill Limited as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants  
 
February 28, 2014 
Toronto, Canada 
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GEODRILL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

	  

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

Note US$ US$
Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 46,564,647         54,067,732         
Total non-current assets 46,564,647         54,067,732         

Current assets
Inventories 11 14,604,912         16,545,041         
Prepayments 904,838             927,721             
Tax asset 9(vi) -                        532,198             
Trade and other receivables 12 3,678,383           8,386,243           
Cash and cash equivalents 13 3,209,080           7,562,174           
Total current assets 22,397,213         33,953,377         

Total assets 68,961,860         88,021,109         

Equity and liabilities

Equity
Share capital 21,150,866         21,150,866         
Share-based payment reserve 3,537,446           3,085,787           
Retained earnings 31,030,118         35,937,836         
Total equity 55,718,430         60,174,489         

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 9(iv) 1,411,215           2,928,558           
Loans payable 14 1,069,565           5,838,094           
Total non-current liabilities 2,480,780           8,766,652           

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 4,101,401           11,226,416         
Loans payable 14 5,445,085           6,328,592           
Taxes payable 9(ii) 293,139             601,935             
Related party payables 19(iii) 923,025             923,025             
Total current liabilities 10,762,650         19,079,968         

Total equity and liabilities 68,961,860         88,021,109         

Approved by the Board of Directors 

Chairman of the Board       Chairman of the Audit Committee
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GEODRILL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

Note US$ US$

Revenue 37,211,800          65,586,459          

Cost of sales 8 (25,357,620)         (39,734,342)         

Gross profit 11,854,180          25,852,117          

Selling, general and administrative expenses 8 (14,289,178)         (19,806,101)         
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 39,234                (482,902)             

Results from operating activities (2,395,764)          5,563,114           

Finance income 3,251                  8,693                  
Finance costs (1,113,985)          (898,269)             

(Loss) income before taxation (3,506,498)          4,673,538           

Income tax expense 9(i) (1,401,220)          (1,468,178)          

(Loss) income for the year (4,907,718)          3,205,360           

Total other comprehensive income for the 
year -                         -                         

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the 
year (4,907,718)          3,205,360           

(Loss) earnings per share

Basic 22(i) (0.12)                  0.08                   
Diluted 22(ii) (0.12)                  0.08                   
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GEODRILL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 
 

Share 
Capital

Share-
based 

Payment 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Equity

US$ US$ US$ US$
Note 21(i) Note 21(ii) Note 21(iii)

Balance at January 1, 2013 21,150,866  3,085,787    35,937,836  60,174,489  

Net loss and total comprehensive loss 
for the year -                 -                 (4,907,718)   (4,907,718)   
Share-based payment expense -                 451,659      -                 451,659      

Balance at December 31, 2013 21,150,866  3,537,446    31,030,118  55,718,430  

Balance at January 1, 2012 21,043,041  2,045,377    32,732,476  55,820,894  

Net income and total comprehensive 
income for the year -                 -                 3,205,360    3,205,360    
Share-based payment expense -                 1,076,833    -                 1,076,833    
Shares issued 107,825      (36,423)       -                 71,402        

Balance at December 31, 2012 21,150,866  3,085,787    35,937,836  60,174,489  
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GEODRILL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
US$ US$

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) income before taxation (3,506,498)           4,673,538            
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortization expense 9,625,025            7,977,269            
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment -                         (7,697)                 
Provisions for obsolescence (223,714)              286,363               
Allowance for doubtful accounts 718,776               312,470               
Equity-settled share-based payments 451,659               1,076,833            
Finance income (3,251)                 (8,693)                 
Finance costs 1,113,985            898,269               
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (85,675)               83,155

8,090,307            15,291,507          

Change in inventories 1,575,890            (3,211,412)           
Change in prepayments 22,883                6,419,526            
Change in trade and other receivables 3,989,084            (485,703)              
Change in trade and other payables (7,069,295)           2,788,811            
Cash generated from operations 6,608,869            20,802,729          

Finance income received 3,251                  8,693                  
Finance costs paid (1,130,471)           (830,913)              
Income taxes paid (2,695,161)           (3,502,059)           

Net cash from operating activities 2,786,488            16,478,450          

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,542,531)           (22,821,854)         
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8,544                  7,697                  

Net cash used in investing activities (1,533,987)           (22,814,157)         

Financing activities
Loan received, net of transaction costs 700,000               9,975,000            
Loan repayments (6,352,036)           (4,409,417)           
Shares issued -                         71,402                

Net cash (used in) / provided from financing activities (5,652,036)           5,636,985            

Effect of movement in exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents 46,441                95,502                
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,353,094)           (603,220)              

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7,562,174            8,165,394            

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 3,209,080            7,562,174            
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
	  

Geodrill Limited (“the company” or “Geodrill”) is a company registered and domiciled in the Isle of 
Man.  The address of the company’s registered office is Ragnall House, 18 Peel Road, Douglas, 
Isle of Man, IM1 4LZ.  The consolidated financial statements of the company for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 comprise the financial statements of the company and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries, Geodrill Ghana Limited, Geotool Limited, Geo-Forage BF SARL, Geo-Forage 
Cote d’Ivoire SARL, Geo-Forage Mali SARL and D.S.I. Services Limited (“DSI”) together referred 
to as the “Group”.   

The Group is primarily a provider of mineral exploration drilling services. These consolidated 
financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of 
Geodrill Limited on February 28, 2014. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
	  

a. Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

b. Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except where 
otherwise stated. 

c. Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars which is the 
company and its subsidiaries functional and presentation currency. 

d. Basis of consolidation 
 
(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that are exercisable are taken into account.  
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Consistent accounting 
policies and the same reporting period are used for all Group entities.	  

 (iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-Group balances, unrealized gains and losses, transactions and dividends are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

e. Financial instruments 
 
(i) Recognition 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a Group entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value 
through profit or loss' (“FVTPL”), ‘held-to-maturity' investments, ‘available-for-sale' (“AFS”) 
financial assets and ‘loans and receivables'. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the treatment of financial assets depends on their classification. 
Those recognized as FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in comprehensive income.  AFS financial assets are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with unrealized gains 
and losses recognized as other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or 
impaired, at which time gains and losses are recognized in, or reclassified to, comprehensive 
income.  Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, less impairment.  

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities “at FVTPL” or “other financial 
liabilities”.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the treatment of financial liabilities depends on their 
classification.  Those recognized as FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in comprehensive income.  Other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 (ii) Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows or the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.  

Financial liabilities are derecognized when, and only when, the Group's obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
e. Financial instruments (continued) 
	  
(iii) Classification 

The Group applies a hierarchy to measure financial instruments carried at fair value. Levels 1 to 3 
are defined based on the degree to which fair value inputs are observable and have a significant 
effect on the recorded fair value, as follows: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: Valuation techniques using significant observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), or valuations that are based on quoted prices for similar 
instruments; and  

Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant inputs that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs).The fair values of financial instruments are determined using market 
prices for quoted instruments and widely accepted valuation techniques for other instruments.  
Valuation techniques include discounted cash flows, standard valuation models based on market 
parameters, dealer quotes for similar instruments and expert valuations. 

When fair values of unquoted instruments cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, such 
instruments are carried at cost less impairments, if applicable. 

Further information relating to the fair values of financial instruments is provided in notes 5 and 
18. 
	  

(iv) Amortized cost measurement 
 

The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial 
amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 
 

(v) Offsetting  
 

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  
 
Income and expenses on financial instruments are presented on a net basis when permitted by 
accounting standards. 
 

(vi) Share capital  
 

Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from 
equity, net of any tax effects. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
e. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(vii) Compound financial instruments 

From time to time the Group may issue compound financial instruments such as convertible notes 
that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, when the number of shares to 
be issued does not vary with changes in their fair value.  

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognized initially at the fair value 
of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is 
recognized initially at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument 
as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. 	  

Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity component in the 
proportion of their initial carrying amounts. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a 
compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent to initial recognition. 

Interest, and gains and losses related to the financial liability, are recognized in profit or loss. On 
conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity; no gain or loss is recognized on 
conversion. 

 
(viii) Trade receivables 
 

Trade receivables are initially stated at their fair value. The carrying amounts for accounts 
receivable are net of allowances for doubtful accounts. The Group evaluates the recoverability of 
trade receivables on the specific risks associated with the customer and other relevant 
information. Individual trade receivables are only written off when management deems them not 
collectible.   
 

f. Leases 
 
(i) Classification 

 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  Assets held under finance leases are stated as 
assets of the Group at the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as a finance lease obligation.  Finance costs are charged to comprehensive income over the term 
of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic interest charge on the remaining 
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.  
 
Leases where significant portions of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

f. Leases (continued) 
 

(ii) Lease payments 
 

Payments made under operating leases are charged to comprehensive income on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.  When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as 
an expense in the period in which termination takes place.  Minimum lease payments made under 
finance leases are apportioned between finance expense and a reduction of the outstanding 
lease liability. 
 

h. Property, plant and equipment 
 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or construction cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labor, and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
a working condition for its intended use. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of 
the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment. When significant parts of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 
(ii) Subsequent costs 

 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.  The costs of the day-to-day 
maintenance, repair and servicing expenditures incurred on property, plant and equipment are 
recognized in comprehensive income, as incurred. 
 

(iii) Depreciation 
 

 Depreciation is recognized in comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.  Assets leased under a 
finance lease are depreciated over their useful lives. Capital work in progress is not depreciated.  

 The estimated useful lives of major classes of depreciable property, plant and equipment are: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Motor vehicles 3 years
Plant and equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements over the term of the lease
Drill rigs                10 years
Drill rig components                5 years

62



GEODRILL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 

	   14 
	  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
g. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of property plant and equipment are 
reassessed at each reporting date. The actual lives of these assets and residual values can vary 
depending on a variety of factors, including technological innovation and maintenance programs.  
Changes in estimates can result in significant variations in the carrying value and amounts 
charged, on account of depreciation, to comprehensive income in specific periods.  
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, and are 
recognized in comprehensive income. 
 

(iv) Impairment 
 

The Group’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the respective 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount is estimated.   
 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amounts.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group 
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent from other assets and groups.  
 
The recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is based on the higher of a value-in-
use calculation or fair value less costs to sell. The value-in-use calculation requires an estimation 
of the future cash flows expected to arise from the asset or cash-generating unit and a pre-tax 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Fair values less costs to sell are based on 
recent market transactions where available, and where not available, appropriate valuation 
models are used. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in comprehensive income. 

 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an 
impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset or cash-generating unit may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset 
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in comprehensive income. 
 

h. Inventories 
 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of spare parts is 
based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring/building the 
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. 
Inventory is assessed on a per unit basis to determine whether indicators exist which would lead 
to a downward revision in the net realizable value of inventory. This assessment is performed at 
each reporting date. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)	  
 

i. Employee benefits 
 
(i) Defined contribution plans 

 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions to a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay future 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution schemes are recognized as an 
expense in comprehensive income in the periods during which services are rendered by 
employees. 

 
(ii) Short-term benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided.  A provision is recognized for the amount expected 
to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past services provided by the employee, 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.  

 
(iii) Share-based payment transactions 
 

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is 
recognized as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in share based payments 
reserve, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. 
Estimations are made at the end of each reporting period of the number of instruments which will 
eventually vest.  The impact of any revision is recognized in comprehensive income such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payment reserve. 

 
j. Income tax 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax expenses.  
 
Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in comprehensive income except to the extent that 
they relate to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity. Current tax is 
the expected tax payable on taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. Deferred tax is provided using the asset and liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. A deferred tax 
asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realized.   
 

k. Dividends 
 

Dividends payable/receivable are recognized in the period in which the dividend is appropriately 
authorized.    
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

l. Revenue – drilling revenue 
 

Revenue from the provision of services in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts and value added taxes.  
Drilling revenue is recognized as revenue when the outcome of the drilling can be estimated 
reliably to the actual chargeable meters drilled.  
The outcome can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the drilling service rendered will 

flow to the Group; 
- the work performed of the drilling service at the end of the reporting period can be 

measured reliably and has been agreed with the customer; and 
- the costs incurred for and to complete the drilling can be measured reliably. 

 
m. Finance income 
 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested or held in bank accounts.  Interest 
income is recognized in comprehensive income using the effective interest method. 
 

n. Finance costs 
 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, including all financing arrangements.  
 

o. Foreign exchange 
 
 Foreign currency amounts have been translated into United States dollars using the exchange 

rates at each balance sheet date for assets and liabilities and at an average exchange rate for the 
year for revenue and expenses. Realized and unrealized transaction gains on short-term 
receivables and payables denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are 
included in profit or loss.   

 
p. Provisions 

 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

 
q. Post balance sheet events  
 

Events subsequent to the balance sheet date are reflected in the financial statements only to the 
extent that they relate to the period under consideration and the effect is material. 
 

r. Earnings per share 
 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 
earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
shares, which currently comprise share options granted to employees and directors. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.  
 
(i) Estimates 
 
a. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
 

Property, plant and equipment is often used in hostile environments and may be subject to 
accelerated depreciation. Management considers the reasonableness of useful lives and whether 
known factors reduce or extend the lives of certain assets. This is accomplished by assessing the 
changing business conditions, examining the level of expenditures required for additional 
improvements, observing the patterns of gains or losses on disposition, and considering the 
various components of the assets.  
 

b. Share-based payment transactions 
 

The fair value of share-based payment transactions is based on certain assumptions determined 
by management. The main areas of estimate relate to the determination of the risk free interest 
rate, stock price volatility and the forfeiture rate.  
 

c. Inventory provision 
 

Management reviews inventories at each reporting period to determine whether indicators exist 
which would lead to a downward revision in the net realizable value of the inventory. 
Management’s estimate of net realizable value of such inventories is based primarily on sales 
price and current market conditions.  
 

d. Allowance for doubtful accounts 
 

Management reviews trade receivables at each reporting period to determine whether indicators 
exist which would lead to a downward revision in the net realizable value of the trade receivables. 
Management’s estimate of net realizable value of such trade receivables is based primarily on the 
ageing of the receivables. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Estimates (continued) 
 
e. Income tax 
 

Tax interpretations, regulations and legislations in the various countries in which the Group 
operates are subject to change and management uncertainty. Current income tax expense is 
based on tax currently payable or current withholding tax rates in countries in which the Group 
operates. In addition, deferred income tax liabilities are assessed by management at the end of 
the reporting period and are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary differences when they reverse.  
 
The amount recognized as accrued liabilities is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the related liability, including any related interest charges, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. The Group assesses its liabilities at each reporting 
period, based upon the best information available, relevant to the tax laws and other appropriate 
requirements.  

 
(ii) Judgements 
 
a. Assessment of impairment of property, plant and equipment 
 

The Group tests at each reporting period whether there are indicators of impairment with respect 
to its property, plant and equipment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2. If 
such indicators are indentified, the recoverable amounts of each cash-generating unit have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.  
 
The Group tests impairment based on the discounted cash flows related to each cash generating 
unit. The value in use determination is sensitive to changes in cash flow assumptions and the 
discount rate applied. No impairment charge has been recognized in the periods presented. 

	  
b. Functional currency 
 

The Company applied judgment in determining the functional currency of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Functional currency was determined based on the currency that mainly influences 
sales prices, labour, material and other costs of providing services. 

 
 
4. NEW AND FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 
a. Adoption of new and amended accounting pronouncements	  
 
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities 
 
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of interests in other entities” (IFRS 12) requires enhanced disclosure of information 
about involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated entities, including structured entities commonly 
referred to as special purpose vehicles or variable interest entities. The Group adopted the standard 
effective January 1, 2013 and has included these enhanced disclosures within the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
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4. NEW AND FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)	  
 
a. Adoption of new and amended accounting pronouncements (continued)	  
 
IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement 
 
IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement” (IFRS 13) clarifies the definition of fair value, requires disclosures for 
fair value measurement, and sets out a single framework for measuring fair value.  IFRS 13 provides 
guidance on fair value in a single standard, replacing the existing guidance on measuring and disclosing 
fair value which is dispersed among several standards. The Group adopted the standard effective 
January 1, 2013. The adoption did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Amendment to IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment 
 
Paragraph 8 of IAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment” was amended requiring entities to recognize 
items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment as Property, plant and 
equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment; otherwise, such items are 
classified as inventory. The Group elected early adoption of the standard in 2012. The impact in 2013 on 
the Group was a reclassification of $587,953 out of inventory and into property, plant and equipment 
(2012; $2,833,934 out of inventory and into property, plant and equipment).    
 
b. Accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial instruments 
 
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (IFRS 9) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 and will replace IAS 
39, “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement” (IAS 39). IFRS 9 replaces the multiple rules in 
IAS 39 with a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or 
fair value and a new mixed measurement model for debt instruments having only two categories: 
amortized cost and fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 
instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets. This standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the 
multiple impairment methods in IAS 39.  
 
In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9 that also provide relief from the requirement 
to restate comparative financial statements for the effect of applying IFRS 9 which was originally limited to 
companies that chose to apply IFRS 9 prior to 2012. Alternatively, additional transition disclosures will be 
required to help investors understand the effect that the initial application of IFRS 9 has on the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. In November 2013, the IASB issued 
amendments to IFRS 9 deferring the mandatory effective date, of which has not yet been finalized; 
however early adoption is permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of this standard and 
amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
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4. NEW AND FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED) 
 
b) Accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements 
	  
IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements” (IFRS 10) was amended by the IASB in October 2012.  The 
amendments introduce an exception for investment entities to the principle that all subsidiaries are 
consolidated. The amendments define an investment entity and require an investment entity to measure 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” or IAS 
39, “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”. The amendments to IFRS 10 are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The adoption of this standard is not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
	  
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities 
 
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of interests in other entities” (IFRS 12) was amended by the IASB in October 2012.  
The amendments add disclosure requirements for investment entities as defined in IFRS 10, 
“Consolidated financial statements”. The amendments to IFRS 12 are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
IAS 27 – Separate financial statements 
 
IAS 27, “Separate financial statements” (IAS 27) was amended by the IASB in October 2012.  The 
amendments require an investment entity to measure its investments in subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit or loss when it presents separate financial statements. The amendments to IAS 27 are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group determined that this standard is not 
applicable to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
IAS 32 – Financial instruments: presentation 
 
IAS 32, “Financial instruments: presentation” (IAS 32) was amended by the IASB in December 2011.  
The amendment clarifies that an entity has a legally enforceable right to offset financial assets and 
financial liabilities if that right is not contingent on a future event and it is enforceable both in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all 
counterparties. The amendments to IAS 32 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2014. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements. 
 
IAS 36 – Impairment of assets 
 
IAS 36, “Impairment of assets” (IAS 36) was amended by the IASB in May 2013.  The amendments 
require the disclosure of the recoverable amount of impaired assets when an impairment loss has been 
recognised or reversed during the period and additional disclosures about the measurement of the 
recoverable amount of impaired assets when the recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of 
disposal, including the discount rate when a present value technique is used to measure the recoverable 
amount. The amendments to IAS 36 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements. 
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4. NEW AND FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED) 
 
b) Accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective (continued)	  
 
IAS 39 - Financial instruments: recognition and measurement 
 
IAS 39, “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement” (IAS 39) was amended by the IASB in 
June 2013. The amendments clarify that novation of a hedging derivative to a clearing counterparty as a 
consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations does not terminate hedge 
accounting. The amendments to IAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements. 
	  
IFRIC 21 – Levies 
 
IFRIC 21 – Levies was issued in May 2013 and is an interpretation of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The interpretation clarifies the obligating event that gives rise to a 
liability to pay a levy. IFRIC 21 is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group is 
currently evaluating the impact of this interpretation on its financial statements. 
	   	  
5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES  

	  
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  Where applicable, further information about the 
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 
The following sets out the Group’s basis of determining fair values of financial instruments: 

 
(a) Trade and other receivables 
 

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying value due to their short 
term nature.  
 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and cash on hand. The fair value of cash and 
cash equivalents approximates their carrying values due to their short term nature. 

 
(c) Trade and other payables 
 
 The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying values. 
 
(d) Loans payable 
 
 The fair value of the loans payable approximates their carrying value. 
 
(e) Other financial liabilities 
 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated using the present value of 
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rates of interest at the reporting 
date or by using recent arm's-length market transactions.  Instruments with maturity periods of 6 
months or less such as trade and other payables, and related party payables, are not discounted 
as their carrying values approximate their fair values. 
 

70



GEODRILL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 

	   22 
	  

5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED) 
 
(f) Share-based payment transactions 
 

The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes model. 
Measurement inputs include the share price on the measurement date, exercise price of the 
instrument, expected volatility, expected term of the instruments (based on historical experience 
and general option holder behavior), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on 
government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions 
are not taken into account in determining fair value.  
 
 

6. SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Group’s operations have tended to exhibit a seasonal pattern whereby the second quarter is typically 
affected by the shutdown of exploration activities affecting some of the rigs for up to one week over the 
Easter holidays. For 2013, the Easter shut-down period straddled the first quarter of 2013 and the second 
quarter of 2013. The wet season occurs (in some geographical areas where the company operates, 
particularly in Burkina Faso) normally in the third quarter, but in the recent years the global weather 
pattern has become somewhat erratic. The wet season affected the company’s drilling operations and 
revenue as companies slowed operations during this time. However, this is dependent upon the severity 
of the weather and if alternate contracts can be found in less affected areas of operation. The Group has 
historically taken advantage of the wet season and has scheduled the third quarter for maintenance and 
rebuild programs for drill rigs and equipment. In the third quarter of 2013, the Group continued with 
repairs and maintenance but at a slower rate than the third quarter of 2012. The fourth quarter is also 
affected, due to the shutdown of exploration activities, often for extended periods over the holiday season 
(Christmas and New Year’s of up to two weeks over the period).  

 
 
7. SEGMENT REPORTING 
	  
Segmented information is presented in respect of the Group’s operating segments. The primary format 
(operating segments) is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure, which is 
submitted to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker.  The Group’s 
results and assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly non-operating income, financing 
cost, taxation and corporate assets and liabilities which are managed centrally.  The operating segments 
are based on geographical segments categorized as Ghana and outside Ghana.  
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7. 
SEG

M
EN

T R
EPO

R
TIN

G
 (C

O
N

TIN
U

ED
) 

 

2013
2012

2013
2012

2013
2012

2013
2012

US$ '000
US$ '000

US$ '000
US$ '000

US$ '000
US$ '000

US$ '000
US$ '000

R
evenue

19,608
       

37,015
    

31,839
     

80,767
    

(14,235)
   

(52,196)
       

37,212
     

65,586
     

C
ost of sales

(19,737)
      

(31,375)
   

(21,213)
    

(49,489)
   

15,592
    

41,130
        

(25,358)
    

(39,734)
    

S
elling, general and adm

inistrative expenses
(8,215)

        
(13,558)

   
(6,979)

      
(12,127)

   
905

        
5,879

          
(14,289)

    
(19,806)

    
Foreign exchange (loss) / gain

(135)
           

10
          

174
          

(493)
       

-
            

-
                 

39
           

(483)
        

Results from
 operating activities

(8,479)
        

(7,908)
     

3,821
       

18,658
    

2,262
     

(5,187)
         

(2,396)
     

5,563
       

Finance incom
e

3
               

3
            

-
              

6
            

-
            

-
                 

3
             

9
             

Finance cost
(980)

           
(635)

       
(133)

         
(263)

       
-

            
-

                 
(1,113)

     
(898)

        

Segm
ent results

(9,456)
        

(8,540)
     

3,688
       

18,401
    

2,262
     

(5,187)
         

(3,506)
     

4,674
       

Capital expenditures
1,534

         
20,150

    
-

              
43

          
1,534

      
20,193

     

Dec 31,
Dec 31,

Dec 31,
Dec 31,

Dec 31,
Dec 31,

As at
2013

2012
2013

2012
2013

2012
US$ '000

US$ '000
US$ '000

US$ '000
US$ '000

US$ '000
Non-current assets

52,462
       

62,345
    

382
          

43
          

52,844
     

62,388
     

Intra group balances
(6,279)

     
(8,320)

      

P
er statem

ent of financial position
46,565

     
54,068

     
Total assets

70,755
       

91,665
    

70,373
     

73,394
    

141,128
   

165,059
   

Intra group balances
(72,166)

    
(77,038)

    
P

er statem
ent of financial position

68,962
     

88,021
     

Total liabilities
73,324

       
85,250

    
5,784

       
11,074

    
79,108

     
96,324

     

Intra group balances
(65,865)

    
(68,477)

    

P
er statem

ent of financial position
13,243

     
27,847

     

(1) In the O
utside G

hana segm
ent, revenue attributable to the country of dom

icile of G
eodrill Lim

ited, being the Isle of M
an w

as U
S

$21,255,210 (2012: U
S

$35,692,668).

(2) S
egm

ent results equals the (loss) incom
e before taxation as disclosed in the consolidated statem

ents of com
prehensive (loss) incom

e. 

G
hana

O
utside G

hana (1)
Intra-group transactions

Total (2)
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE 
 
The Group presents certain expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income by function. 
The following table presents those expenses by nature: 
 

 
 
 
9. TAXATION 
	  
(i) Income tax expense (recovery) 
 

 
 
Current tax expense reflects taxes associated with the Group’s drilling activities in the year outside Ghana 
and a charge to current tax expense associated with the tax audit for Geodrill Ghana Limited relating to 2010 
to 2012. Deferred tax expense relates to the origination and reversals of temporary differences in relation to 
Ghanaian corporate tax.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Expenses
Drill rig expenses and fuel 8,759,690                       18,553,009                     
Employee benefits 12,965,098                     18,090,465                     
External services and contractors 6,062,611                       12,223,511                     
Depreciation 9,625,025                       7,977,269                       
Repairs and maintenance 958,972                          2,383,719                       
Bad debts and allowance for doubtful accounts 1,275,402                       312,470                          

39,646,798                     59,540,443                     

2013 2012
US$ US$

Cost of sales 25,357,620 39,734,342                     
Selling, general and administrative expenses 14,289,178 19,806,101                     

39,646,798                     59,540,443                     

2013 2012
US$ US$

Current tax expense (iii) 2,918,563                       3,886,699                       
Deferred tax recovery (iv) (1,517,343)                      (2,418,521)                      

1,401,220                       1,468,178                       
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9. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(ii) Taxes payable 
  

 
 
Tax liabilities for Ghana up to and including the 2012 year of assessment have been agreed with the tax 
authorities in Ghana.  The Group’s remaining tax position is, however, subject to agreement with the tax 
authorities in the various tax jurisdictions. 

 
	  
(iii) Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Payments
Balance at Tax asset during the Charge for Balance at

Jan. 1 utilized year the year Dec. 31
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

2013 601,935            (532,198)           (2,695,161)        2,918,563         293,139            

Payments
Balance at Tax asset during the Charge for Balance at

Jan. 1 utilized year the year Dec. 31
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

2012 217,295            -                      (3,502,059)        3,886,699         601,935            

2013 2012
US$ US$

(Loss) income before tax (3,506,498)            4,673,538             

Deduct: Income before tax subject to no corporate tax (5,948,908)            (13,213,496)          

Loss before tax subject to corporate tax in Ghana (9,455,406)            (8,539,958)            

Ghana corporate tax at 25% (2,363,851)            (2,134,990)            

Add:
Withholding tax on revenue outside Ghana 1,871,544             3,886,699             
Movement of temporary differences in Ghana 846,508               (283,531)              
Impact of Ghana tax reassessment in the year 1,047,019             -                          

Total tax expense 1,401,220             1,468,178             

Effective tax rate (40)% 31%
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9. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv) Deferred tax liabilities 
 

 
 
	  
(v) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 

 
 
 

(vi) Tax asset 
 

In the normal course of business, Geodrill Ghana Limited may be required to make payments to tax 
authorities in advance of earning the related income. It is anticipated that such amounts will be applied to 
tax obligations. At the end of 2012, the tax asset was US$532,198. This amount was utilized in 2013 in 
conjunction with the tax audit for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012.  
	  
	  
(vii)	   Tax	  audit	  
	  
In 2013, the Ghana Revenue Authority completed the tax audit of Geodrill Ghana Limited for the years 
2010, 2011 and 2012. As a result of the tax audit, in 2013, changes in estimates resulted in a current 
income tax expense of US$1,047,019 related to the years ended 2010, 2011 and 2012. 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Balance at January 1 2,928,558                       5,347,079                       
Recovery for the year (1,517,343)                      (2,418,521)                      
Balance at end of year 1,411,215                       2,928,558                       

Asset Liability Net
US$ US$ US$

Property, plant and equipment -                          1,803,503             1,803,503             
Provision for inventory obsolescence (198,585)               -                          (198,585)               
Allowance for doubtful debts (193,703)               -                          (193,703)               
Total (392,288)               1,803,503             1,411,215             

Asset Liability Net
US$ US$ US$

Property, plant and equipment -                          2,928,558             2,928,558             
Provision for inventory obsolescence -                          -                          -                          
Allowance for doubtful debts -                          -                          -                          
Total -                          2,928,558             2,928,558             

2013

2012
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10. 
PR

O
PER

TY, PLA
N

T A
N

D
 EQ

U
IPM

EN
T 

 

 
        2013

Capital W
ork in 

M
otor

Plant &
Drill

Leasehold
Progress 

Vehicles
Equipm

ent
Rigs (1)

Im
provem

ents
(CW

IP)
        Total

US$
US$

US$
US$

US$
          US$

Cost 
B

alance at January 1, 2013
5,572,804

       
19,569,605

     
50,711,160

     
1,838,981

       
3,453,792

       
81,146,342

     
A

dditions
-

                
-

                
-

                
-

                
1,542,531

       
1,542,531

       
D

isposal
-

                
(8,544)

            
-

                
-

                
-

                
(8,544)

            
R

eclassifications from
 C

W
IP

-
                

720,445
         

480,517
         

165,734
         

(1,366,696)
      

-
                

R
eclassifications from

 inventory
-

                
-

                
-

                
-

                
587,953

         
587,953

         
A

ssets retired during the year
-

                
(796,191)

        
(307,321)

        
-

                
-

                
(1,103,512)

      

Balance at Decem
ber 31, 2013

5,572,804
       

19,485,315
     

50,884,356
     

2,004,715
       

4,217,580
       

82,164,770
     

Accum
ulated Depreciation 

B
alance at January 1, 2013

3,570,908
       

8,947,346
       

14,322,110
     

238,246
         

-
                

27,078,610
     

C
harge for the year

1,265,680
       

3,009,965
       

4,957,543
       

391,837
         

-
                

9,625,025
       

A
ssets retired during the year

-
                

(796,191)
        

(307,321)
        

-
                

-
                

(1,103,512)
      

Balance at Decem
ber 31, 2013

4,836,588
       

11,161,120
     

18,972,332
     

630,083
         

-
                

35,600,123
     

Carrying am
ounts

at Decem
ber 31, 2013

736,216
         

8,324,195
       

31,912,024
     

1,374,632
       

4,217,580
       

46,564,647
     

(1) D
rill rigs include drill rigs com

ponents and rebuilds w
hich are depreciated at the appropriate rates per the G

roup's accounting policies.
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10. 
PR
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2012
Capital W

ork in 
M

otor
Plant &

Drill
Leasehold

Progress 
Vehicles

Equipm
ent

Rigs (1)
Im

provem
ents

(CW
IP)

        Total
US$

US$
US$

US$
US$

          US$
Cost 
B

alance at January 1, 2012
4,567,225

12,363,965
35,026,668

478,246
2,607,298

55,043,402
     

A
dditions

-
                

-
                

-
                

42,807
26,105,133

26,147,940
     

R
eclassifications

1,005,579
7,073,376

15,861,756
1,317,928

(25,258,639)
-

                
Transfer 

-
                

177,264
(177,264)

-
                

-
                

-
                

D
isposals

-
                

(45,000)
-

                
-

                
-

                
(45,000)

          

Balance at Decem
ber 31, 2012

5,572,804
       

19,569,605
     

50,711,160
     

1,838,981
       

3,453,792
       

81,146,342
     

Accum
ulated Depreciation 

B
alance at January, 1 2012

2,368,355
       

6,301,912
       

10,432,011
     

44,063
           

-
                

19,146,341
     

C
harge for the year

1,202,553
       

2,557,486
       

4,023,047
       

194,183
         

-
                

7,977,269
       

R
eclassifications

-
                

132,948
         

(132,948)
        

-
                

-
                

-
                

D
isposals

-
                

(45,000)
          

-
                

-
                

-
                

(45,000)
          

Balance at Decem
ber 31, 2012

3,570,908
       

8,947,346
       

14,322,110
     

238,246
         

-
                

27,078,610
     

Carrying am
ounts

at Decem
ber 31, 2012

2,001,896
       

10,622,259
     

36,389,050
     

1,600,735
       

3,453,792
       

54,067,732
     

(1) D
rill rigs include drill rigs com

ponents and rebuilds w
hich are depreciated at the appropriate rates per the G

roup's accounting policies.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Depreciation has been charged in comprehensive income as follows: 
 

 
 
As at December 31, 2013, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of US$27,724,561 
(December 31, 2012: US$33,147,357) and inventories with a carrying amount of US$6,126,573 
(December 31, 2012: US$7,879,070) have been pledged as security for certain liabilities.  
	  
	  
11. INVENTORIES 
 

	  
 
The amount of inventories recognized as expense for the year is US$9,530,238 (2012: US$21,813,641). 
Inventory write downs in the year amounted to US$337,863 (2012: US$206,456). 
 
 
12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
	  

	  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Cost of sales 7,967,508                       6,580,533                       
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,657,517                       1,396,736                       

9,625,025                       7,977,269                       

2013 2012
US$ US$

Inventories on hand 14,853,239                     16,757,082                     
Inventories in transit 485,956                          745,956                          
Provision for obsolescence (734,283)                         (957,997)                         

14,604,912                     16,545,041                     

2013 2012
US$ US$

Trade receivables 4,509,963                       8,380,671                       
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,026,013)                      (307,237)                         
Net trade receivables 3,483,950                       8,073,434                       
Cash advances 82,278                           193,007                          
Sundry receivables 112,155                          119,802                          

3,678,383                       8,386,243                       
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 
The movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts at the reporting dates were: 
 

 
 
Trade and other receivables are recorded at amortized cost. Bad debt expense recorded on trade and 
other receivables during the year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to US$551,394 (December 31, 
2012: US$5,233). The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risk and impairment losses related to 
trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 18(i). 
 
 
13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
 
Bank balances denominated in currencies other than functional currency are detailed in note 18(iii)(a).  
 
As at December 31, 2013, cash and cash equivalents of US$3,209,080 were available to the Group 
(December 2012, US$7,562,174)  
 
 
14. LOANS PAYABLE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Balance at January 1 307,237                          -                                 
Provisions made in the year 1,270,169                       312,470                          
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (551,394)                         (5,233)                            
Balance at December 31 1,026,013                       307,237                          

2013 2012
US$ US$

Cash at bank 3,044,465 7,246,669                       
Cash on hand 164,615 315,505                          

3,209,080 7,562,174                       

 2013 2012
US$ US$

Term Loan (i) 3,966,825                       8,838,136                       
Equipment Loans (ii) 1,847,825                       3,328,550                       
Credit Line (iii) 700,000                          -                                 
Total 6,514,650                       12,166,686                     
Current portion of loans 5,445,085                       6,328,592                       
Non-current loans 1,069,565                       5,838,094                       
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14. LOANS PAYABLE (CONTINUED)	  
 
(i) Term loan 

On September 19, 2012, the Group entered into a term loan (the "Term Loan") with Zenith Bank (Ghana) 
Limited, a subsidiary of Zenith Bank Plc, in the amount of US$10 million. The Term Loan is for a period of 
2 years, repayable quarterly, bears interest at a rate of 10.5% per annum and is secured by certain 
assets of the Group. The Term Loan may be repaid prior to maturity by the Group without penalty, bonus 
or other costs other than interest accrued to the date of such repayment. The effective interest rate of the 
loan is 10.73%. The loan is subject to, and the Group is in compliance with, normal course non-financial 
covenants. 
 
(ii) Equipment loans 

 
On January 23, 2012, the Group entered into a Sale and Purchase agreement (“Agreement 1”) with 
Sandvik Mining and Construction Oy (“Sandvik”) relating to the purchase of three drill rigs with a total cost 
price of US$2.6 million. Agreement 1 requires a down payment and the repayment of the balance over a 
period of 36 months with payments being made once a quarter. The loan bears interest at 7% per annum, 
includes an arrangement fee and stipulates that final title to the rigs will only pass once the capital amount 
has been settled. All other risks and rewards of ownership lie with the Group. The effective interest rate of 
the loan is 7.10%.  
 
On February 25, 2012, the Group entered into a Sale and Purchase agreement (“Agreement 2”) with 
Sandvik relating to the purchase of three drill rigs with a total cost price of US$2.6 million. Agreement 2 
requires a down payment and the repayment of the balance over a period of 36 months with payments 
being made once a quarter. The loan bears interest at 7% per annum, includes an arrangement fee and 
stipulates that final title to the rigs will only pass once the capital amount has been settled. All other risks 
and rewards of ownership lie with the Group. The effective interest rate of the loan is 7.10%.  
 
(iii) Credit line 
 
On October 7, 2013, the Group entered into a credit line agreement (the "Credit Line") with Zenith Bank 
(Ghana) Limited, a subsidiary of Zenith Bank Plc, in the amount of up to US$5 million. The Credit Line is 
for a period of 2 years from the date of the first drawdown, repayable interest only quarterly and principal 
amount at maturity, bears interest at a rate of 10.5% per annum on any utilized portion and 1% per 
annum on any unutilized portion, and is secured by certain assets of the Group. The Credit Line may be 
repaid prior to maturity by the Group without penalty, bonus or other costs other than interest accrued to 
the date of such repayment. The Credit Line is subject to normal course non-financial covenants. As at 
December 31, 2013, the Group had drawn US$700,000 on the credit line and as at February 28, 2014, 
the Group has withdrawn a total of US$1,600,000 on the credit line. 
 
15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
 
Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are 
detailed in note 18iii(a). 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Trade payables 1,203,306                       4,735,203                       
Creditors and accrued expenses 2,474,591                       4,830,032                       
VAT liability 423,504                          1,661,181                       

4,101,401                       11,226,416                     
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16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 
 
Defined Contribution Plans 
 
 (i) Social Security 
 
The Group contributes to various social security plans. Under the plans, the Group makes contributions 
into government funds. The amounts contributed during the year were US$102,955 (2012: US$198,180). 
The Group’s obligation is limited to the relevant contributions which have been recognized in the year-end 
financial statements as expenses, and liabilities, if due but not paid.  
 
(ii) Provident Fund 
 
The Group contributes for certain staff to a provident fund plan. The amounts contributed during the year 
were US$19,331 (2012: US$25,079). The Group’s obligation is limited to the relevant contributions which 
have been recognized in the year-end financial statements as expenses, and liabilities, if due but not 
paid. 
	  
	  
17. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the 
statement of financial position, are as follows: 
 

 

Loans and 
Receivables

Other Financial 
Liabilities Carrying Amount Total Fair Value

US$ US$ US$ US$
December 31, 2013

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 3,678,383             -                      3,678,383             3,678,383             
Cash and cash equivalents 3,209,080             -                      3,209,080             3,209,080             

6,887,463             -                      6,887,463             6,887,463             
Financial liabilities
Trade payables, creditors and 
accrued expenses -                      3,677,897             3,677,897             3,677,897             
Related party payables -                      923,025               923,025               923,025               
Loans payable -                      6,514,650             6,514,650             6,514,650             

-                      11,115,572           11,115,572           11,115,572           

December 31, 2012

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 8,386,243             -                      8,386,243             8,386,243             
Cash and cash equivalents 7,562,174             -                      7,562,174             7,562,174             

15,948,417           -                      15,948,417           15,948,417           
Financial liabilities
Trade payables, creditors and 
accrued expenses -                      9,565,235             9,565,235             9,565,235             
Related party payables -                      923,025               923,025               923,025               
Loans payable -                      12,166,686           12,166,686           12,166,686           

-                      22,654,946           22,654,946           22,654,946           
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
	  
Overview  
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 

• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 
 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, methods used to measure the risks 
and the Group’s management of capital. 
 
Risk management framework 
 
The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.  
 
The Group’s management team is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk 
management policies.  The team meets periodically to discuss corporate plans, evaluate progress reports 
and establish action plans to be taken.  The day-to-day implementation of the Board’s decisions rests with 
the CEO. 
 
(i) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and 
cash and cash equivalents.  
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is minimized as customers are given 30 to 60 day credit periods for 
services rendered. New clients are approved by the CEO and trade receivables are monitored closely by 
the CEO. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2013, three customers individually contributed 10% or more to the 
Group’s revenue. One customer contributed 16%, one customer contributed 15% and one customer 
contributed 13%.  

For the year ended December 31, 2012, four customers individually contributed 10% or more to the 
Group’s revenue. One customer contributed 28%, one customer contributed 16%, one customer 
contributed 13% and one customer contributed 11%.  
 
Exposure to credit risks 

 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
 

 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Trade and other receivables 3,678,383                       8,386,243                       
Cash and cash equivalents 3,209,080                       7,562,174                       

6,887,463                       15,948,417                     
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
	  
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risks (continued) 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting dates by type was: 
 

 
 
The ageing of trade receivables due from mining and exploration companies at the reporting dates was:  
 

 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting dates by segment 
was: 
 

 
 
(ii)  Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group either does not have sufficient financial resources available to meet 
all of its obligations and commitments as they fall due, or can access them only at excessive cost.  The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will maintain adequate liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due by monitoring and scheduling cash in bank movements and reinvesting profits earned. 
 
The Group’s obligation and principal repayments on its financial liabilities are presented in the following 
table: 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Mining and exploration companies 3,483,950                       8,071,791                       
Others 194,433                          314,452                          

3,678,383                       8,386,243                       

2013 2012
US$ US$

Less than 30 days 1,764,281 2,822,908
31 - 60 days 1,395,001 3,703,931
61 - 90 days 124,668 576,402
91 + days 200,000 968,550

3,483,950 8,071,791

2013 2012
US$ US$

Ghana 912,482                          4,101,420                       
Outside Ghana 2,765,901                       4,284,823                       

3,678,383                       8,386,243                       
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)	  
 
(ii)  Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 
 
 
(iii) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing returns. Management regularly monitors the level of market risk and 
considers appropriate strategies to mitigate those risks.  Sensitivity analysis relating to key market risks 
has been provided below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Within Within 
Total One Year Two to Three Years

 US$ US$ US$
December 31, 2013

Non-derivative financial liability
Trade and other payables 3,677,897                    3,677,897                  -                          
Related party payables 923,025                       923,025                    -                          
Loans payable 6,514,650                    5,445,085                  1,069,565                 
Balance at December 31, 2013 11,115,572                  10,046,007                1,069,565                 

December 31, 2012

Non-derivative financial liability
Trade and other payables 9,565,235                    9,565,235                  -                          
Related party payables 923,025                       923,025                    -                          
Loans payable 12,166,686                  6,328,592                  5,838,094                 
Balance at December 31, 2012 22,654,946                  16,816,852                5,838,094                 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)	  
 
(a) Foreign currency risk 

 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on cash and cash equivalents and purchases that are 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency.  The other currencies in which these 
transactions are denominated are EURO, Ghana Cedis (GH¢), Great British Pound (GBP), Central 
African Franc (CFA), Australian Dollar (AUD) and Canadian Dollar (CAD). 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on foreign currency amounts. 
 

 
 
The following significant exchange rates applied during the years: 
 

 
 
Sensitivity analysis on currency risks 

 
The following table shows the effect of a strengthening or weakening US$ against all other currencies on 
equity and profit or loss.  This sensitivity analysis indicates the potential impact on equity and profit or loss 
based upon the foreign currency exposures, (see “foreign currency risk” above) and it does not represent 
actual or future gains or losses.  The sensitivity analysis is based on a change of 200 basis points in the 
closing exchange rate per currency recorded in the course of the respective financial year. 

A strengthening/weakening of the US$, by the rates shown in the table, against the following currencies 
would have increased/decreased equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, 2013
EURO GH¢ GBP CFA AUD CAD

Cash and cash equivalents 370               868,263         7,285             131,897,895   16,982           30,827           
Trade payables -                (510,950)        (7,813)            (130,571,309)  (357,768)        (117,287)        
Gross exposure 370               357,313         (528)              1,326,586      (340,786)        (86,460)          

December 31, 2012
EURO GH¢ GBP CFA AUD CAD

Cash and cash equivalents 30,980           279,807         60,919           150,303,680   19,092           8,721             
Trade payables (679,838)        (1,471,542)     (3,595)            -                (3,377,028)     (403,246)        
Gross exposure (648,858)        (1,191,735)     57,324           150,303,680   (3,357,936)     (394,525)        

US$1= Reporting Rate Average Rate Reporting Rate Average Rate
EURO 0.7263 0.7532 0.7565 0.7781
GH¢ 2.3595 2.0518 1.9040 1.8373
GBP 0.6064 0.6401 0.6185 0.6310
CFA 476.6420 494.1110 495.3500 496.7710
AUD 1.1268 1.0370 0.9640 0.9658
CAD 1.0694 1.0303 0.9966 0.9996

2013 2012
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)	  
	  
(a) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 

 
 
(b) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its bank balances and loans. 

 
Profile  
 
At the reporting dates, the interest rate profiles of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were: 
	  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at December 31, 2013 2012

% Change

Profit or Loss 
impact before tax 

US$ Equity US$ % Change

Profit  or Loss 
impact before tax 

US$ Equity US$
EURO ±2 ±10 ±10 ±2 ±16,678 ±16,678
GH¢ ±2 ±3,029 ±2,899 ±2 ±12,973 ±12,973
GBP ±2 ±17 ±17 ±2 ±1,816 ±1,816
CFA ±2 ±56 ±56 ±2 ±6,051 ±6,051
AUD ±2 ±6,049 ±6,049 ±2 ±69,537 ±69,537
CAD ±2 ±1,617 ±1,617 ±2 ±7,894 ±7,894

2013 2012
US$ US$

Variable rate instruments
Bank balances 3,044,465                       7,246,669                       

Fixed rate instruments
Loans 6,514,650                       12,166,686                     
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)	  
 
(b) Interest rate risk (continued)  

 
Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

 
A change of 200 basis points in the interest rate at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2013 
and 2012. 

 
 
(iv) Capital management 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it to effectively support the Group’s 
operations. In the definition of capital, the Group includes, as disclosed on its consolidated statement of 
financial position: share capital, retained earnings, reserves and loans.  
 
The Group’s capital at December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% 
Change

Profit or 
Loss 

impact 
before tax 

US$
Equity 
US$

% 
Change

Profit or 
Loss 

impact 
before tax 

US$
Equity 
US$

Bank balances ±2% ±60,889 ±60,889 ±2% ±144,933 ±144,933

2013 2012

Capital Management 2013 2012
US$ US$

Loans payable 6,514,650 12,228,824
Share capital 21,150,866 21,150,866
Share-based payment reserve 3,537,446 3,085,787
Retained earnings 31,030,118 35,937,836

62,233,080 72,403,313
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

 
 
(i) Transactions with related parties 

 
Transactions with companies within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation. 

Transtraders Limited (“TTL”) is a company which is owned by Clearwater Nominees Limited and 
Clearwater Registrars Limited which shares are held on behalf of the Harper Family Settlement which 
also owns 41.2% (December 31, 2012: 41.2%) of the issued share capital of Geodrill Limited.   

Geodrill Ghana Limited originally entered into an agreement with the Harper Family Settlement to lease 
the Anwiankwanta property for US$112,000 per annum and the Accra property for US$48,000 per 
annum.  The material terms of the five year lease agreement include: (i) the annual rent payable shall be 
reviewed on an upward only basis every two years based on the average price of two firms of real estate 
valuators/surveyors or real estate agents; (ii) at the end of the original five year lease term, Geodrill 
Ghana Limited shall have the option to renew the lease for an additional five year term with similar rent 
and conditions; and (iii) either party may terminate the lease agreement provided they give the other party 
12 months’ notice.  
 
On October 1, 2012 in conjunction with the rent review, Geodrill Ghana Limited agreed to increase the 
rent for the Anwiankwanta property to US$140,000 per annum and the rent for the Accra property to 
US$60,000 per annum for a period of two years effective October 1, 2012. The rent for these properties 
will be reviewed again on October 1, 2014. The lease expires on September 30, 2015. 
 
Future operating lease commitments related to the properties are: 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 lease payments amounted to US$200,000 (2012: 
US$170,000).  
 
 
 
 

Related party Relationship
Country of 
Incorporation 2013 2012

Geodrill Ghana Limited Subsidiary Ghana 100% 100%
D.S.I.  Services Limited Subsidiary British Virgin Islands 100% 100%
Geotool Limited Subsidiary British Virgin Islands 100% 100%
Geo-Forage BF SARL Subsidiary Burkina Faso 100% 100%
Geo-Forage Cote d'Ivoire SARL Subsidiary Cote d'Ivoire 100% 100%
Geo-Forage Mali SARL Subsidiary Mali 100% -
Transtraders Limited Related party Isle of Man - -

Harper Family Settlement Significant indirect 
shareholder

Isle of Man - -

Ownership Interest

2013 2012
US$ US$

Payable within one year 200,000                          200,000                          
Payable between 1 and 5 years 150,000                          350,000                          
Total 350,000                          550,000                          
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
(ii) Key management personnel and directors’ transactions 
 
The Group’s key management personnel, and persons connected with them, are also considered to be 
related parties for disclosure purposes.  The definition of key management includes the close members of 
the family of key personnel and any entity over which key management exercises control. The key 
management personnel have been identified as directors of the Group and other management staff.  
Close members of family are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 
by that individual in their dealings with Geodrill Limited. 
 
The Group previously paid management fees to Kingston Management (Isle of Man) Ltd. which was also 
the licensed and regulated fiduciary service provider of the Harper Family Settlement up to May 31, 2013. 
Throughout 2012, two of the directors of Kingston Management (Isle of Man) Ltd. were also directors of 
Geodrill. Management fees paid during the year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to US$Nil (2012: 
US$68,784). One of the directors of Geodrill resigned from Kingston Management (Isle of Man) Ltd on 
January 31, 2013 and the other director resigned on February 28, 2013. 

The Group previously paid management fees to City Trust Limited. One of the directors of City Trust 
Limited was also a director of Geodrill up to December 21, 2012, when that director resigned from City 
Trust Limited. Management fees paid during the year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to US$Nil 
(2012: US$7,746). 

The Group previously paid consulting fees to MS Risk Limited. Two of the directors of MS Risk Limited 
are also directors of Geodrill Limited. Consulting fees paid during year ended December 31, 2013 
amounted to US$Nil (2012: US$58,616).  

Effective May 10, 2013 Clearwater Fiduciary Services Limited was appointed as the licensed and 
regulated fiduciary service provider to DSI Services Limited and Geotool Limited. From May 31, 2013, 
Clearwater Fiduciary Services Limited replaced City Trust as registered agent of Geodrill. One of the 
directors of Clearwater Fiduciary Services is also a director of Geodrill. Fees paid to Clearwater Fiduciary 
Services Limited for the year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to US$Nil.   
 
The Group sold an item of plant and equipment to an officer of the company for US$8,544. No gain or 
loss was recognized on the sale.  
 
Key management personnel and directors’ compensation for the year comprised: 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

2013 2012
US$ US$

Short-term benefits 1,927,142 1,720,243                       
Share-based payment arrangements 451,659 1,076,833                       

2,378,801 2,797,076                       
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

(iii) Related party balances 
 
The aggregate value of related party balances outstanding at each year end were as follows: 
 

 
 
The intercompany payable to Transtraders Limited is unsecured, interest free and is repayable on 
demand at the option of the lender. Transactions with companies within the Group have been eliminated 
on consolidation. 
 
 
20. COMMITMENTS 
 
(i) Lease commitments 

 
Future operating lease commitments related to the properties are: 
 

 
 
 
(ii) Capital commitments 
 
Previously the Group had contracted with a supplier for the purchase of two drill rigs. In 2013, it was 
agreed between the Group and the supplier to cancel the purchase of one of the drill rigs and to put the 
delivery of the other drill rig on hold until further notice. Total commitments relating to the outstanding drill 
rig and spare parts amount to US$1,250,000 (December 31, 2012: US$3,200,000).  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  
	  

2013 2012
Type US$ US$

Transtraders Limited:

Payable Line of credit 923,025            923,025                  
Total 923,025            923,025                  

Balances outstanding as at,

2013 2012
US$ US$

Payable within one year 272,000                          160,000                          
Payable between 1 and 5 years 384,000                          360,000                          
Total 656,000                          520,000                          
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21. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
	  
(i) Share capital  
 
Shares have no par value and the number of authorized shares is unlimited. 
 

 
 

 
 
All shares rank equally with regards to the Group’s residual assets. The holders of ordinary shares are 
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the 
shareholders’ meetings of the company. 
 
(ii) Share-based payment reserve 

 
The share-based payment reserve is comprised of the equity portion of the share-based payment 
transaction as per the company’s share option plan.  
 
The share based payment expense for the year of US$451,659 (2012: US$1,076,833) was included in 
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) 
income.  

 
(iii) Retained earnings  

 
This represents the residual of cumulative profits that are available for distribution to shareholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Share capital 
2013 2012

Shares issued and fully paid 42,512,000                     42,512,000                     
Shares reserved for share option plan 4,251,200                       4,251,200                       
Total shares issued and reserved 46,763,200                     46,763,200                     

Reconciliation of changes in issued shares 
2013 2012

Shares issued and reserved at January 1, 42,512,000                     42,476,000                     
Issued for cash -                                 36,000                           
Shares issued and reserved at December 31, 42,512,000                     42,512,000                     
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22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
(i) Basic (loss) earnings per share 

 
The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2013 was based on 
the (loss) profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of US$(4,907,718) (2012: US$3,205,360), and on the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 42,512,000 (2012: 42,496,515) calculated as 
follows: 
 

 
 
 
(ii) Diluted (loss) earnings per share 

 
The calculation of diluted (loss) earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2013 was based on 
the (loss) profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of US$(4,907,718) (2012: US$3,205,360), and on the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares outstanding of 42,512,000  (2012: 42,496,515), calculated as follows: 
 

 

2013 2012
US$ US$

(Loss) / profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (4,907,718)      3,205,360             

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2013 2012
shares shares

Issued ordinary shares at January 1, 42,512,000     42,476,000     
Effect of shares issued for cash -                 20,515

42,512,000     42,496,515           

(Loss) / earnings per share $(0.12) $0.08

2013 2012
US$ US$

(Loss) / profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (4,907,718)              3,205,360              

2013 2012
shares shares

Weighted average number of 
ordinary shares - basic 42,512,000             42,496,515            
Effect of share options in issue (1) -                         -                       

42,512,000             42,496,515            

Diluted (loss) earnings per share $(0.12) $0.08

(1) Share options granted are anti-dilutive and w ere not included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares - diluted
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23. DIVIDENDS 
 

No dividends were paid in 2013 or 2012, nor were dividends declared through to February 28, 2014. 
 
 
24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
(i) Share Option Plan (“SOP”) 

 
The company has established a SOP, which is intended to aid in attracting, retaining and motivating the 
Group’s employees, directors, consultants and advisors through the granting of stock options. 

 
The maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the SOP shall not 
exceed 10% of the total number of Ordinary Shares then outstanding. The maximum number of Ordinary 
Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the SOP and any other security based compensation 
arrangements of the company is 10% of the total number of Ordinary Shares then outstanding. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of shares 
subject to option

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of shares 
subject to option

Weighted average 
exercise price

Balance beginning, Jan. 1 2,610,000            C$2.34 2,610,000            C$2.29

Granted May 24, 2013 360,000              C$0.81 -                         -                         
Granted March 13, 2012 -                         -                         180,000              C$3.41
Granted October 15, 2012 -                         -                         270,000              C$1.57
Total Granted 360,000              450,000              

Forfeited October 31, 2013 (180,000)             C$2.80 -                         -                         
Forfeited April 1, 2012 -                         -                         (60,000)               C$2.00
Forfeited May 31, 2012 -                         -                         (90,000)               C$2.00
Forfeited July 31, 2012 -                         -                         (144,000)             C$2.00
Forfeited December 31, 2012 -                         -                         (120,000)             C$2.00
Total Forfeited (180,000)             (414,000)             

Exercised June 6, 2012 -                         -                         (36,000)               C$2.00
Total Exercised -                         (36,000)               
Balance ending 2,790,000            C$2.11 2,610,000            C$2.34

2013 2012
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24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Share Option Plan (“SOP”) (continued) 
 
The following table summarizes the options outstanding at December 31, 2013: 

 

 
 
The fair values of options granted were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following assumptions: 
 

 
 
Where relevant, the expected life used in the model used to determine the accounting value attributable 
to the options has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate of the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the 
option), and behavioural considerations. Expected volatility is based on historical share price volatility 
over relevant periods.  
 
 
 

Options series Exercise prices
Number of options 

outstanding

Weighted average 
remaining 

contractual life
Number of options 

exercisable
Weighted average 

exercise price

(1) Granted on December 16, 2010 C$2.00 990,000              1 Yr & 11 mos 990,000              C$2.00
(2) Granted on March 11, 2011 C$3.48 360,000              2 Yrs & 2 mos 360,000              C$3.48
(3) Granted on November 9, 2011 C$2.11 630,000              2 Yrs & 10 mos 630,000              C$2.11
(4) Granted on March 13, 2012 C$3.41 180,000              3 Yrs & 2 mos 120,000              C$3.41
(5) Granted on October 15, 2012 C$1.57 270,000              3 Yrs & 7 mos 180,000              C$1.57
(6) Granted on May 24, 2013 C$0.81 360,000              4 Yrs & 5 mos 360,000              C$0.81

Series 1 Series 2 Series 3 Series 4 Series 5 Series 6
Risk free interest rate 3% 3% 3% 1.55% 1.33% 1.28%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Stock price volatility 33% 56% 34% 53% 53% 53%
Expected life of options 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years
Fortfeiture rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 30% 0%
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